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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Before we proceed

          3  to the formal invocation of the meeting, I would

          4  like to introduce Councilman

          5  Gifford Miller, who is a member of the Finance

          6  Committee, and congratulate him on his recent

          7  marriage.

          8                 Congratulations, Councilman.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And staff people

         11  who have contributed significantly and importantly

         12  to this hearing, Amy Klein, who is Chief of Staff to

         13  the Finance Committee. Jim Caras who is the new

         14  Counsel, and this is his first hearing, to the

         15  Finance Committee. John Rosenberg, who is our Senior

         16  Legislative Analyst. Andre Lang, who is Legislative

         17  Analyst. Angela Guillermo, who is an Administrative

         18  Assistant. Ryan Fink. Is Ryan here? There is Ryan.

         19  Today is your last day, Ryan? Back to school. Good

         20  luck.

         21                 Gilberto Valdez, who was the former

         22  Counsel to the Finance Committee and has been

         23  promoted to the Director of Operations, I can't kick

         24  him around anymore. Ray Russell, who is our Chief

         25  Investigator. Paul Nolan, who is our Legislative
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          2  Financial Analyst. Madd Hickey, who is a Legislative

          3  Financial Analyst, and Sondra Tiducci, who is a

          4  Legislative Intern.

          5                 Having said that, I would like to now

          6  read an opening statement, and then we will proceed

          7  with the more formal aspects of this hearing.

          8                 There has much talk and even more

          9  hype about what might take place on January 1st of

         10  the Year 2000, the new millennium.

         11                 There are reports of people

         12  stockpiling cash, medications, food and batteries.

         13  There are even some groups who believe that the end

         14  of civilization will occur as the clock strikes

         15  midnight.

         16                 Others are only concerned about

         17  finding a babysitter to watch the kids for New Years

         18  Eve and have a good time, and I don't really blame

         19  them.

         20                 Who is right? Will this City become a

         21  place of chaos, where people are fumbling around in

         22  darkness, unable to get money out of banks, powers

         23  to make local telephone calls, and without access to

         24  basic food and medications? Or are we

         25  over-dramatizing some Hollywood created scene and
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          2  allowing our own common sense to be blinding by a

          3  panic blitz?

          4                 Most experts will agree that the

          5  stroke of midnight on January 1st will hardly lead

          6  to Armageddon. However, there are a number of real

          7  concerns facing almost every industry, including

          8  government, that Y2K issues are not dealt with

          9  appropriately.

         10                 We live in one of the most complex

         11  and dynamic cities in the world, and the costs

         12  associated with any type of industry failures could

         13  have potentially devastating effects.

         14                 While few believe that the stock

         15  exchange will actually crash on January 1st, imagine

         16  what this City would be like if traffic lights

         17  should fail to work, if only for a few hours.

         18                 As a matter of fact, those of us who

         19  have lived through a couple of past blackouts

         20  remember well what happened when the traffic lights

         21  failed to work.

         22                 Imagine the panic of the families

         23  unable to purchase live-saving medications for two

         24  or three days. Witness the failure of the MTA to

         25  provide basic transportation after only a few inches
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          2  of rain that fell. Or listen to the stories of

          3  dozens of small business owners who lost tens of

          4  thousands of dollars after the Con Ed blackout in

          5  early July.

          6                 The City Council's Finance Committee

          7  wanted to find out how ready the City will be as we

          8  move into the next millennium and what precautions

          9  are being taken to protect City residents from

         10  potential Y2K failures.

         11                 Amazingly, for all of the information

         12  that is supposedly available on Y2K, there is very

         13  little objective material.

         14                 There are many companies and

         15  governmental agents claiming to be 99 percent Y2K

         16  compliant, yet unwilling to talk about that other

         17  one percent.

         18                 Then they are the doom-sayers who are

         19  anxious to give only the worst case scenario about

         20  how the City will potentially be in a state of chaos

         21  for the first two weeks of the new year.

         22                 It was our decision to hold this

         23  hearing in order to present an objective view of how

         24  New Yorkers may be impacted by the so-called Y2K

         25  bug.
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          2                 This is the first time a governmental

          3  body has held such a hearing, and it pulls together

          4  a Citywide view of the industries and services that

          5  affect this City.

          6                 We have invited individuals from

          7  seven areas critical to the well-being of this City

          8  to testify on Y2K readiness. These areas include,

          9  financial services, small businesses, health care,

         10  power supply, telecommunications, transportation and

         11  emergency services.

         12                 In addition, we have prepared a

         13  report which summarizes the available information on

         14  Y2K readiness for the areas I previously mentioned;

         15  that is this report, and anybody who needs a copy,

         16  please ask the staff and we will be glad to provide

         17  it.

         18                 The purpose of this hearing is not to

         19  cause panic. I actually believe that most systems

         20  will be compliant by the start of the next

         21  millennium. However, just as we should prepare for

         22  the possibility of a storm, New Yorkers need to be

         23  ready to deal with even small inconveniences. It is

         24  therefore our intent that this hearing will help

         25  facilitate preparing New Yorkers for this event and
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          2  this occasion.

          3                 I want to thank everybody, and just

          4  on a personal note, I have many friends who are

          5  medically dependent upon a continuum of drugs

          6  necessary for their health stability. Upon hearing

          7  that we were doing this hearing, the most commonly

          8  asked question was as to whether or not the

          9  pharmaceutical companies, the retail drug stores, et

         10  cetera, will be able to provide services or should

         11  there be a stockpiling. And if in fact there be a

         12  stockpiling, then can we now rely upon the companies

         13  who provide the retailers with pharmaceutical

         14  supplies to produce what they have to produce.

         15                 So, there are enormous complexities,

         16  there are enormous problems, so that even if my

         17  pharmacy is Y2K compliant, will the pharmaceutical

         18  companies that sell them the drugs, wholesale the

         19  drugs for them, will they be Y2K compliant. So, it

         20  is indeed problems that have to be dealt with and

         21  people have a right to know as to whether or not in

         22  fact they have to do more. Should they stockpile,

         23  should they not stockpile? If they do, what should

         24  they stockpile? These are questions that have to be

         25  responded to, and we have an affirmative obligation
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          2  wherever possible to advise the people of the City

          3  of New York as to the consequences and what they can

          4  expect.

          5                 We have also been joined by Council

          6  Member Perkins of Manhattan. Welcome. Council Member

          7  Nelson of Brooklyn and Council Member Stabile of

          8  Queens.

          9                 Now, our first witnesses, Mr. Barsky,

         10  do you want to introduce the people at the table

         11  with you and your titles? And welcome, Mr. Barsky.

         12                 MR. BARSKY: Thank you, Chairman

         13  Berman, for this opportunity to testify on the

         14  progress of the City's Year 2000 project and the

         15  status of the City's preparedness for the millennium

         16  date change, or more commonly referred to as the Y2K

         17  computer bug.

         18                 My name is Adam Barsky and I am the

         19  Director of the Mayor's Office of Operations.

         20                 With me today is Commissioner Alan

         21  Dobrin, from the Department of Information,

         22  Telecommunications and Technology; Brian Cohen, the

         23  Executive Director of the City's Y2K Project Office,

         24  within the Mayor's Office of Operations. The three

         25  of us collectively oversee the City's Y2K efforts of
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          2  the City and regularly report the progress to the

          3  Deputy Mayor Joe Lhota, along with Jerry Hauer,

          4  Director of the Office of Emergency Management.

          5                 Mayor Giuliani has directed all of

          6  its Commissioners to make Y2K readiness their top

          7  priority.

          8                 As you know, the City began its Y2K

          9  program in November of 1996, and as we now reflect

         10  back starting early has placed the City in the best

         11  position to meet the Y2K challenges.

         12                 I am pleased to report today that our

         13  agencies have just about completed all the work

         14  necessary and the systems will be ready for the new

         15  millennium.

         16                 The most recent data that we have

         17  from the City agencies that report to us show that

         18  there are 657 priority applications. I am pleased to

         19  report that over 95 percent of the City applications

         20  that are priority are compliant or retired.

         21                 Five-hundred fifty-five of these

         22  applications have been reported and certified to be

         23  Y2K compliant, and 11 applications are in the final

         24  steps of certification. Fifty-nine systems have been

         25  certified as retired, and 12 additional applications
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          2  will be retired before the end of the year.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: What do you mean

          4  retired? Taken off line?

          5                 MR. BARSKY: That's correct. In some

          6  of the instances, one of the things that has

          7  happened as a result of this exercise of preparing

          8  ourselves for Y2K and doing remediation compliance

          9  we found opportunities to merge a variety of

         10  programs into other programs, or other agency

         11  applications.

         12                 For example, TLC had a computer

         13  system that rather than make it Y2K compliant, we

         14  converted it to the CAMIS system, which is the City

         15  agency MIS system that is used by the Department of

         16  Consumer Affairs and the Department of Health. So

         17  that was an example of the system that would be

         18  retired.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you.

         20                 MR. BARSKY: Twenty critical or high

         21  priority applications are in the final phase of

         22  remediation or development. These applications are

         23  planned to be completed between now and October of

         24  1999. These remaining applications are systems that

         25  have been developed to assist agencies in their
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          2  day-to-day management and do not have any direct

          3  impact on the service delivery to the public. They

          4  are systems such as like correspondence systems or

          5  just daily monitoring systems or not of critical or

          6  high priority importance to delivery of services to

          7  the public.

          8                 I would now like to give you an

          9  update on some of the priority agencies and

         10  applications that we have been tracking since the

         11  onset of this project.

         12                 I am pleased to report that the

         13  Department of Finance's systems have been certified

         14  as Y2K compliant. Finance has always been a leader

         15  in its Y2K efforts, and on many occasions the Y2K

         16  project office has consulted with Finance to

         17  identify best practices and benchmark for other City

         18  efforts.

         19                 Department of Information Technology

         20  and Telecommunications has successfully completed

         21  all of the necessary upgrades to make the data

         22  center at 11 Metrotech Y2K compliant.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: When you say they

         24  have done, and have made that progress, are you

         25  comfortable in saying they are not 100 percent

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  compliant?

          3                 MR. BARSKY: That is correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: That is

          5  refreshing, because almost everybody I speak to say

          6  they are either 90 or 95 percent or 99 percent

          7  compliant, and I, you know, must be compelled to

          8  worry about that other ten, five or one percent.

          9                 MR. BARSKY: We have many agencies

         10  that are already at the 100 percent compliance level

         11  where they have fully tested their systems, they

         12  have actually tested, used 13 different dates to

         13  test as test dates. We have gone through a number of

         14  exercises that independent quality assurance

         15  consultants come out and review the agency's, so we

         16  are pretty confident when we say certified.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you.

         18                 MR. BARSKY: The Department of

         19  Information, Technology and Telecommunications has

         20  successfully completed all of the necessary upgrades

         21  to make the data center at 11 Metrotech Y2K

         22  compliant. As for DoITT's own priority application,

         23  these have been upgraded and are now 100 percent

         24  compliant.

         25                 In addition, DoITT has successfully
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          2  completed all of the necessary data and voice

          3  communication upgrades, and as part of our Y2K

          4  activities, DoITT completed two planned mainframe

          5  upgrades, providing 25 percent more processing power

          6  and capacity necessary for client agencies to

          7  remediate and test their applications for Y2K

          8  compliance.

          9                 The Department of Sanitation has

         10  reviewed all of its equipment and determined that

         11  Y2K date change will not impact its ability to

         12  continue refuse collection or snow removal

         13  operations. All priority applications that

         14  Sanitation operates have been certified as Y2K

         15  compliant.

         16                 The Department of Transportation has

         17  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Excuse me for a

         19  second. When you refer now to Department of

         20  Sanitation, does that include refuse removal, the

         21  procedure to transport the refuse out of New York

         22  City?

         23                 MR. BARSKY: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All aspects of

         25  sanitation responsibility?
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          2                 MR. BARSKY: That is correct. All the

          3  equipment, the trucks, the systems they used to

          4  track, routes and do routing systems --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So you are

          6  comfortable that there will not be a back-up of

          7  refuse removal, either pick-ups or removal from the

          8  City?

          9                 MR. BARSKY: Absolutely. There will

         10  not be a problem.

         11                 The Department of Transportation has

         12  successfully completed necessary work to make all of

         13  its critical and high priority applications --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Does that include

         15  traffic lights?

         16                 MR. BARSKY: Especially traffic

         17  lights. That is the most important.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And street

         19  lighting?

         20                 MR. BARSKY: And street lighting. In

         21  fact, an outside consultant has also assessed the

         22  automated traffic management system, which has been

         23  tested on three separate weekends over the past

         24  year. These tests included rolling the clock forward

         25  and allowing the system to continue to operate for a
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          2  72-hour period, and restarting the system after the

          3  dates have been set to January 1, 2000. So we

          4  simulated the date change. We did a simulated test

          5  on a variety of dates to see, in fact, if this would

          6  work. And in fact it has.

          7                 And based on these successful tests,

          8  DOT has certified that the traffic signal system is

          9  Y2K compliant. So we are very confident, and in fact

         10  that is something we spent a lot of time focusing on

         11  because of its critical nature.

         12                 The Administration for Children's

         13  Services is over 93 percent complete with all of its

         14  priority applications and much of their success is

         15  due to technical assistance they have been receiving

         16  from the MIS staff at HRA.

         17                 As you know, HRA and ACS rely on

         18  certain state operated systems, and the City is

         19  therefore reliant on the state to make these systems

         20  Y2K compliant.

         21                 While the state has communicated that

         22  some of these systems have been made compliant, the

         23  City was not asked to participate in any of the

         24  testing of the newly remediated code. One system,

         25  Connections, which many of you are aware of, will
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          2  not be completed until November 1999, when all

          3  hardware upgrades for Y2K are completed. Given the

          4  late date for the project's completion, HRA and ACS

          5  have developed detailed plans in order to continue

          6  to meet their missions in the event that the state

          7  does not complete its project on time. But based on

          8  our discussions with the state and the concerns that

          9  we have raised, the Governor's Office has taken a

         10  very active involvement in the Connections system

         11  and has now placed the project under their direct

         12  management and control. So, the Governor has gotten

         13  very much involved in trying to make the Connections

         14  system happen on time to be compliant and work

         15  within the needs of both HRA and ACS.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: On that point,

         17  though, what about the suppliers of the Agency for

         18  Children's Services? I mean, have you gone beyond

         19  merely doing the City's Y2K compliance requirements,

         20  and have you gone to the suppliers, the people that

         21  are the vendors, et cetera, to make sure that they

         22  are?

         23                 MR. BARSKY: Yes. That is part of

         24  almost all of our efforts, is to not only look at

         25  our own systems, but look to all of the interfaces
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          2  we have with either other state or federal agencies

          3  or other vendors or social service providers, and we

          4  have provided detailed instructions to them and

          5  methodology to them to follow the program and plan

          6  that we are using which we think is one of the

          7  premiere or model programs for the country in terms

          8  of Y2K readiness. So we have actually worked with

          9  all of those interfaces.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Have you actually

         11  tested their systems, or have you just requested

         12  that they comply?

         13                 MR. BARSKY: In some cases we will do

         14  spot tests of various systems, but as we said with

         15  the Connections system we have not had the

         16  opportunity to test the Connection systems, but

         17  basically what we have been doing is meeting weekly

         18  with the representative from the state on the

         19  progress of Connections and getting some assurances

         20  back from them as to where they are and the progress

         21  that they are doing, and in the even that something

         22  is not right there, because we haven't had the

         23  opportunity to test it ourselves, we have developed

         24  detailed back-up plans --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Between now and
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          2  December 31st, will there in fact be an opportunity

          3  to test the computer equipment of the suppliers and

          4  vendors?

          5                 MR. BARSKY: What we do receive is we

          6  receive statements from them or certifications from

          7  them of the tests that they have performed. It some

          8  cases it is very difficult to get access to their

          9  systems and allow them to have our consultants go in

         10  and test their systems on our behalf, what we have

         11  to do is basically rely on their representations and

         12  their certifications, and in some cases they have

         13  been done by, in many cases reputable vendors that

         14  we have a lot of confidence --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, I am sure

         16  overwhelmingly that the vendors are reputable, I am

         17  concerned about those that might not be. So, I would

         18  urge that you invoke some form of system that would

         19  check at least to some degree the validity of their

         20  Y2K compliance procedures.

         21                 MR. BARSKY: Yes, that is part of the

         22  process.

         23                 Other City agencies, include the

         24  Department of Environmental Protection, which is now

         25  over 92 percent complete with all of its priority
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          2  systems. The Department has completed an extensive

          3  review of its water and wastewater systems and is in

          4  the process of replacing or upgrading process

          5  controllers or devices that may be impacted by the

          6  Y2K date change.

          7                 All the necessary work is scheduled

          8  to be completed well before the end of the year, and

          9  according to DEP, New York City's water and sewer

         10  distribution systems are not heavily automated in

         11  the first place, so they have minimal Y2K issues.

         12  Most of these systems are exclusively gravity based

         13  and operate with minimal mechanical assistance.

         14                 To the extent that automation is

         15  employed, applications are of the two basic

         16  varieties.

         17                 Telemetry systems which are used to

         18  monitor flows and other operating characteristics of

         19  several wastewater treatment plants that employ

         20  process control systems to aid in their operations,

         21  and other systems that are also used to control a

         22  variety of the plants that they also use to control

         23  water flows and other wastewater treatment devices.

         24  So, those are really the two areas where they do

         25  have automation, and the Department staff can
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          2  override these systems at any time in the event that

          3  there is an interruption or a problem.

          4                 So, the Department of Environmental

          5  Protection has not only minimal impact from

          6  Y2K-related problems, but in the event there was

          7  something, an override is very easily achieved.

          8                 The work on the Fire Department's two

          9  most critical systems, the Fire and EMS Dispatch

         10  systems, have been completed and the systems are

         11  certified as Y2K compliant.

         12                 At the present time the Fire

         13  Department has 100 percent of its critical high

         14  priority systems certified as compliant.

         15                 The Department has also assessed its

         16  medical and firefighting equipment for potential Y2K

         17  impact, and to determine that they will be able to

         18  continue to operate this equipment without any

         19  interruption.

         20                 This involves not only computer

         21  programs but what is referred to as embedded chip

         22  technology that goes inside much of the equipment

         23  that is used today, especially for ambulance and

         24  firefighting vehicles.

         25                 The Police Department has also been
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          2  working diligently to meet their Y2K objectives.

          3  Almost 90 percent of the Department's priority

          4  applications have been certified as Y2K compliant.

          5  There are only several systems that are in the

          6  process of completing remediation, developing or

          7  testing. These systems are the on-line Transit

          8  Police System, the Automated Roll Call System, and

          9  those are basically the only two that they have left

         10  to complete.

         11                 The Department expects this work to

         12  be completed by early September 1999. The Department

         13  is been working closely with the staff of Bell

         14  Atlantic to test the City's 911 system and it is

         15  reported that the system is Y2K compliant.

         16                 The Department's most critical

         17  system, Sprint, the Dispatch System and E911 System

         18  have been upgraded and returned to production as Y2K

         19  compliant. So, those have already been completed and

         20  done and we are very comfortable that those will be

         21  able to work smoothly into the new millennium.

         22                 At this time I would like to provide

         23  you with a quick update on some of the other

         24  important aspects of the City's Y2K efforts.

         25                 The City's Y2K Project Office has
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          2  been performing a variety of quality of assurance

          3  activities on agency Y2K remediation projects. The

          4  City has contracted with two prominent firms to

          5  conduct independent assessments of the Agency's Y2K

          6  activities. So, this is just another level of

          7  protection. In addition to what the agencies have

          8  done by having vendors come in and fix their

          9  programs or remediate their programs, we have

         10  brought in quality assurance vendors who would come

         11  out and perform their own detailed tests of those

         12  systems to provide an extra level or a layer of

         13  assurance to us that these have been done.

         14                 And in the area of public awareness,

         15  the City has been making great progress. On June

         16  15th, the City launched its Y2K home page on New

         17  York City Link, the City's official web site. Our

         18  address is www.ci.nyc.ny.us/y2k info.

         19                 Visitors to the Y2K home page can

         20  learn more about the City's Y2K efforts and we

         21  frequently ask questions about the City's Y2K

         22  efforts and the continuation of City services.

         23                 If you couldn't get the whole, what

         24  we call the URL, for the home page, if you just go

         25  to New York City Link or go to the City's Home Page,
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          2  you will be able --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Adam, you need a

          4  computer with Y2K compliance to understand and

          5  remember that.

          6                 MR. BARSKY: I know. That is why I am

          7  giving you the shortcut. Either go to New York City

          8  Link in your search, or just go the City's official

          9  web site and within that you will be able to easily

         10  find the Y2K Home Page, which will provide lots of

         11  information for individuals and steps that they

         12  should be taking.

         13                 We have also scanned and done a lot

         14  of focus groups and found the frequently asked

         15  questions and provided answers to those questions,

         16  so there is a lot of helpful and useful information

         17  for people if you go through the Home Page or our

         18  web site.

         19                 We have also developed a brochure

         20  Prepare To Meet The Challenges of Y2K, which

         21  provides the public with information on how to

         22  personally prepare for the Y2K date change. The

         23  advice contained throughout the brochure is similar

         24  to advise people how to prepare for a severe winter

         25  storm. The Y2K Project Office has developed another
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          2  brochure called Getting The Facts About NYC Y2K, a

          3  palm card that provides information on the City's

          4  Y2K project and key services. And we have also

          5  developed a New York City Help Lines Card, which we

          6  are making available to all of the agencies and all

          7  of the City offices where the public has lots of

          8  interaction which gives you all of the phone numbers

          9  for all key services and emergency phone numbers for

         10  all agencies to be received. And this is not only

         11  useful for this exercise, but it is something that

         12  every citizen should have available to them at their

         13  home.

         14                 In addition to City, in cooperation

         15  with the Presidents Council on Y2K Conversion, and

         16  the Regional Plan Association, we are hosting a   Y2K

         17  community conversation on September 8th at John Jay

         18  College from 6:00 to 8:00 in the evening. Deputy

         19  Mayor Joe Lhota will be representing the Mayor at

         20  this event, and Commissioners from selected agencies

         21  will be available to answer questions.

         22                 In addition, representatives from

         23  federal and state agencies, local utilities, New

         24  Jersey Transit, the Port Authority and the banking

         25  and financial industries have also been invited to
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          2  attend and respond to questions.

          3                 Other events are being planned for

          4  Brooklyn, Bronx, Queens, Staten Island and I will be

          5  happy to provide the members of the Council with a

          6  schedule of dates, time, locations for these events

          7  as well, which will be coming up very soon

          8  thereafter.

          9                 Finally, the City's Y2K contingency

         10  planning is being directed by the Office of

         11  Emergency Management and overseen by the City's Y2K

         12  Executive Steering Committee. I believe Jerry

         13  Howard, the Director of the Office of Emergency

         14  Management will be speaking shortly after myself

         15  today to provide you with his testimony and the

         16  contingency planning activities that he has been

         17  overseeing.

         18                 While the Year 2000 Project Office

         19  has worked diligently to keep our agencies focused

         20  on the Y2K challenge, the real credit for meeting

         21  this challenge goes to the dedicated efforts of the

         22  agencies and MIS staff for meeting our goals in

         23  making their systems Y2K ready.

         24                 The City of New York is very highly

         25  regarded for its Y2K project and it is being viewed
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          2  as being one of the best Y2K efforts in the nations.

          3  We have participated in many discussions with

          4  municipalities and industry across the country, and

          5  we are frequently held out as a model and used as an

          6  example of how a program should be developed, put

          7  together and we are looked at as a benchmark for the

          8  rest of the country.

          9                 Mayor Giuliani's agencies are

         10  extremely committed to making the Y2K conversion as

         11  smooth as possible, and we are very comfortable that

         12  will in fact indeed be the case.

         13                 And I would just like to take this

         14  opportunity to thank the members of the City Council

         15  for all of their support that we have received and

         16  the confidence in our ability to tackle this task.

         17                 We will be now available to answer

         18  any of your questions, if you have any further

         19  questions than ones you have had already, and I

         20  would like to request that any questions pertaining

         21  to contingency planning please be deferred until the

         22  Director of the Mayor's Office of Emergency

         23  Management has had the opportunity to provide his

         24  report to the Committee.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you very
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          2  much, Adam.

          3                 We have a couple of very brief

          4  questions, because we have a lot of witnesses, and I

          5  would ask members of the Council, feel free to ask

          6  the questions but to try and keep it brief.

          7                 May I also say that we have been

          8  joined by Council Members Michels, Spigner, Wooten,

          9  McCaffrey, Dear and Rodriguez. Welcome, everybody.

         10                 Now, has the City tested the

         11  interconnections between federal, state and local

         12  systems concerning critical programs and benefits

         13  like Medicare?

         14                 MR. BARSKY: Well, we have tested all

         15  of our systems and we have worked with those

         16  interfaces that we do rely on and we have received

         17  the detailed plans that they have performed and we

         18  have received, as we said before, their

         19  certifications where they have them and we have

         20  raised the issue of concern where there may not have

         21  been any certifications provided to us. So that we

         22  have done a thorough job of working with all of

         23  those entities that we interface with.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So you are

         25  comfortable that there has been compliance and that
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          2  there will not be any glitches or problems.

          3                 MR. BARKSY: Absolutely, yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right.

          5                 Adam, has the City been stockpiling

          6  any material in contemplation of the Y2K liable?

          7                 MR. BARSKY: We have not been doing

          8  any specific stockpiling per se. What we have done

          9  is just made sure to plan out all of our ordering

         10  and purchasing so that we will not run into any

         11  problems in that we will be fully equipped to meet

         12  all of our needs for that period of time. We are

         13  really talking about what really happens at that

         14  turn, any potential interruption, should there be

         15  any, would be very minor and would only cost you

         16  maybe a day or two at most. So what we have done is

         17  prepared for those situations where those things are

         18  critical, those things are needed on a day-to-day

         19  basis.

         20                 So what we have done is basically

         21  just looked at our planning, our scheduling and made

         22  sure that we have done things in a way in which we

         23  will be sufficiently, you know, equipped for all of

         24  the things that we normally need in our regular

         25  processing.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: How would you

          3  define doing some extra ordering? Is that something

          4  that the citizens should also contemplate doing? And

          5  to what extent have you arrived at that

          6  interpretation?

          7                 MR. BARSKY: What we have done is

          8  taken what we believe to be prudent steps by not

          9  stockpiling per se, as you have mentioned, but just

         10  make sure that we don't do anything that happens at

         11  a critical time or at a time where there may be a

         12  slight interruption. So maybe we have ordered in

         13  some cases a week advance of when we would otherwise

         14  receive some goods so we have it a week ahead of

         15  time. Basically that is to the extent we have done

         16  things.

         17                 MR. COHEN: Contingency planning. We

         18  have done things, like make sure the fuel tanks are

         19  topped off at the hospitals, we have extra

         20  generators, there are things you will hear about in

         21  the contingency plan.

         22                 MR. BARSKY: Right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Then we will wait

         24  until they test, that agency testifies.

         25                 Okay, finally, I want to again ask
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          2  you as to whether or not the City has taken steps to

          3  ensure that many of the non-profit organizations

          4  that perform services, such as day care, senior

          5  citizen program, et cetera, have you taken steps to

          6  make sure they will be Y2K compliant?

          7                 MR. DOBRIN: As part of my office's

          8  methodology and approach we have been working with

          9  both Corporation Counsel, legal counsel and the

         10  agency's program people to reach out in writing and

         11  in person to any kind of contractors or vendors that

         12  provide services to the agencies.

         13                 They have reached out to the sense

         14  of, are they prepared, can they continue to provide

         15  services. Giving them examples, we have done

         16  briefings for them, we have taught them about Y2K,

         17  we have given them some ideas and methodologies and

         18  we have continued to work with them and we have not

         19  at this point in time been receiving any information

         20  back that alerts us to their inability to continue

         21  to provide services beyond January 1.

         22                 MR. BARSKY: The other thing I just

         23  want to stress again for everybody is that, while

         24  this has become a public issue of late and it has

         25  gotten lots of attention in the media over the last
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          2  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And it is going

          4  to get more as we get closer to January 1st, Year

          5  2000.

          6                 MR. BARSKY: Maybe more, but the

          7  reality is that most of this it does involve

          8  computer systems, with MIS directors and with the

          9  City ourselves, we have been aware of this issue for

         10  quite a long time and we started doing lots of work

         11  back in 1996. So, we have had lots of time to work

         12  very hard on this. So, it hasn't been a situation

         13  where we have been either trying to play catch-up or

         14  rushing to get things done --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: No, I understand.

         16                 MR. BARSKY: And I just really want to

         17  stress that the City deserves a lot of credit having

         18  had that foresight and the time to plan in advance

         19  and do all of the work necessary and sufficiently

         20  make all the preparations that are required, and

         21  that is going to really pay off.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, I am

         23  delighted to hear that. That certainly is

         24  comforting, and I certainly remember the additional

         25  monies that the Council has been called upon to
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          2  appropriate from time to time in order to be able to

          3  provide the appropriate equipment.

          4                 I will defer and Mr. McCaffrey will

          5  defer his questions until Mr. Howard testifies, but

          6  Ms. Wooten is going to ask one question of you.

          7                 Ms. Wooten.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: Thank you, Mr.

          9  Chair.

         10                 I just want to know that the in place

         11  kind of presentation that you just made a few

         12  minutes ago, is it in conjunction with other, larger

         13  municipalities that we do business with,

         14  organizations so that you have back-up systems to

         15  pick up whatever we might not be able to deal with

         16  when it comes that point; what back-up system do you

         17  have for this whole process to make sure that if

         18  this doesn't work then we know that there is another

         19  concept that we could move into to make sure that

         20  everything is in place, even if it talks in terms of

         21  two or three, so this way we are not missing

         22  anything if we lose a certain program or plan that

         23  we put in place?

         24                 MR. BARSKY: Well, we have lots of

         25  partnerships with our vendors. We do a lot of work
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          2  with some of the largest computer vendors in the

          3  nation. And we have lots of agreements that we have

          4  additional capacity, additional data processing

          5  capabilities that would be available to us in the

          6  event of any interruption, whether it be Y2K-related

          7  or not, and this is something that goes along with

          8  prudent back-up disaster contingency planning that

          9  you do for an MIS system regardless of a Y2K

         10  problem, just in case there was ever a power failure

         11  or any other interruption, or God forbid some

         12  explosion happened at your data center, all of these

         13  things are well planned and taken into -- done in

         14  advance to prepare for those kind of things. So,

         15  this is just another one of those issues that would

         16  enter into that category that you would want to be

         17  prepared for. But we do have very detailed back-up

         18  contingency plans, we have lots of records and dates

         19  and tapes stored off-site at remote locations that

         20  can easily be put back into production and bring us

         21  up so that we wouldn't even lose one day's worth of

         22  business. So, all of these things are in place right

         23  now and we do that as a matter of course of

         24  business.

         25                 MR. DOBRIN: It is called disaster
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          2  recovery, and we do that regularly. And if one

          3  agency, let's say if FISA were to have a problem

          4  with this system, they could bring this system over

          5  to DoITT's data center so we could run it over

          6  there, and we can run things out of state, if we had

          7  a state problem.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: There is no

          9  way of testing these plans and systems?

         10                 MR. DOBRIN: No, we do. We test them

         11  regularly. DoITT has run two tests this year, we

         12  took our data center to our disaster recovery site

         13  out of state and ran all of our programs in a Y2K

         14  compliant environment and they are both successful.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you.

         17                 At this time I would like to invite

         18  Mr. Howard to come in and testify, and I appreciate

         19  the members deferring the questions until the

         20  conclusion of that testimony.

         21                 Thank you, gentlemen.

         22                 MR. BARSKY: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Adam, you are

         24  going to stay around, because there will be

         25  questions.
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          2                 Good morning, Jerry.

          3                 Would you identify yourself and the

          4  people with you?

          5                 MR. HAUER: Mr. Chairman, with me are

          6  Jack Trabits, my First Deputy Director, and John

          7  Hughes, my Deputy Director who is overseeing the Y2K

          8  planning effort.

          9                 I have a brief statement, and then I

         10  would be happy to answer any of your questions, if I

         11  may.

         12                 I am here today to report that as New

         13  York City faces a new millennium, we are better

         14  prepared for the Year 2000 than any other City in

         15  the country or perhaps the world.

         16                 As you have already heard, the City

         17  has engaged in a multi-year effort to prepare the

         18  government for the host of computer-related problems

         19  that may be associated with Year 2000.

         20                 While it is of course important for

         21  New York to make every effort to anticipate and

         22  solve the technological difficulty posed the

         23  so-called Y2K bug, it would not have been prudent to

         24  stop there.

         25                 Mayor Giuliani and Deputy Mayor Lhota
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          2  asked me as the Director of the Office of Emergency

          3  Management to make sure that City government and its

          4  essential services will continue to operate in the

          5  face of nearly any Y2K-related problem. For more

          6  than a year my office has been developing

          7  contingency plans designed to address virtually

          8  every conceivable Y2K-related problem. We created a

          9  Citywide template and copies of those I believe have

         10  been distributed to the Committee, that serves as a

         11  model for City agencies as they address their Y2K

         12  contingency planning.

         13                 A copy of the process is on the chart

         14  behind me. In order to undertake this process, we

         15  surveyed City government and identified 900 separate

         16  day-to-day business functions. Each agency was then

         17  asked to identify its mission critical services and

         18  to submit to OEM by June 30th of this year. A

         19  detailed accounting of how it expects to provide

         20  those services should a Y2K related interruption

         21  take place.

         22                 That list, summarized on the chart

         23  behind me, had approximately 300 missions that the

         24  agency believed to be vital to the City's function.

         25  My staff reviews those submissions and narrowed the
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          2  number of critical City services to 73.

          3                 This number represents those missions

          4  that fall into categories four and five and involve

          5  the systems or services that must be maintained

          6  under any circumstances.

          7                 As you can see, priority four and

          8  five are the revenue and payment systems and the

          9  life and public safety system.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: The life system I

         11  assume is hospitals and health?

         12                 MR. HAUER: Yes, it includes HHC and I

         13  have got a list. Fergie, why don't you put that list

         14  up.

         15                 These are the top 25 critical

         16  missions, and, again, these are processes and within

         17  each process are the subsystem, but you can see,

         18  E911, patrol operations, special operations, FDNY,

         19  ambulance response. Ambulance response also includes

         20  the EMS dispatch system, and the subcategories

         21  thereof, and I can get into more detail, if you

         22  would like, about that.

         23                 As a result of this process, we were

         24  able to begin locating the assets and developing the

         25  contingency plans necessary to ensure that these
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          2  services would continue despite a Y2K-related

          3  interruption.

          4                 Many of the agencies were assisted in

          5  their contingency plan by OEM staff and IBM, who was

          6  working with us as a contractor, and together we are

          7  working to produce a comprehensive list of the types

          8  of logistical and personnel needs each agency must

          9  have to be adequately prepared for January 1st,

         10  2000.

         11                 Over 500 meetings have been held

         12  between OEM staff and City personnel, with thousands

         13  and thousands of man hours devoted to producing the

         14  information you see before you.

         15                 Millions of dollars have been

         16  invested and an unprecedented review of New York

         17  City services has been conducted, all designed to

         18  produce a list of those systems that this City and

         19  its citizens could not live without.

         20                 The most obvious critical government

         21  function to top our list is the 911 system. The

         22  Police Department has developed contingency plans

         23  that it believes will allow continued public safety

         24  operations.

         25                 In the event the --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: That means

          3  contemplating the failure of E911?

          4                 MR. HAUER: Right. Basically what we

          5  did, let me try and go through this.

          6                 We looked at each process, and we

          7  broke that process down into subcomponents. For

          8  instance, everything from the time a 911 call comes

          9  in to the dispatch of a police car, and you look at

         10  all of the components of that process and you say

         11  how, what do you do if any one of those components

         12  should, fail? And we have required the agencies to

         13  have a contingency plan in place for each one of

         14  those components. So for the Fire Department, for

         15  instance, if they do not have the standard EMS

         16  dispatch system, they can go to back up cars. We

         17  have looked at the whole system of dispatching an

         18  ambulance, at the whole system of dispatching a fire

         19  truck, and we have looked at how to ensure that

         20  there is a plan in place should one of the

         21  components of that system fail, or should the whole

         22  system fail.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: One of the

         24  complexities that I am trying to understand by the

         25  way is, E911, as my colleague Mr. Leffler has
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          2  reminded us on a number of occasions, is a

          3  moderately new system. Why wasn't it installed when

          4  it was created being Y2K compliant? You may not be

          5  able to answer that question, that might not have

          6  been your jurisdiction, but it seems to me that that

          7  could have happened, that could have saved the City

          8  considerable amount of time --

          9                 MR. HAUER: I can't answer that. The

         10  E911 system is not under my purview, it is under the

         11  purview of the Police Department, and I can't

         12  address why it was not Y2K compliant to start with.

         13  It might have been, I don't know the answer to that.

         14                 The Department of Transportation has

         15  prepared a comprehensive Y2K contingency plan that

         16  will ensure that city traffic continues to function

         17  as well. The City's traffic lights and street lights

         18  will continue to shine and New Yorkers will be able

         19  to navigate our streets and highways as usual.

         20                 If something unforeseen goes wrong,

         21  we are as a City prepared to ensure that the safe

         22  flow of traffic, for however long the problem may

         23  last.

         24                 The Department of Sanitation will

         25  also do its part, should snow removal be necessary.
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          2  Most of Sanitation's equipment is free from possible

          3  Y2K bugs, and so garbage collection will occur as

          4  normal.

          5                 As for the Department of

          6  Environmental Protection, I am pleased to report

          7  that they have developed a foolproof Y2K plan. They

          8  intend to simply rely on gravity to do their work

          9  for them.

         10                 All jokes aside, the gravity-fed

         11  system will obviously continue to operate, and DEP

         12  tells us that its pumping stations will be

         13  adequately prepared to operate in the event there is

         14  a Y2K problem.

         15                 New Yorkers should not notice the

         16  disruption to their water supply, and DEP has

         17  assured us that New York City Fire Department's

         18  ability to do its job will not be affected.

         19                 As important as OEM's work with the

         20  City agencies has been we have also engaged in an

         21  effort to work with the major utilities.

         22                 Con Ed has also assured us that it

         23  will continue to operate as normal during and after

         24  New Year's Eve. We have had several meetings with

         25  the utility and they have indicated that their
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          2  systems are not heavily reliant on computers.

          3                 Furthermore, the winter represents

          4  the period of lowest demand so that they do not

          5  expect to be overtaxed as they were this summer.

          6                 Bell Atlantic has also provided us

          7  with assurances similar to Con Ed, and we are

          8  confident that they and every utility doing business

          9  has sufficient motivation to make sure that their

         10  services do not fail.

         11                 The communication needs of critical

         12  city agencies will also be backed up by a radio

         13  network that will operate independent of any

         14  potential Bell Atlantic system.

         15                 My office has designated sites around

         16  the City as possible Y2K shelters should it be

         17  necessary to relocate significant number of

         18  residents due to an isolated power failure, and

         19  these self-shelters, like all City shelters, will be

         20  backed up by generators and have sufficient

         21  resources to provide room and board in the

         22  appropriate length of time.

         23                 Our emergency operation center, the

         24  site from which the City government implements its

         25  crisis response plans will be in operation for
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          2  several days before and after New Year's Day.

          3                 This is only a precautionary measure

          4  and is designed to have our system in place should

          5  it become necessary. Senior City personnel will be

          6  present at the EOC from December 29th until we are

          7  certain that the Y2K bug has passed us by.

          8                 As an important complement to our

          9  contingency planning Office of Emergency Management

         10  will also set-up and man a Y2K hot line created to

         11  answer questions the public may have regarding the

         12  readiness of City services.

         13                 This hot line will be operational

         14  within the week. We have also published a brochure

         15  which Adam Barsky has mentioned and copies of those

         16  I believe have been distributed to the members of

         17  the Committee.

         18                 The Board of Education has also

         19  agreed to distribute more than a million brochures

         20  to the parents of children attending New York City

         21  public schools - just one example of the type of

         22  outreach effort we are making in an effort to

         23  educate the public on this important issue.

         24                 One issue I do want to bring up,

         25  because we have been asked about this is, why we
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          2  chose to wait to do public outreach. And this was a

          3  very calculated program on our part, we felt if we

          4  went out too early, if we did it in February, March,

          5  April, the public would really fatigue on the issue

          6  and be tired of it by the time we got to the point

          7  where we really needed to begin education. So, we

          8  calculated and developed a program in a very

          9  organized fashion to roll out this summer and to

         10  become more intense as we get into the fall, as

         11  opposed to trying to do it over a year, which many

         12  places around the country have done, and the public

         13  is now tired of listening to the message. We wanted

         14  to hit home at the right time to let people know

         15  that this City was ready.

         16                 Mr. Chairman, as a professional

         17  emergency manager, it is clear to me that the Year

         18  2000 poses significant and perhaps unique challenges

         19  to the city, state and federal governments.  No one

         20  knows for certain how big the problem really is or

         21  if it even exists, and so it is difficult to get a

         22  handle on what might go wrong.

         23                 It is for that reason that my office,

         24  and indeed New York City in general, has undertaken

         25  this monumental task of preparing for anything and
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          2  everything we can think of.

          3                 I believe we have done our job and it

          4  is my intention to make sure that the City's

          5  residents and guests are able to safely and

          6  comfortably celebrate the dawn of the new

          7  millennium.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Hauer. I have a couple of questions and then we will

         11  turn it over to the Committee members as well.

         12                 Firstly, you testified that you

         13  received assurances from our utility companies, gas,

         14  electric, phones; have you had the opportunity to

         15  receive or to do any independent audits of their Y2K

         16  compliance?

         17                 MR. HAUER: We have IBM looking at

         18  some of their Y2K plans. We have not -- I have met

         19  with them. I have met with the president, chairman

         20  of Con Ed, we have met with the senior officials

         21  from Bell Atlantic, and we have looked at their

         22  systems in detail. We have not had an independent

         23  auditor per se go in and review Con Ed or Bell

         24  Atlantic's system.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So much of your
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          2  sense of satisfaction or belief that it will be okay

          3  is dependent upon their assurances that things will

          4  be okay?

          5                 MR. HAUER: No, I understand what you

          6  are saying, but in large part, from meeting with

          7  them and developing and understanding the system and

          8  the way the systems work, particularly Con Ed, and

          9  in many of the meetings we have had with Con Ed, we

         10  have gone into excruciating detail in trying to

         11  understand what role computers play in electric

         12  distribution, and in fact we learned two summers ago

         13  that computers can both be helpful and problematic.

         14                 We had a computer sense of problem in

         15  Brooklyn and the computer actually shut part of the

         16  network down in Brooklyn. We found that after the

         17  computer shut the network down, it could be

         18  overridden manually very quickly and the network was

         19  brought up.

         20                 So that the whole system that Con Ed

         21  depends on can be overridden, it can be managed

         22  manually without the aid of computers.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So worst case

         24  scenario, they can rely upon manual usage?

         25                 MR. HAUER: Yes. A lot of what they
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          2  use the computers for is feedback, so I am

          3  comfortable at this point in time, particularly

          4  since -- and, again, people are trying to draw

          5  correlations between the problem we had this summer

          6  in Washington Heights and what we are looking at

          7  during December. As I mentioned in the testimony, in

          8  December we are really going to be at a relatively

          9  low load factor so we don't expect the cables to be

         10  heating up, we don't expect the infrastructure to be

         11  a problem. This will really be a computer issue and

         12  based on what we have seen, that can be managed

         13  manually.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, you

         15  basically have referred to the operations of mega

         16  companies, huge companies, now many of the vendors

         17  dealing with the City are not mega companies, and

         18  that is obviously a matter of significant concern,

         19  because while I am sure we can all be comfortable

         20  that Con Ed and Bell Atlantic, you know, they are

         21  going to be Y2K compliant, a mid-size company that

         22  might be providing medical supplies, how do we know,

         23  and is that in fact the problem that they may say

         24  that they are Y2K compliant, but how do we know that

         25  they will be? How do we know that they are willing
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          2  to spend the money to make certain that they will be

          3  Y2K compliant, and if in fact we are dependent upon

          4  them for certain services is that not a problem?

          5                 MR. HAUER: That is a very important

          6  issue and a very important question. We have

          7  identified critical vendors, fuel suppliers, for

          8  instance, who provide gas, diesel, heating for NYCHA

          9  projects, and we have, through DCAS they have

         10  received written assurances of their Y2K compliance.

         11                 We also are developing contingency

         12  plans for some of those issues, such as fuel. We

         13  have let a contract through DCAS to have back-up

         14  stockpiles of fuel in the City so that if we do run

         15  into a glitch, and that glitch might not be here in

         16  the City, that glitch might be down the line on a

         17  fuel line somewhere in Texas or in the midwest --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, the fact if

         19  we are buying some fuel from some foreign country,

         20  we don't even know if that foreign country will be

         21  Y2K compliant and that could be a problem, could it

         22  not?

         23                 MR. HAUER: Well, that is why we have

         24  contingency plans in place, and that is why we are

         25  going to have fuel stockpiled and available so that
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          2  we can maintain heating, we can maintain essential

          3  services, and we are doing similar things with --

          4  and I am sure Dr. Marcos will address this --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Yes, that is of

          6  course one of the more important aspects of it.

          7                 So, effectively a certain degree of

          8  subtle stockpiling will be essential?

          9                 MR. HAUER: Well, yes. Whether you

         10  call it stockpiling or having reserves in place, we

         11  are in fact developing some back-ups for some

         12  critical --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: It is a"rose by

         14  another name", I mean it is effectively the same

         15  thing.

         16                 MR. HAUER: Absolutely.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay. I may have

         18  some more questions, but we will get back to that.

         19                 Mr. McCaffrey.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: I have

         21  questions both for Mr. Hauer and for Mr. Barsky.

         22                 Let me just ask, much of the

         23  orientation --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Excuse me. Is Mr.

         25  Barsky still in the room?
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          2                 Adam, why don't you come up, because

          3  a question may be directed to you also.

          4                 By the way, while he is waiting

          5  there, is Michael Geller here? I just want to thank

          6  Michael Geller, who I invited to the hearing. He is

          7  the one who sat down with me and went over this

          8  process and gave me the idea that this is a very

          9  important hearing to engage him and I want to thank

         10  him for his public dedication and his foresight.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Gentlemen,

         13  much of the orientation today is appropriately in

         14  terms of the critical mission areas that you have

         15  identified, but what about the rest of the City of

         16  New York's operations in terms of Y2K compliance?

         17  What is an emergency to some is clearly defined in

         18  terms of those various measures that you have got on

         19  that board up there, the 25 missions.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Walter, would you

         21  bring the mic closer to you, please.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: What is an

         23  inconvenience to some is a crisis to others.

         24                 For example, the senior citizen, how

         25  long is it going to take them to have their SCRIE
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          2  application processed, their HEAP application

          3  processed?

          4                 Many of our precincts, for example,

          5  are not Y2K compliant in terms of their roll calls.

          6  I mean, that is not a mission that is on their

          7  critical list. That is a source of concern. You

          8  know, these are the type of items that people want

          9  to know how the City of New York is going to respond

         10  and there is no discussion whatsoever as to what the

         11  status of that is; so can someone tell us what that

         12  process is, to see to it that the remainder of the

         13  bureaucracy, vast that it is, challenge that it is

         14  every day, is going to be able to end up meeting

         15  this?

         16                 MR. HAUER: First of all, we have not

         17  abandoned other City agencies so-to-speak. We are

         18  developing contingency plans and our highest

         19  priority are for these.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Understood.

         21                 MR. HAUER: But that has not let the

         22  other agencies off the hook. The Mayor has made it

         23  clear he wants all City agencies to be Y2K

         24  compliant, and he wants all City agencies to have

         25  their processes in place, should we have a problem
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          2  at the end of the year. And we have gotten

          3  contingency plans from the Human Rights Commission,

          4  from Landmarks and other agencies that are not

          5  necessarily in the life safety or public safety

          6  arena, and I certainly understand what you are

          7  saying about the inconvenience. We want to make sure

          8  that there is as little inconvenience to New Yorkers

          9  in any contact with City government as possible.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Mr. Barsky,

         11  in your statement you indicate that 95 percent of

         12  the system is ready in the critical missions; what

         13  about the rest of the system? What is the percentage

         14  on that, the rest of the City bureaucracy?

         15                 MR. BARSKY: Well, the goal we set was

         16  for all the high critical priority systems --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: I

         18  understand that.

         19                 MR. BARSKY: We gave agencies until

         20  September 30th to have everything else done, and we

         21  will be reviewing with them. We do review with them

         22  on either a biweekly basis or a monthly basis where

         23  they are in all of their programs and plans and what

         24  they are going to do in the event that something

         25  doesn't, you know --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: So what is

          3  the percentage? Is the non-critical missions, is

          4  that 50 percent in compliance now, 40 percent, 80

          5  percent, where are we on that?

          6                 MR. BARSKY: It is well over 80

          7  percent.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Eight

          9  percent in areas --

         10                 MR. BARSKY: Well over 80 percent.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Gentlemen,

         12  let me ask you the other item. You know, much of, as

         13  the Chairman was pointing out, is our relationship

         14  beyond the City itself, Con Ed and a part of

         15  obviously energy grids, how do we know what the

         16  status is as it applies to the energy grids that

         17  they participate in?

         18                 MR. HAUER: Yes, I actually asked Con

         19  Ed that question, and the issue of our inner

         20  dependence on buying off the grid, there is a couple

         21  issues.

         22                 One, we are at relatively a low

         23  period the year.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Understood.

         25                 MR. HAUER: During the heat this

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  summer we went over 11,000 megawatts. Con Ed has

          3  told me that we would probably be in the area of

          4  7,000 to 8,000 megawatts at the most around that

          5  time of the year. And as such they said worst case

          6  they could go to what they call an islanding effect,

          7  where they isolate the City and they generate the

          8  electricity for the use in the City on their own,

          9  and they could in fact, and they do plan, from what

         10  I am told by the officials at Con Ed that I met

         11  with, having their turbines working and spinning in

         12  and around this time period so that if they did lose

         13  power from the grid, they could manage to go to this

         14  islanding affect and they would in fact generate

         15  enough energy for the City to maintain on its own.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Mr. Barsky,

         17  let me ask you, are we going to see an agency by

         18  agency breakdown on these other non-critical mission

         19  areas as to their compliance? At what point are we

         20  going to see that?

         21                 MR. BARSKY: Well, what we are

         22  planning on doing is in the next couple of weeks we

         23  will be producing the Fiscal 1999 Mayor's Management

         24  Report, and what we will do is report in a special

         25  section on Y2K status and we will show where each
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          2  agency is in their status and what they have done.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Every agency?

          4                 MR. BARSKY: Every agency. You will be

          5  able to see a breakdown of everything, as to where

          6  they are, what stage they are in in terms of being

          7  remediated or repaired, replaced, retired.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I also believe

          9  that the Comptroller, who is going to testify next,

         10  has done an audit and is prepared to testify as to

         11  his findings on that.

         12                 MR. BARSKY: And our office does work

         13  with the Comptroller's Office.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: That is

         15  encouraging.

         16                 MR. BARSKY: We review all of his

         17  audits, we look at all their points, we follow up

         18  and address all of their concerns. And it is good to

         19  have another set of eyes look at it as well.

         20                 We have the Comptroller's Office in,

         21  we have had the State Comptroller's Office, we have

         22  had federal auditors in. We have had lots of

         23  different people looking at our systems and

         24  addressing this issue as well, and we encourage that

         25  because we do appreciate any other viewpoint that
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          2  somebody else has and we have been able to address

          3  everybody else's concerns adequately.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. McCaffrey.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: The other

          6  part of the fear, the private sector in answering

          7  surveys, said that with the exception of six

          8  percent, everyone will be Y2K compliant for the turn

          9  of the clock. It was revealed a couple of weeks ago

         10  that that same survey, those same businesses now say

         11  that only 48 percent of them are going to be

         12  compliant. And the question is obviously now for us

         13  in terms of the private sector.

         14                 To follow up on what the Chairman has

         15  said, can you tell us in terms of what the type of

         16  stockpiling we have to do in both critical and

         17  non-critical, other than, for example, fuel supply,

         18  can you take us through the agencies, and tell us

         19  what it is that you are going to be doing?

         20                 MR. HAUER: Yes. We are looking at

         21  fuel. We are looking at certain back-up services for

         22  HHC, should meals be needed. For NYCHA, should we

         23  have to feed people in NYCHA facilities. Those are

         24  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: On HHC, have you
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          2  dealt with the issue of drugs?

          3                 MR. HAUER: We are working with HHC.

          4  That is been a very sensitive issue.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I know. I am

          6  concerned about that, and they are going to testify.

          7                 MR. HAUER: And let me tell you the

          8  issue with that, and I don't want to preempt Luis'

          9  testimony.

         10                 There was a decision made, and we

         11  have been working very closely with the Greater New

         12  York Hospital Association because the concern was

         13  that if everyone started stockpiling drugs, drug

         14  manufacturers tend to stop making drugs about this

         15  time of the year, their product lines tend to cease,

         16  and they are done with their yearly production

         17  because these drugs have an expiration date. So, the

         18  decision was made jointly by all the hospitals that

         19  are members of the Greater New York Hospital

         20  Association, not to order large quantities and

         21  deplete the system. And I think that was a

         22  reasonable decision. We know what we have got in

         23  most of the hospitals, we know what kind of

         24  stockpiles and we did this for other reasons, but we

         25  looked at stockpiles of critical medications in the
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          2  City as we prepared for other things, and we know

          3  what is available.

          4                 We don't see any reason at this point

          5  to be hoarding drugs. I don't think that is

          6  something we need to do. I think that in the event

          7  there is a need we can get additional medications

          8  in, particularly on critical supplies. We can always

          9  rely on federal system as well, but I just don't see

         10  the need for that at this point in time.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Well,

         12  gentlemen, the source of concern is that the public

         13  is being advised, particularly senior citizens, for

         14  example, that they should be double filling their

         15  prescriptions. That is an item that is out there and

         16  that every bit of advice that is being given to

         17  those senior citizens says to provide for that. AARP

         18  has recommended that. And I have to assume that

         19  physicians are going to be ordering, et cetera,

         20  because they will not necessarily accept the proffer

         21  by government that everything will be fine.

         22                 So, the question as it relates to the

         23  Chairman's particular sensitivity here is how is it

         24  that we are not going to be taking into account what

         25  the private sector is going to be doing, and whether
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          2  or not that is going to end up depleting supplies?

          3                 MR. HAUER: First of all, we, as a

          4  normal matter of practice, recommend that people

          5  keep a stockpile of very critical medications on

          6  hand for any emergency. And in fact we were talking

          7  about this this morning when we were talking to the

          8  Hurricane Center, because should a hurricane like

          9  Dennis come up the coast and we have to evacuate

         10  areas of Queens and the Bronx and Staten Island,

         11  Brooklyn, we always recommend people have enough

         12  medication on hand to get them through at least a

         13  week, seven to ten days, always have that available,

         14  along with some other essential supplies, important

         15  papers, money, things like that.

         16                 So, having, you know, an extra seven

         17  to ten days of medication on hand is never a bad

         18  idea.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Except that it

         20  becomes a very major problem when people are on a

         21  regulated or HMO plan, that they do not have the

         22  money, particularly senior citizens to buy extra

         23  drugs, and they will not issue the extra drugs.

         24                 MR. HAUER: No, they won't.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So, effectively,
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          2  unless a person is lucky enough to be able to renew

          3  it on or about December 30th, they could be out of

          4  luck.

          5                 MR. HAUER: Yes, but in a sense that

          6  also provides a stop gap to ensure there is no

          7  hoarding, because if you look at it from the other

          8  perspective, there will be a normal flow of drugs

          9  through the system as a result of that. I don't

         10  agree with that mechanism but that is not my

         11  decision, that is something the HMOs --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Yes, but that is

         13  if everything is okay. People are being told to do

         14  some amount of stockpiling in case there is a

         15  problem.

         16                 MR. HAUER: Yes, one of the things

         17  that we do in the event that we have to do

         18  evacuations or we have a problem, we work with the

         19  Red Cross and do get medications to people. We do

         20  that now when we have to evacuate buildings, or we

         21  did that in Springfield Gardens when we had the

         22  flooding there and we had to move people out of

         23  their homes.

         24                 We can do that, and I clearly do not

         25  think at this point that the medication issue is
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          2  going to be a problem.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Jerry, you guys

          4  do a wonderful job, there is no question. You are

          5  the premiere emergency reacting force probably in

          6  the country, maybe even in the world, you have done

          7  an outstanding job and we are all very proud of you.

          8                 MR. HAUER: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: But we are

         10  talking now about a massive Citywide problem, and I

         11  suggest that Mr. McCaffrey's inquiry together with

         12  the fact that insurance --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: But, Mr.

         14  Chairman, it is not even a City problem. Because

         15  with the pharmaceutical companies within the

         16  country, this is an example that is now going to be

         17  replicated in hundreds of thousands of cases, and

         18  there is not going to be a doctor that is going to

         19  say I am going to write your prescription Mrs.

         20  Jones, for a seven-day supply, I am going to write

         21  you for a 30-day supply of medication. And this is

         22  one of those areas in which we are very much

         23  concerned that we are erring too much on the side of

         24  caution here in this general regard in terms of the

         25  medication. And again we will hear from Dr. Marcos,
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          2  but you are going to have those individuals who are

          3  not necessarily currently in a situation where they

          4  are either in a circumstance of having to turn right

          5  down to HHC for medication, and that private sector

          6  demand is out there. I mean, in preparation for this

          7  hearing, I have asked three different pharmacists

          8  and two doctors what are you advising people to do?

          9  And they are advising a month's additional

         10  prescription.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thirty days. And

         12  the Red Cross says make sure everybody has an ample

         13  supply.

         14                 MR. HAUER: Yes, the Red Cross usually

         15  recommends seven to ten days as well, as we do

         16  planning, because we work with them closely.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: But that

         18  public message isn't out there of seven to ten days.

         19  That is what our real --

         20                 MR. HAUER: Let me say this, I will

         21  talk with Dr. Marcos again and look at this. We have

         22  had a number of discussions with the pharmaceutical

         23  companies about this. I will talk with Luis again

         24  and we will revisit this issue.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: What about
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          2  in terms of the private sector in terms of talking

          3  to the various drugstore chains in the City of New

          4  York?

          5                 MR. HAUER: That is easy to do.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Is that

          7  done at all?

          8                 MR. HAUER: We deal with them on a

          9  regular basis for other types of issues and that is

         10  something that we certainly can address.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: What about

         12  the rest of the telecommunication community in terms

         13  of cell phones, for example, et cetera?

         14                 MR. HAUER: We have met with them all.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Right. And

         16  they are all saying --

         17                 MR. HAUER: And in fact, I can tell

         18  you we have got some back-up systems in place so

         19  that should one of the systems fail, we have back-up

         20  capability on others for cell phones.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: What is

         22  your biggest worry?

         23                 MR. HAUER: My biggest concern is that

         24  we will -- it is two-fold, one is a public relations

         25  issue, that we wind up losing power somewhere in
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          2  Fiji or in Auckland, Auckland is the first city,

          3  somewhere in that arena, and that it becomes a

          4  public relations nightmare.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: All of

          6  those hours cascading --

          7                 MR. HAUER: Right, and we wind up with

          8  the media generating it into something that it is

          9  not.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: They would create

         11  a panic.

         12                 MR. HAUER: That's right.

         13                 I was just in Sydney working with the

         14  folks on the Olympics, and one of the things that I

         15  did while I was there was set up a system so that we

         16  will have a hot line to their emergency operation

         17  center in Sydney that night, so that as news from

         18  Sydney or New Zealand comes in, we will have instant

         19  reports.

         20                 We are doing the same with the

         21  Mid-East, we are doing the same with Japan. We are

         22  going to have contacts in a number of key cities so

         23  that as information flows, we will have accurate

         24  information, should something go wrong in a region.

         25                 I am also establishing contacts with
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          2  the State Department and we are establishing some

          3  contacts with the Department of Defense.

          4                 So we have the best information

          5  available about what goes on because that is my

          6  greatest concern, is that we wind up with something

          7  going on.

          8                 The second concern is that we wind up

          9  with a building somewhere in the City that winds up

         10  shutting everything down and that at 20 after 12,

         11  turns everything on at once, blows their breakers

         12  and then we wind up with the City is going dark, and

         13  it is not. I don't think the City is going to go

         14  dark. I think we are going to have power, we are

         15  going to have phone service. I think we could have

         16  some isolated localized problems.

         17                 But this issue came up as to whether

         18  or not the Transit service -- the question was

         19  whether or not subway will continue to run and Joe

         20  Hoffman, the vice president of the Transit, said

         21  absolutely. The last thing we want to do is at 12:20

         22  turn all the subways back on and we wind up

         23  overloading the system and dropping it.

         24                 So, subway service is going to be

         25  normal, we don't expect any problems with subway
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          2  service. We want to keep things as normal and

          3  operational as possible throughout that period.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: The second

          5  option is much more attainable, much more

          6  reasonable. The first option is very, very

          7  difficult, because you know that the media is going

          8  to have every reporter there, watching through each

          9  time zone what is happening --

         10                 MR. HAUER: Absolutely.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY:  And we

         12  will have some CNN reporter who is now cutoff mid

         13  word some place and now you are going to end up

         14  having a sense of panic out there.

         15                 MR. HAUER: You are absolutely right.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: My question

         17  is, what affirmative steps are taken to attempt to

         18  assure New Yorkers during this process. Now,

         19  granted, it does come to the media to be

         20  responsible, and cautionary in terms of this, but

         21  again, that is something I think we ought to have

         22  some additional conversations with the media to see

         23  that that is put in any proper context.

         24                 MR. HAUER: Well, there will be.

         25                 First of all, the key to that is
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          2  going to be good information flow. So, when

          3  something happens in some other city, before it

          4  winds up here, having accurate information.

          5                 If we have accurate information, we

          6  are going to have our press room open for that whole

          7  period and the media will be in there. We can go

          8  instantaneously, we can go live to the media and

          9  give them briefings on an ongoing basis, to let them

         10  know what we are hearing and get facts out.

         11                 The quicker we can respond to one of

         12  these, the quicker I think we can stem that kind of

         13  anxiety that it will create here.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Thank you

         15  very much, gentlemen.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, Mr.

         17  McCaffrey.

         18                 Mr. Stabile.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: I want to say

         20  what is on my mind.

         21                 First of all, I don't believe -- we

         22  are putting a lot of hype into this thing and I

         23  believe that the media is going to do a terrible job

         24  on it because they are going to scare the hell out

         25  of people and they are going to make people think
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          2  this whole

          3  City is going to be turned off at 12:01.

          4                 One of my other concerns, and I have

          5  tremendous faith in you personally, and I know the

          6  job you do and I know what you are doing, and I am

          7  not trying to blow smoke to you, I am just telling

          8  you that some of the disasters we have gone through

          9  in this City have come out very well.

         10                 My major two concerns is screw-ups in

         11  HIP and medical programs where their computers,

         12  their individual computers go out, City workers

         13  having problems withe their medical plans, getting

         14  this straightened out. This is one of the concerns.

         15                 When I look at something like

         16  Sanitation, which in my wildest mind cannot believe

         17  that the changing of the calendar is going to change

         18  the amount of garbage picked up, these men and women

         19  know their routes by heart, they dream of it when

         20  they are sleeping. So, you know where you are going,

         21  you know what block you have to do, you know, and

         22  the garbage is going to be picked up.

         23                 MR. HAUER:  Absolutely.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: I think the

         25  biggest thing that frightens me is more the emphasis
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          2  we are putting on it. Councilman Spigner whispered

          3  something to me a little while ago, and his

          4  community and my community, are we getting any hype,

          5  are we hearing anything about it? Are we getting

          6  absolutely zilch.

          7                 The biggest two things that are

          8  coming out are medical benefits, medical plans,

          9  prescription plans, on that note, I do not believe

         10  in my wildest imagination that KEY Span or Con Ed or

         11  Port Authority is going to be shut down.

         12                 MR. HAUER: No, I agree.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: And I think

         14  the more emphasis we put out here for the public,

         15  that this City will function.

         16                 Now, on a very parochial, there isn't

         17  a city in this world, and I don't mean to offend

         18  anybody that can come anywhere near us, in handling

         19  disasters, in handling problems, we are the

         20  teachers. Not only in education, but a lot of other

         21  ways.

         22                 What I would like to know, what can

         23  we get out to the public to calm -- you see, when

         24  you show a chart of 25 missions, to the average

         25  person who gets on the subway in the morning, goes
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          2  to work, does his job, comes home waters his tomato

          3  plants, watches TV, goes to bed at 11:00, he is not

          4  going to be bothered looking at this; what can we do

          5  as spots on TV, on things in the media, on the

          6  radio, getting the message across to people that we

          7  are not heading for a disaster in the Year 2000 and

          8  that at 2000, at 12:01 a.m. this City is going to be

          9  turned off.

         10                 MR. HAUER: That is a very good point,

         11  and that is one of the things we have been trying to

         12  balance.

         13                 One of the things that we have to

         14  balance is not creating a panic by getting things

         15  out that are just inflammatory in nature. So, we

         16  have done brochures, we are starting the hot line in

         17  about a week, we actually just filmed a bunch of

         18  PSAs. The Fire Commissioner, the Police

         19  Commissioner, myself and the Mayor filmed public

         20  service ads that we are going to start airing this

         21  fall, to reassure people, to let them know we have

         22  taken this seriously. We don't anticipate problems

         23  and that the City is going to keep functioning. They

         24  are going to be able to go to work Saturday, they

         25  are going to be able to go to work Sunday, the
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          2  subway is going to work, everything is going to be

          3  okay.

          4                 We have got to take seriously this

          5  issue, but we also have to be responsible in the way

          6  we communicate it so we don't make it worse instead

          7  of making it better, and we are doing that and that

          8  is one of the reasons we didn't roll out our public

          9  affairs strategy back in March. We just felt, one,

         10  the public would get tired of hearing it, or they

         11  would think we were really concerned, to the point

         12  where it would create an issue that is not there.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: I mean, this

         14  may sound silly, what I am going to say, but it is

         15  like my mother, rest her soul, or my wife, if my

         16  wife hears there is going to be a snowstorm or we

         17  are going to get hit maybe with Hurricane Dennis,

         18  she is at the supermarket buying stuff that I don't

         19  even know if we could feed 100 people. I mean, she

         20  backs the car up by the garage, unloads everything

         21  in the garage, then she circulates it through the

         22  house. And I say, what are you doing? And in her

         23  mind, and maybe it is because we are brought up

         24  under a different era of time, or even like my

         25  father, who during the depression, World War 2, they
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          2  have this concept in their mind that, wow, I am not

          3  going to be able to buy milk tomorrow or bread

          4  tomorrow.

          5                 Now, as a young man I worked in a

          6  supermarket, I can honestly tell you, every snow

          7  storm we had we had milk delivery and we had bread

          8  delivery. That was the two things we always had

          9  delivery of. So, I mean, there is a fear out there

         10  that is really not justified, because people really

         11  do not realize that this City functions very well on

         12  a normal basis, but during disasters and during

         13  troubled times, we actually function above, with

         14  Police, Fire, Ambulance Service and Sanitation and

         15  DEP, we are out there. And I really applaud you on

         16  getting this message out, but I think we really have

         17  to really start pretty soon. Because as the hype is

         18  building up, with this media, they can turn

         19  something any which way they want. I mean, it is

         20  disgusting. And the media is the fault that will

         21  cause more problems, because if we don't feed them

         22  with a spoon, we don't get the right answers out

         23  there to the public so the public feels safe.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 MR. HAUER: Yes, we are actually going
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          2  to be working with the media to explain a lot of

          3  these issues. I have talked to a number of reporters

          4  and I agree with you, I think we need to continue to

          5  educate the public, we need to do it responsibly.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: And the last

          7  question, Mr. Chairman.

          8                 Are you doing anything, and please

          9  tell me yes, with senior citizens?

         10                 MR. HAUER: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Okay.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I didn't know you

         13  could be made that happy that easily.

         14                 Mr. Michels.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I guess the

         16  first question that has to be asked is, have we

         17  learned anything from Y1K?

         18                 MR. HAUER: Not from personal

         19  experience, I can tell you that. Nothing that I can

         20  really recount in any of the reports.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Michels has

         22  waited 20 minutes to ask that question.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Mr. Berman

         24  doesn't live in Washington Heights, so he doesn't

         25  understand from the realities of what happened up

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            77

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  there. But the fact of the matter is we did ask some

          3  very good questions, many of the questions which I

          4  was going to ask, and you pretty much answered them.

          5                 One of the things that I was troubled

          6  by, and you know that, was the fact that we had to

          7  rely completely on Con Ed for all of their

          8  information, and therefore we were helpless and

          9  until we actually get a mechanism in this City to

         10  actually go into Con Ed and see what they are doing

         11  -- in fact, I have to leave early because I have a

         12  public service commission hearing with Con Ed this

         13  afternoon.

         14                 MR. HAUER: Right.

         15                 I can tell you that Con Ed will be

         16  our emergency operation center throughout that whole

         17  time period and they will have a senior level, a

         18  vice president and EEOC, side by side with us

         19  throughout that time period.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Jerry, did

         21  you in preparing for this, what you have been

         22  working on so long, you and Adam, and done such a

         23  good job in the past, have you developed a worst

         24  case scenario and a model as to what will be

         25  happening even if all of the preparations, the work
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          2  you have done, that there may be a problem, and what

          3  can you do about it?

          4                 MR. HAUER: Actually what we are doing

          5  is we are going to be doing some drills. We are

          6  going to be doing a series of drills where we bring

          7  the agencies into the emergency operation center

          8  during the next three months and we are going to

          9  focus on worst case scenarios, having a hospital go

         10  down, or having a section of the City go down, or

         11  having a critical supplier fail, and we are going to

         12  look to test our contingency plans to make sure we

         13  have got adequate plans.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And having

         15  all of the agencies be involved in it, namely the

         16  Police and the Fire.

         17                 MR. HAUER: Every agency will be

         18  there. We will have every City agency involved in

         19  the drill.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Have you done

         21  computer models on this as to what the possibilities

         22  are of the problems?

         23                 MR. HAUER: Not computer models, but

         24  we have done some work on the various potential

         25  issues and various vulnerabilities and we have got

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            79

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  some --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: In light of

          4  the question of Mr. Stabile and others, as to what

          5  the public -- are we going to involve the public to

          6  participate in these things? They should understand

          7  that we are ready. Because I believe if the public

          8  knows that we have done all that we have done, that

          9  we are even prepared for a worst case scenario and

         10  they could participate and be part of it, I think it

         11  will give the public more confidence.

         12                 MR. HAUER: Well, we are going to do,

         13  first of all, the White House Conference on

         14  September 8th, and we can freely discuss what we are

         15  doing with this, and then we are going to be doing

         16  the borough conferences to do outreach to the public

         17  over the next eight weeks. And, again, as Adam said,

         18  we will get that information to you because

         19  certainly the members of the Committee will be

         20  welcomed to join us in those meetings.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You have so

         22  many voluntary organizations, you have police

         23  auxiliary wonderful organizations --

         24                 MR. HAUER: They are all involved.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: They should
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          2  be heavily involved so they can send the word out

          3  from here that we are doing possibly everything we

          4  can.

          5                 MR. HAUER: Yes. The Salvation Army,

          6  the Red Cross, a whole host of voluntary

          7  organizations are involved in all of our planning

          8  and in our drills.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And I think

         10  even the City Council will cooperate.

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 MR. HAUER: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Michels,

         14  thank you.

         15                 Mr. Spigner.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Thank you

         17  very much, Mr. Chairman. I won't ask a question of

         18  how Southeast Queens escaped the last flood, because

         19  we will see you after the meeting. I am happy that

         20  we did.

         21                 MR. HAUER: We worked on that very

         22  hard.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Okay. In

         24  preparation, keeping the catchbasins clean and all

         25  of the other ancillaries.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            81

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 MR. HAUER: We also kept the storms

          3  out of Northern Manhattan and South Bronx.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: You did what?

          5                 MR. HAUER: We kept the storms out of

          6  Queens that day.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Can you do

          8  that again?

          9                 MR. HAUER: We will try.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: I am

         11  reassured by what my colleagues have asked and the

         12  response. I can only add that, or restate the need

         13  to not precipitate panic.

         14                 MR. HAUER: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: To generate

         16  fair and uncertainty, you have to move expeditiously

         17  but with the responsible caution that will not do

         18  more harm than good.

         19                 I must tell you that as I go through

         20  the district, to various civic meetings and

         21  community meetings, this is not a topic that is high

         22  on the agenda of concerns of community residents,

         23  they are still talking about tree pruning in

         24  Southeast Queens, they are talking about sewers,

         25  very seldom does this come up.
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          2                 I would urge you to continue

          3  distributing information. I am impressed when you

          4  say that no one knows for certain how big the

          5  problem really is or even if it exists, or even if

          6  it exists and it is difficult to get a handle on

          7  what might go wrong. So, be prudent, be on top of it

          8  and I am optimistic that we will rise to this

          9  occasion, to the challenges of this occasion as we

         10  have to others, and successfully so.

         11                 MR. HAUER: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, Mr.

         13  Spigner.

         14                 Mr. Perkins.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you,

         16  Mr. Chairman.

         17                 A few quick concerns.

         18                 I think this is helpful, is this in

         19  other languages?

         20                 MR. HAUER: Yes, that is being printed

         21  as we speak in seven other languages.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. Thank

         23  you.

         24                 MR. HAUER: And we would be happy to

         25  get them to any members of the Council that would
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          2  like them in their offices.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: That is

          4  important. And if the print could be a little

          5  larger, especially for seniors and others, it would

          6  be helpful too.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Why are you

          8  looking at me?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I am looking

         10  at you because you were on target of your concern

         11  for the seniors.

         12                 You mentioned isolated localized

         13  problems are anticipated, and it reminds me what

         14  recently happened with Con Ed and what recently

         15  happened with the rain, and we had isolated, kind of

         16  localized situations, but it sounds like a little

         17  thing, but in fact such isolation can become a big

         18  thing, you know, for those communities or those

         19  individuals affected.

         20                 I was wondering from that

         21  perspective, these so-called isolated localized

         22  problems, are you looking at them in terms of

         23  geographic areas or in terms of certain type of

         24  agencies, or certain types of services? What are

         25  these so-called isolated localized problems?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            84

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 MR. HAUER: I think if we see anything

          3  it will be a building here or a system that involves

          4  one building, not a neighborhood. I don't anticipate

          5  neighborhood-wide problems, as we saw in Washington

          6  Heights, where we had 300,000 people, or 300,000

          7  customers or so without power.

          8                 I think it will be very localized and

          9  that involves somebody turning their building on or

         10  having a glitch in an alarm system in a building

         11  because it was not remediated, or it was never

         12  tested, those of the types of things. I don't expect

         13  Citywide problems at all.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         15                 At some point I guess you will be

         16  better able to pinpoint the kinds of localized

         17  isolated problems or the areas where these so-called

         18  localized isolated problems will occur.

         19                 MR. HAUER: I don't think I will. I

         20  think, if anything, it is going to be dependent --

         21  and one of the things we are doing next week is we

         22  are meeting with the folks from Boehma, and we have

         23  met with most of the organizations already, we are

         24  meeting with them again. We want to try and work

         25  with them to ensure that landlords and owners of
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          2  these big buildings don't do things that are out of

          3  the ordinary. You know, don't shut a building down,

          4  don't shut all the services down, and then if

          5  everyone clicks them all on at 12:20, we wind up

          6  dropping a transformer in an area because two or

          7  three buildings did that.

          8                 I think if we maintain the normal

          9  course of business in our buildings we will avoid

         10  problems.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So you are

         12  meeting with building owners?

         13                 MR. HAUER: Absolutely.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let me ask

         15  you one or two more other quick questions.

         16                 Mr. Hauer -- I am sorry.

         17                 MR. COHEN: Brian Cohen.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: It was

         19  mentioned in the earlier testimony about some cases,

         20  for instance, with regard to ACS, 93 percent of the

         21  system was ready, Y2K ready, what does that mean in

         22  terms of the other seven percent?

         23                 MR. COHEN: Those systems are actually

         24  going through their final phases. They are in either

         25  development or they are in the final testing phases.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you know

          3  what those systems might be, for instance?

          4                 Sometimes it may sound like a small

          5  thing but it may actually impact much greater than

          6  that, so I am just kind of wondering what would that

          7  be, for instance?

          8                 MR. COHEN: Off the top of my head I

          9  don't know the exact systems, but I can share them

         10  with you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. Yes,

         12  when you get a chance --

         13                 MR. COHEN: You should know that a

         14  majority of their systems are systems that are run

         15  and managed by HRA, they are main frame based

         16  systems, those systems have gone through

         17  remediation, they have gone through testing and they

         18  are back in the production.

         19                 Some of the systems that are

         20  remaining, which I believe that seven percent, are

         21  smaller systems that ACS has developed. They are not

         22  related specifically, and I have to doublecheck

         23  this, they are not related specifically to their

         24  mission of child care and child safety, they are

         25  management systems, in terms of that they use on a
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          2  day-to-day basis for their own internal operations.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes, that is

          4  important.

          5                 Finally, I am glad to hear that

          6  borough conferences are being planned and

          7  implemented, and I would suggest that if somehow or

          8  another we could bring it down to the Councilmanic

          9  levels, it would be helpful as well.

         10                 I think that sort of the neighborhood

         11  kind of feel for this is very important in terms of

         12  that kind of confidence that we are trying to give

         13  folks about what is going to be happening, and at

         14  the same time allow them to share with you, you

         15  know, some of the concerns that they may have.

         16                 So, if you can move in that direction

         17  I am sure that a lot of us would appreciate it.

         18                 MR. HAUER: Okay, Adam and I can talk

         19  about that. Adam is taking the lead on setting up

         20  those meetings and we certainly can address that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

         22                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Perkins.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Mr.
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          2  Chairman, can I just say, if we have questions we

          3  should talk to you about putting these meetings

          4  together?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Miller

          8  indicated he has a question that will last no more

          9  than a few seconds.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Director

         11  Hauer, I wonder if you could -- maybe I missed it,

         12  but I want to know if anyone can address the

         13  September 9th problem and whether this is something

         14  that the City is concerned about and has considered?

         15                 MR. HAUER: Sure.

         16                 Brian, do you want to --

         17                 MR. COHEN: September 9th here in the

         18  City will actually not be a major --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Excuse me. For

         20  those who are unaware what September 9th is,

         21  numerically that is 9999.

         22                 MR. COHEN: Right.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Right. It is

         24  99999 anywhere in the world.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Miller, that
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          2  is once.

          3                 MR. COHEN: We, as part of our testing

          4  criteria from the onset of the Year 2000 Project,

          5  every single City system must be tested for 9999.

          6  That is a standard test date like it is for 12/31.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: And did any

          8  problems occur?

          9                 MR. COHEN: We have not experienced

         10  any problems. We have not had any problems reported

         11  back to us for any of the systems. Traditionally

         12  9999 is used as an error code for end of run and

         13  cobalt, and the systems that we have -- it is

         14  actually end of run or it is an error code, we have

         15  not experienced problems with that particular

         16  testing date, and if the agencies have experienced

         17  problems they were immediately corrected, but I have

         18  not had any of them reported to me.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Nelson. Also

         21  a 30-second question.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Yes. Lots of

         23  my constituents are, of course, very concerned, some

         24  are frightened, of course. It sounds like you have

         25  basically worked your big hearts hopefully out with
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          2  this, and it is very important, obviously, that we

          3  have real assurance and we have real confidence.

          4  Because if you do well, of course we will all

          5  celebrate your appointments. If not, a chorus of

          6  angels singing your praises aren't going to get you

          7  or any of us out of this.

          8                 There are some distressing thoughts

          9  and questions, although Council Member Perkins, you

         10  asked the question how do you answer one of them

         11  like the seven percent, that little slice of the pie

         12  that is not fully cooked, you weren't sure of which

         13  particular components they were, but I am sure you

         14  could find that out easily, and hopefully the

         15  process is being accelerated.

         16                 Okay, I think that's it, Mr. Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you.

         18                 Mr. Leffler.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Yes, good

         20  morning.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: The final

         22  question, Mr. Leffler.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I understand

         24  there have been audits from time to time by the City

         25  Comptroller's Office and other reviewers of Y2K

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            91

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  compliance, and sometimes they have found that the

          3  City was not Y2K compliant at the time. Have all of

          4  the problems that those audits have found been

          5  remediated, or are they on track to remediation?

          6                 MR. BARSKY: I believe we have

          7  addressed all of their concerns and issues, and the

          8  only thing that happens is sometimes there is a

          9  timing problem, because it takes time to do an

         10  audit, an audit will come out and it will be

         11  reflective of a period that may have been six months

         12  earlier, so people will say well according to the

         13  audit, you know, a certain system may not have been

         14  completed, but by the time the audit has been

         15  released we have already fixed the problem. So that

         16  sometimes has led to some confusion, in most cases

         17  we have worked very closely with the Comptroller's

         18  Office, as I said before, in properly addressing

         19  those issues when the questions have come up in the

         20  public. So, we find them helpful, we find them

         21  informative, and we have basically addressed all of

         22  their issues and concerns.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Spigner, you

         25  have a very, very brief question.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Mr. Hauer.

          3                 MR. HAUER: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Commissioner

          5  Hauer, is there any indication that a Y2K industry,

          6  compliant industries are growing out there of

          7  consultants or experts?

          8                 MR. HAUER: Oh, sure.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Indicating

         10  that they have the answer and come to me.

         11                 MR. HAUER: Absolutely.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Are there

         13  problems?

         14                 MR. HAUER: Well, there is a whole

         15  group of consultants working on computers.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Those that

         17  are legitimate?

         18                 MR. HAUER: Yes, and there are some

         19  snake oil salesmen out there as well, I can assure

         20  you of that. I just got an ad for a radio that is

         21  $49, it is a Y2K radio. And what this person did was

         22  took some plastic, put it around about a $3 radio

         23  and made it Y2K compliant and put a flashlight in it

         24  and is selling it for $49. People are going to take

         25  advantage of this situation, I can assure you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Is that

          3  something else that we should be alerting our

          4  constituents to?

          5                 MR. HAUER: Yes. The bottom line is

          6  anybody that is trying to sell you something like

          7  that is probably a snake oil salesman.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Thank you,

          9  Mr. Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Gentlemen, thank

         11  you very much. I appreciate your contribution to

         12  this hearing.

         13                 MR. HAUER: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: The Comptroller

         15  of the City of New York Alan Hevesi.

         16                 Good morning, Mr. Comptroller.

         17                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Good morning, Mr.

         18  Chairman. How are you?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Comptroller,

         20  I am aware of the fact that your office has been

         21  very involved in auditing Y2K compliance of City

         22  agencies and we would really be delighted if you

         23  would share with us the findings that you found.

         24                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: I have a

         25  statement, I will cut a piece or it, but
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          2  preliminary, I see Mr. Perkins packing up, can I

          3  make an observation and congratulate you on the

          4  courage you showed on another issue, a march in

          5  Harlem, you and your colleagues, that was quite

          6  courageous and extraordinary and the record should

          7  reflect that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

          9  very much, I appreciate that.

         10                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: I thank you,

         11  Chairman Berman, and members of the Finance

         12  Committee, for allowing me to testify on the Year

         13  2000 compliance efforts.

         14                 A continuing challenge faces City

         15  government as they prepare their computer systems to

         16  process dates beyond December 31, 1999, and ensure

         17  that critical systems will continue to operate in

         18  the new millennium.

         19                 Today I will outline the efforts my

         20  office has taken to achieve Year 2000 goals in five

         21  key areas. These include efforts regarding our

         22  internal systems, initiatives related to the asset

         23  management and debt management financial systems

         24  that we work with, the implementation of the City's

         25  new Financial Management System, the FMS system,
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          2  audits of Year 2000 status of City agencies and

          3  related organizations, and emergency contract

          4  requests.

          5                 Should I submit this testimony and

          6  just make some observations, would that be easier on

          7  the Committee?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: That would be

          9  fine.

         10                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Okay. I

         11  appreciate Mr. Spigner's great enthusiasm for that

         12  recommendation.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Spigner

         14  doesn't feel compelled to inhibit his sentiments.

         15                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: No, he has

         16  committed to reading the testimony over and over and

         17  over again. He has read it before, okay.

         18                 In two arenas, first let me suggest

         19  with respect to the audits and the question that was

         20  raised by Mr. Leffler. In 1986, I had a meeting with

         21  the Mayor once my staff, very, very expert and

         22  professional staff, described for me the Y2K problem

         23  it was stunning and I was really dumbfounded that

         24  this was an issue. And once I absorbed that I went

         25  to the Mayor and we volunteered to do two things,
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          2  one is create a new financial management system. We

          3  had recommended to the Mayor that for the system

          4  that we had, that involves vendor payments of $7

          5  billion a year, hundreds of thousands of

          6  transactions, and also for our payroll systems and

          7  so on, that we could patch them, particularly the

          8  vendor system, what is now called FMS, the old

          9  system was IFMS, that we could patch it for $7

         10  million or $8 million, but the system was 20 years

         11  old and that was not a smart way to go, let's

         12  replace it. We have replaced the FMS system. And for

         13  your comfort, while Y2K does date from New Year's

         14  Eve, January 1st of the Year 2000, effectively for

         15  our financial management system, Y2K has already

         16  occurred. It occurred at the beginning at the Fiscal

         17  Year, July 1st, because for our computers July 1st

         18  is the beginning of Fiscal Year 2000.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Because January

         20  1st, the millennium, falls within a fiscal year, you

         21  had to be fiscally compliant?

         22                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: That's correct.

         23                 Now, since most of you don't know

         24  that that has happened, that is a good sign. Because

         25  effectively, while there were some glitches in
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          2  putting in this extraordinarily complex system, it

          3  is now in place, and just in the area of vendor

          4  payments, we have issued since July 1st 100,000

          5  checks in the amount of over $5 billion to pay

          6  vendors. We were prepared, by the way, for any

          7  emergency. My staff was ordered to take no vacations

          8  during that time period, a week before and two weeks

          9  after July 1st. We have the same instruction for New

         10  Year's Eve, Christmas week and the first couple of

         11  weeks in January in anticipation of any problems,

         12  and there were some problems, there were some vendor

         13  checks that were delayed to Social Services

         14  organizations, but no more than anyone could

         15  humanely have anticipated with the complex position,

         16  and I have to tell you, we worked cooperatively with

         17  the Mayor, and the Mayor had to authorize the

         18  expenditures of substantial amounts of money and so

         19  did the City Council to put this system in place,

         20  and if that is a sign of how the rest of the problem

         21  will be resolved, we are in good shape, because I

         22  join Jerry Hauer in suggesting that no City has done

         23  what we have done, dealt with this enormous problem

         24  with the complexity that we have to prepare for any

         25  eventuality.
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          2                 Does that mean there will be no

          3  problems? No. Something will happen some place.

          4  Someone suggested that the remedy for that to avoid

          5  panic is to pull the plug on the computer systems

          6  that plug in everybody's television and radio, so

          7  they will never know if there is a problem and

          8  therefore there will be no panic. I am not

          9  recommending that, but someone did. It was probably

         10  someone from the upper west side who was talking

         11  about Y1K a little while ago. Of course Mr. Michels

         12  has that kind of expertise, because he was there at

         13  the time.

         14                 The second arena is the audits. We

         15  suggested to the Mayor that we be the Mayor's agent

         16  in auditing all City agencies, and so we have now

         17  completed, I don't have the number in front of me,

         18  it is now down to, how many, 52 -- 49 audits of City

         19  agencies for Y2K compliance, and we rated them on

         20  the basis of whether they were very good, good,

         21  fair, poor or doubtful. The majority, about

         22  three-quarters or either very good, good or fair. A

         23  quarter were poor and doubtful, and we have

         24  submitted to you the entire list and the audit

         25  report or the audit summaries. We are now doing the
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          2  follow-ups because whoever was fair or poor or

          3  doubtful should not be when we get close to the Year

          4  2000.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: That would be an

          6  expectation that we can reasonably assume will

          7  occur. When do you expect to have your follow-up

          8  audits completed?

          9                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Some are underway

         10  now. We have done Correction, we have done the

         11  Housing Authority, we are doing the police, they are

         12  all in process, and we will do public administrators

         13  and we have a series of audits that we are planning

         14  between now and the next two months that should be

         15  done on facilities and equipment, looking at the

         16  equipment itself.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Did your audits

         18  include --

         19                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: The original

         20  audits looked at Y2K compliance and/or the

         21  contingency plans in case there is a problem, and

         22  working with the Mayor's Office, the Mayor's Office

         23  joins in following up to make sure that those

         24  agencies are anticipating everything that can be

         25  humanely anticipated.
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          2                 Now, the real problem is, and, again,

          3  I think Mr. Hauer referred to it and Adam Barsky did

          4  too, some things are out of our control. So, for

          5  example, we are the center of the global economy. We

          6  are plugged into systems all over the world. We

          7  can't control what they are doing, we can only be

          8  alert to what they are doing.

          9                 So, we have systems where we take

         10  information and we put them in our own banks, so

         11  that we have them so that if there is some kind of

         12  problem there won't be a problem for our own clients

         13  and constituents.

         14                 And as the earlier testimony triggers

         15  the response, Steve Newman, First Deputy

         16  Comptroller, whispered in my ear about this business

         17  of finding out a day in advance what is happening in

         18  Fiji and in Australia to give us 20 hours or 15

         19  hours notice, we have an idea that we will now

         20  implement, which is every Wall Street firm has major

         21  presence all over the world because of their own

         22  problems, and they are sending their most expert

         23  communications people to Fiji and to Australia. We

         24  will connect with them so they can be a source of

         25  information in case some problems do occur.
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          2                 So, I think as this testimony and

          3  this report and as these audits indicate, that the

          4  efforts of the Mayor's office, everything humanely

          5  possible has been done in a way, and driven by the

          6  way by the Council in your own reports, in a way to

          7  raise consciousness, to implement, to find the

          8  consultants Mr. Spigner was talking about, the

          9  cottage industry, thank God there is a cottage

         10  industry of experts, in order to anticipate every

         11  problem that we can. But again I will put on the

         12  record that something is going to happen, there is

         13  going to be some glitch, hopefully it will be

         14  localized, hopefully it will take two days.

         15                 We are, for example, printing checks

         16  so that there will be a duplicate check for every

         17  pensioner for City employees that can be mailed,

         18  handled manually and mailed by hand for two months

         19  in case there is some problem with our system. I

         20  don't think there will be because the system is

         21  already operative and in place.

         22                 So let me just generalize and say the

         23  effort has been made, very quietly but very expertly

         24  and in great detail for a long time, but as you

         25  point out with your expertise, something is going to
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          2  occur that we ought to be alert to. And that much

          3  dramatically shorter presentation than if I had read

          4  my statement.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Comptroller,

          6  in your list of audits you indicated that the Fire

          7  Department was doubtful.

          8                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Yes, again the

          9  time lag. We believe that the remediation is

         10  occurring, we have confidence that they will not be

         11  doubtful at the end of the process, that they are

         12  making serious efforts to upgrade their system.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: You have the same

         14  sense toward the Department of Corrections?

         15                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Yes. In fact, we

         16  completed a follow-up and Correction has moved to

         17  the category of good.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: That's

         19  encouraging.

         20                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: We went first

         21  with Corrections.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Now, in the

         23  course of testimony that has been elicited this

         24  morning, we have raised some questions about vendors

         25  that deal with the City who we have no control over,
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          2  who may not become Y2K compliant, and therefore

          3  could be problems for the City. The same thing with

          4  certain foreign governments and other states and

          5  other cities that might supply products to the City.

          6                 Has your audit contemplated these

          7  problems?

          8                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: The audits

          9  contemplate and require a response to the general

         10  problem, which is to have each agency define what is

         11  critical, and out of their control and to develop a

         12  contingency plan so that the product of the vendor,

         13  which may save somebody's life in a priority order

         14  will be compensated for.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So if they have a

         16  good rating, then you have made the assumption that

         17  they have basically complied and that they have this

         18  sufficient back-up plan or they have a back-up plan

         19  --

         20                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Two things. One

         21  that their computer system now is compliant, and

         22  two, that even if it is compliant and something

         23  happens, there is a contingency plan to deal with

         24  whatever the emergency could be. And every agency

         25  will have such a plan before this is done, I trust.
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          2  Every major agency. There may be one or two small

          3  agencies that we don't deal with anybody's life or

          4  convenience, but systematically we have gone through

          5  every major agency.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: My back-up plan

          7  is Mr. McCaffrey, so I will turn to him now.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Let me just

          9  ask a couple of questions, and offer some

         10  suggestions.

         11                 Mr. Comptroller, it is very good to

         12  hear that you have taken these measures in terms of

         13  checks, et cetera. Is there going to be some

         14  notification in advance, for example, to our

         15  pensioneers that we have taken those steps?

         16                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: The answer is yes

         17  and it has already happened. When we send out checks

         18  we send out an information card, it is called

         19  Checkmate, which I think is very clever, this is as

         20  dramatic as the Comptroller's Office gets, by the

         21  way. And we have already sent out notifications

         22  about Y2K and compliance and so on.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Our City

         24  employees, many of whom have opted out to go into a

         25  system which allows them to have their check
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          2  deposited automatically, what is it that you

          3  perceive as being an issue of concern in terms of

          4  the ability of the various cash networks in our

          5  banking system, which is again a worldwide system

          6  and filled with interrelationships that is going to

          7  allow them to continue to have a sense of confidence

          8  that they can continue that process rather than

          9  going back to direct check issuing?

         10                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Well, number one,

         11  we are going to have checks manually prepared

         12  already in secure storage, available for every

         13  pensioner for a two-month period out. So, in the

         14  case that there is a problem, the checks will go

         15  out.

         16                 Secondly, we have a threshold at

         17  which we will shut down the whole computer system,

         18  if some of the checks, the EFTs don't arrive and

         19  some do, and I think it is some number, 5,000, one

         20  of my experts will tell me, we can shut down that

         21  whole system and send out the checks by mail.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: But for

         23  City employees now, separate and --

         24                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: And for the

         25  payrolls, as well, yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: The

          3  payrolls as well, okay.

          4                 One of the other concerns that you

          5  have as a particular sense of responsibility is the

          6  overseeing of the City's investment portfolio. Tell

          7  us what you see the impact being in terms of Y2K on

          8  stocks that the City has in its portfolio?

          9                 What has been the review of those

         10  that may be particularly sensitive and vulnerable to

         11  other international implications in which in other

         12  parts of the world which are not going to be as

         13  compliant as we are going to be here in the City of

         14  New York, will end up having an impact on the price

         15  of their stock.

         16                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Well, first on

         17  the technical side let me respond by saying, we are

         18  in touch in the same way as we have with agencies,

         19  we have pursued all of our asset managers, all the

         20  firms we deal with, Chase Bank, all of the banks, to

         21  get the assurances that they are compliant and they

         22  wish to be.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Understood.

         24                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Secondly, I don't

         25  know that we have made a study as to which stocks
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          2  will be negatively impacted by a potential Y2K

          3  breakdown. What I can tell you about the five

          4  pension funds is, as the third largest in the

          5  country with $92 billion in assets, and a culture of

          6  caution, risk averse investment strategies, that

          7  there may be an occasional loss of value that we

          8  haven't identified, and somebody correct me, I don't

          9  believe we have identified. But the system is so

         10  vast that that will not impact in any minimalist way

         11  on the total value of the portfolio.

         12                 That is what gives us the leverage to

         13  be involved in international finance, in corporate

         14  governance issues and in a variety of issues, that

         15  leverage that we have equity in every country in the

         16  world.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: My

         18  colleague suggests, Mr. Leffler, that I may be

         19  looking for stock tips, if I had stock.

         20                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Please be assured

         21  that I am not hiding this information from you. We

         22  have not identified discreetly what stocks may be at

         23  risk.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: The concern

         25  that I have is obviously that we know that there are
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          2  a number of European countries that are not going to

          3  be compliant, that is going to have a major impact.

          4  We know what the international implication is at

          5  many of our corporations. We certainly are safe in

          6  saying that certain segments of both Asia, Latin

          7  America and Central America are not going to be

          8  compliant. We end up seeing what the potential

          9  impact is in the dip in the hangsang (phonetic) or

         10  in the nikae (phonetic) as to our own stock activity

         11  here, and the question really does become how is it

         12  that we examine what that is going to be on our

         13  overall portfolios, and let me just suggest that it

         14  may be the type of thing that everybody has to go

         15  back and to really come up with a much closer

         16  examination.

         17                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: I think it is a

         18  very interesting problem, an issue that we now at

         19  your recommendation will pursue to see if there is a

         20  way to predict which of our investments is

         21  vulnerable and which may not be. We will probably

         22  have to do a rating system as the technological

         23  sophistication of -- I am getting more information

         24  by hand -- of the sophistication of a particular

         25  governance or a corporation and its headquarters,
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          2  and what we will do is recommend to the people who

          3  privately pick the stocks for us, we don't select

          4  the stocks ourselves --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Understood.

          6                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: -- Who are asset

          7  managers, to see if there is some way to make that

          8  calculation and to minimize any damage that may

          9  occur. It is a very good idea.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: I

         11  appreciate the point that my colleagues have raised

         12  and I raise it also in terms of the confidence

         13  locally for our own City employees and our

         14  pensioneers, but I think that obviously because we

         15  are such a financial center, and you pointed out in

         16  your various audits, that with what our financial

         17  services sector has done by way of the City's

         18  economy and growth, could obviously be very

         19  substantially damaged by impacts having nothing to

         20  do with us within New York City and less in the

         21  United States, but because of the global

         22  implications in terms of the economy it could be

         23  potentially a great source of concern, potentially

         24  no problem, potentially devastation.

         25                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: I think your
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          2  suggestion is very well taken, and we will pursue it

          3  for your comfort. We are restricted in the number of

          4  overseas investments that we are allowed to make.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Our own

          6  American companies, for example, are obviously with

          7  implications around the world.

          8                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: No, it is a

          9  complex problem, it is a serious problem and we will

         10  pursue it. I think it is an excellent idea.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Thank you.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council

         13  Member Pinkett.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Thank you.

         15                 Well, I have just learned one thing,

         16  this seems to be more of an American dream than a

         17  worldwide issue. So, it seems to me, is it us

         18  against the world, or just our phenomenon?

         19                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: I think our

         20  society is more computer-reliant than most other

         21  societies, and on some levels that gives enormous

         22  advantages in the economic global competition on

         23  other levels and we ought to be very concerned. The

         24  Russian nuclear forces operates on the basis of what

         25  I hope are no longer ancient computer systems. It is
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          2  very dangerous.

          3                 So, this problem has potential danger

          4  that we may not have even calculated in the larger

          5  sense. As a City I think we have given due diligence

          6  to what has to be done over now four years of

          7  complex investigation, review and amelioration, but

          8  that doesn't mean there aren't going to be problems

          9  even locally.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: We are not

         11  suggesting that if we fail at this and Russia and a

         12  nuclear weaponry would come to the fore and take

         13  over, are we?

         14                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: I don't know,

         15  maybe some of our pensioners go to Russia and they

         16  get very upset.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Maybe they

         18  will stay home and go to Florida.

         19                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: I was making a

         20  broad generalization about the problems, there is no

         21  correlation --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: It would seem

         23  to me, however, just listening to what you have

         24  said, you spoke of the fact that this has happened

         25  before and that the Comptroller's Office, thanks to
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          2  the kind of workers you have to the leadership that

          3  you have provided, seems to be well in charge and

          4  that we really are moving expeditiously in order to

          5  make sure that the City of New York has planned well

          6  for Y2K; is that correct?

          7                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: That is correct.

          8  As to computer systems, what we call the Financial

          9  Management System, FMS, that we have just

         10  implemented, it is not for other agencies but our

         11  own shop anticipated some of this problem and I

         12  think we are in good shape.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Now, I was

         14  concerned about two things you said.

         15                 One was, you said that staff, your

         16  staff was told that if you were on medication you

         17  couldn't take medicine because the medication,

         18  because of the fact that everyone had to be clear,

         19  and had to be able to function, let's say especially

         20  New Year's Eve, New Year's Eve 2000 is going to be

         21  New Year's Eve forever and ever and I don't know how

         22  you are going to enforce that.

         23                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Let me interrupt

         24  you. I made no reference to anybody's medication.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: I thought you
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          2  said --

          3                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: No, vacation.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Oh, vacation.

          5  Well, vacation I can understand, but I thought you

          6  said medication.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: You are

          8  committing to your staff being vacation-free then.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Oh,

         10  vacation-free, not medication.

         11                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: My staff will be

         12  vacation-free for a limited period of time.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Okay.

         14                 Then the second thing I thought I

         15  heard, the second thing I thought I heard you say --

         16                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: By the way, a lot

         17  of people were startled in this room and very

         18  frightened by your assertion.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Yes, well,

         20  okay, they may be startled, but I am startled more

         21  by the Russians and the business of the reference to

         22  the possible danger that might come if this Y2K

         23  falls apart, because I wouldn't want to think there

         24  is a Russian waiting for Y2K to succeed or fail.

         25                 The other thing that concerned me was
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          2  your mention of the fact of the social service

          3  aspect, and the preparation there.

          4                 I didn't understand that but perhaps

          5  you could broaden that for me.

          6                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Yes. I was

          7  providing some balance about the performance of this

          8  FMS system by suggesting that it is in place, our

          9  Y2K, first chapter of Y2K has already occurred, and

         10  we have survived it very nicely. We sent over

         11  100,000 checks of over $5 billion in worth, but

         12  there were glitches.

         13                 So, for example, some foster care

         14  agencies got delayed -- there were delayed checks to

         15  foster care agencies for two reasons: Reason number

         16  one was, glitches in the computers that caused a few

         17  days' delay.

         18                 Glitch number two wasn't a glitch, it

         19  was for some of the foster care agencies we do our

         20  due diligence to approve extenders of contracts and

         21  we hadn't received the documentation from the

         22  relevant agencies and we weren't going to approve

         23  the contracts until we got that documentation, that

         24  has now been worked out.

         25                 So, no foster care agency that might
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          2  have come to a member of the Council the first week

          3  in July and said we are not getting our check is

          4  still waiting for their check, they all have them.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Okay. Would

          6  that also apply to other agencies as well? Let's say

          7  in terms of employment for the agencies, the

          8  community development programs?

          9                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: They were very

         10  scattered. There were some glitches because we are

         11  putting in a massive new computer system, new

         12  software and so on, scattered but resolved as of

         13  this point.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: And would

         15  that include payment for staff as well?

         16                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: No, nobody failed

         17  to get a check.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: No one failed

         19  to get a check. So, if there were people who did not

         20  get a check, we could not attribute this to the

         21  changes in terms of Y2K?

         22                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: You could have,

         23  and if there is somebody out there, call us and we

         24  will take care of it.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Okay. But
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          2  other than that, the glitches were other kinds of

          3  things?

          4                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: That's correct.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: But you feel

          6  that Y2K is going to work well because the City is

          7  prepared?

          8                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Yes. I know this

          9  is on the record, so when the whole thing explodes

         10  in the middle of January --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: We will blame

         12  you, so don't worry, we have to have some way of

         13  getting --

         14                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: I don't think

         15  there is any other city, any other government, any

         16  state in the nation that is as prepared as we are

         17  and has been as diligent as we have in dealing with

         18  this issue.

         19                 On the other hand, since we are a

         20  City that is bigger than most countries, the

         21  complexity with which we have to deal, the variety

         22  volume of services we provide, the computerization

         23  that has taken place, more sophisticated in one

         24  agency, less in another agency, the expertise that

         25  is scattered, some agencies are really into
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          2  technology, other agency leadership don't want to

          3  hear about it because their mindset -- in the

          4  context of that complexity, I think we have done an

          5  outstanding job trying to anticipate all of the

          6  problems with a clear expert recognition that

          7  something will fall through the cracks, there will

          8  be some kind of problem.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: With the kind

         10  of information that you have derived, just because

         11  of the enormity of this change in terms of Y2K, you

         12  have been able to ascertain things about various

         13  agencies that perhaps City government has not really

         14  considered, has that information been codiciled

         15  (sic) and perhaps called to the attention of the

         16  Administration so they can say, hey, did you look at

         17  this?

         18                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: We have a very

         19  cooperative process -- the normal process of an

         20  audit of any kind with an agency is that at the end

         21  of the audit we say this is what was good, this is

         22  what was bad, here is our series of recommendations,

         23  please implement them and we put into the audit

         24  their response. You gave us 15 recommendations we

         25  are going to do 11, we don't agree with 12 and 13,
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          2  you know, that kind of thing.

          3                 This process has the added layer that

          4  the Mayor's Office, the Year 2000 office, has been

          5  following up as well.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Okay.

          7                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: And the experts

          8  who were here before you and other staff are really

          9  anxious that the recommendations that we make, that

         10  they make independently will be implemented by the

         11  agencies, and we have had very good compliance until

         12  now, but the story isn't finally told. So there may

         13  be problems.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: My last

         15  question: Will this audit and the response be

         16  released to the public at large?

         17                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: It is released,

         18  in fact we are including summaries for you. You

         19  should have distributed to you a summary sheet of

         20  all of the audits and where they are, and

         21  descriptive summaries for each of the major agencies

         22  in our releases.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Thank you.

         24                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: It is all public

         25  record.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, the

          3  Chairman has returned, and I have to exercise this

          4  opportunity to ask a question.

          5                 You speak of the cooperation between

          6  the Mayor and your office and this effort, are we

          7  cooperating with the federal government as well? I

          8  can assume that there is going to be a major push by

          9  the federal government to see the local governments

         10  and the state governments and international

         11  cooperations --

         12                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: It is of a

         13  different character. When we ask an agency to

         14  anticipate problems, those that have dealings with

         15  the federal government, you have Medicaid money or

         16  federal grant money, or other connections, it is

         17  part of their requirement to be compliant and for

         18  their contingency to maintain those connections and

         19  relationships so the resources keep coming to our

         20  people.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: It is

         22  reasonable to assume that the federal government is

         23  certainly on top of this and is concerned about the

         24  potential for chaos or problems as we are?

         25                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: I don't want to
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          2  characterize the quality of their involvement. They

          3  certainly are as concerned. We have not directly

          4  connected to federal agencies to perform our

          5  function, which were the internal audit functions

          6  and the preparation of our own computer systems. I

          7  presume the City has agency by agency where

          8  relevant.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Now, as

         10  it relates to public service announcements and other

         11  kinds of alerts that are being prepared and

         12  developed, do you have any thought as to how that

         13  should be conducted or carried out?

         14                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Let me come back

         15  to you on it. There are some people much more expert

         16  in public relations than I am. I know we have

         17  communicated with our quarter of a million

         18  pensioners and will continue to do so to give them

         19  comfort and give them suggestions of who to call if

         20  there is a problem and a lot of them get their

         21  pension checks through the electronic transfer

         22  system.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: But you

         24  see the need for public service announcements and

         25  public service outreach?
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          2                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: As our partner

          3  and they should have very realistic expectations of

          4  what is coming and what we have done to try to

          5  ameliorate.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

          7  you, Mr. Comptroller.

          8                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, sir.

         10                 Mr. Miller.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Comptroller, I

         12  asked Director Hauer about the September 9th

         13  problem. How much time and energy has your office

         14  devoted to the November 11th, 2011 problem?

         15                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: 2011?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Just kidding.

         17                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: That is a week

         18  after an election? We have not focused on that at

         19  all. We are above politics now.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Nor has Mr.

         21  Miller focused on term limits as an issue.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: There are term

         23  limits?

         24                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: There is no

         25  greater advocate than term limits, I suspect.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: No, no, no, I

          3  am a staunch opponent.

          4                 But anyway, the quick question that I

          5  did have was, with regard to the budget for next

          6  year, I know that we have spent a great deal of

          7  money on 2000 compliance, has your office examined

          8  what the budget is for Y2K remediation? I assume

          9  there must be some -- I mean, we are not assuming --

         10  nobody believes that nothing is going to happen and

         11  we are just going to sail through this without any

         12  kind of glitch whatsoever. So, has your office

         13  examined what the City is currently budgeted for

         14  response to the Y2K problem, and are we going to

         15  actually experience some sort of, you know, a

         16  windfall in the budget given --

         17                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: I have no

         18  knowledge that there is a separate budget allocation

         19  for Y2K emergencies. I presume Finance Committee

         20  staff will have greater immediate knowledge of that

         21  than I would. But I know that there is a commitment

         22  that whatever the problem is we will go to solve it

         23  and pay what it costs to solve it. The City does

         24  operate at a surplus money, it has put into reserve

         25  funds, even though technically we are not even

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            123

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  supposed to have reserve funds, and so the public

          3  should have a clear understanding that whatever the

          4  problem is, we will resolve it and spend what it

          5  takes to resolve it, otherwise the long-term costs

          6  are going to be extraordinarily higher.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Okay, thank

          8  you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Comptroller,

         10  I want to thank you for your time. I want to again

         11  stress and ask that you pay particular sensitivity

         12  to the City's portfolio which is obviously a matter

         13  of great concern, and as well as the City

         14  investments, and I know that you will, but I want to

         15  thank you.

         16                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: I know it is an

         17  excellent suggestion and we will pursue it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you. Thank

         19  you very much.

         20                 Commissioner Marcos. Dr. Marcos.

         21  After Commissioner Marcos, we are going to have

         22  several experts who will be called.

         23                 Good afternoon, Commissioner, how are

         24  you?

         25                 DR. MARCOS: Very well, thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Sorry for the

          3  delay, as I am to everybody, but it is an issue of

          4  such significance that people really require time to

          5  inquire.

          6                 Commissioner, good morning. Good

          7  afternoon. And you have a statement that you want to

          8  read?

          9                 DR. MARCOS: Yes, I do, a brief

         10  statement.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right. Excuse

         12  me, could I have everybody's attention, please?

         13                 Thank you. Please go ahead,

         14  Commissioner.

         15                 DR. MARCOS: Thank you. I am pleased

         16  to report that the Corporation is Year 2000

         17  complaint in the majority of its major systems.

         18                 We began to implement our Year 2K

         19  compliance program in March of 1997 and today,

         20  modesty aside, we lead the health care industry in

         21  Year 2K readiness.

         22                 I would now like to present the

         23  status of the most significant components of our

         24  program.

         25                 The primary focus of the
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          2  Corporation's Y2K compliance effort has been to

          3  guarantee the continued proper function of nearly

          4  49,000 medical devices and other equipment used in

          5  the treatment of our patients.

          6                 Any of these devices could contain

          7  embedded chips which would make them sensitive to

          8  the Year 2000 date transition.

          9                 Rather than relying solely on vendor

         10  certifications or warranties of Y2K compliance, HHC

         11  implemented a stringent policy which required

         12  physically testing each device used in its

         13  operations.

         14                 This policy is central to HHC's Y2K

         15  compliance strategy and has been rigorously

         16  followed.

         17                 Equipment used for life support,

         18  patient monitoring, diagnosis and treatment and

         19  laboratory work, and other such devices, were all

         20  inspected to determine Y2K risk. That inspection

         21  concluded that about 10,000 pieces of equipment were

         22  at risk for Y2K problems and needed remedial action.

         23                 I am pleased to say that, consistent

         24  with our plan, 97 percent of HHC's total equipment

         25  inventory is Y2K ready. New equipment, which is Year
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          2  2K compliant will replace the remaining three

          3  percent by October of 1999.

          4                 All of the Corporation's clinical

          5  information systems, radiology, laboratory and the

          6  computerized patient record system, which are used

          7  in the care of patients have been successfully Year

          8  2000 compliant tested and the physical installation

          9  of any required upgrades will be completed also in

         10  October of 1999.

         11                 Since the infrastructure systems of

         12  HHC facilities, for example, elevators and

         13  ventilation systems could also contain date

         14  sensitive components, every system was evaluated for

         15  all potentially disruptive Y2K occurrences. And

         16  again, I am pleased to report that 97 percent of the

         17  4,350 systems is ready. Evaluation and compliance

         18  testing of the remaining three percent of the

         19  systems, and where necessary, upgrading will be

         20  completed by October 1999.

         21                 All corporate business and revenue

         22  systems are Y2K ready. Local information systems and

         23  all personal computers and software are also

         24  undergoing rigorous compliance testing and

         25  remediation, replacement or removal as necessary. To
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          2  date, 71 percent of the personal of the local

          3  information system and 71 percent of the personal

          4  computers have been certified as ready. The

          5  remaining 29 percent will be made ready or replaced

          6  by October 1999.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: In other words,

          8  by the end of September.

          9                 DR. MARCOS: Yes, sir. By October. I

         10  am sorry, by October.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you.

         12                 DR. MARCOS: The total cost has been

         13  or will be 73.1 million dollars. Of that amount 41

         14  million for medical equipment, 23.6, for information

         15  systems and personal computers and 8.5 million for

         16  infrastructure system. The City of New York has

         17  provided the Corporation $33 million.

         18                 To maintain accountability and

         19  awareness within the Corporation of the Y2K

         20  compliance program, the status of this program is

         21  reported monthly to the Board of Directors. We have

         22  an internal Executive Steering Committee, comprised

         23  of central office and network senior staff,

         24  regularly reviews the progress of the of the

         25  program. HHC's progress is also reported monthly to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            128

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  the City's Y2K Executive Steering Committee. We also

          3  have contingency plans to address unexpected events

          4  and these plans detail the Corporation's responses

          5  to all type of situations and may affect the

          6  operation of our facilities.

          7                 HHC has participated in several work

          8  groups sponsored by the New York State government,

          9  Office of Technology and Greater New York Hospital

         10  Association.

         11                 In conclusion, as reported in the New

         12  York Times in a recent article on Y2K readiness, the

         13  Corporation has one of the most aggressive Year 2000

         14  preparation programs, and I believe that assessment

         15  is correct and that we are ready for the start of

         16  the new millennium.

         17                 This concludes my remarks and I will

         18  now be happy to answer any questions the Committee

         19  may have.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you very

         21  much, Commissioner. I am delighted to hear your

         22  testimony, because apparently from the testimony

         23  that has been elicited here and from the questions

         24  of the members, one of the greatest areas of concern

         25  is the delivery of health care services to people in
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          2  the City of New York.

          3                 Now, one of the things that is

          4  apparent to me is that the major hospital facilities

          5  which would include HHC as an entity will be Y2K

          6  compliant. But I am confident that there are a

          7  number of HHC facilities that are smaller and may

          8  not have the money to become Y2K compliant. I mean,

          9  do you see that as a possible problem?

         10                 DR. MARCOS: I really don't know what

         11  the situation is outside of the Corporation. I do

         12  know that the State Department of Health, as well as

         13  the federal government, they have very strict

         14  procedures and protocols to be followed by any

         15  facility that provides health care.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Will the

         17  Corporation have an extra supply of needed medical

         18  supplies and drugs in the event there is a problem

         19  -- a classic example, and I was just talking about

         20  somebody else, is many people are diabetic, and the

         21  delivery of insulin and usage of insulin is key and

         22  essential to their health and their existence and to

         23  their lives. I am indeed concerned that there may be

         24  some glitches that could inhibit the flow of insulin

         25  from the pharmaceutical retailing facilities, will
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          2  the HHC, is there any plans to stockpile and have an

          3  additional supply available of these life-giving

          4  drugs to supplement or to prepare for any possible

          5  glitches?

          6                 DR. MARCOS: Yes, we normally have a

          7  seven, eight day supply and we are preparing to have

          8  up to 30 days. So, I don't foresee of any problem in

          9  terms of the supply of medications.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Would you say

         11  that it would be prudent for the average citizen who

         12  was dependent, medically dependent upon certain

         13  drugs to keep at least a 30-day supply available at

         14  the time of the Y2K occurrence?

         15                 DR. MARCOS: I think it would be

         16  prudent, depending on the medication to have a week

         17  to a month supply. More than that it might create a

         18  problem for the industry, if everyone really

         19  accumulates a lot of medication.

         20                 The other problem is that these

         21  medications tend to expire at some point, so that if

         22  someone really gets too much of one type of

         23  medication, including insulin, for instance, that

         24  medication may not be useful later on.

         25                 So, I suggest, and I think, Mr.
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          2  Chairman, you make a very good point, is that that

          3  they consult their physician but it is a prudent

          4  amount or prudent time to accumulate medications up

          5  to 30 days.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, one of the

          7  matters of concern, because I agree I believe that,

          8  I know that my family is, we are going to try and

          9  attempt to maintain at least a 30-day supply of

         10  medications. My concern, though, for many people is

         11  that they are members of plans that, prescription

         12  plans that are very limiting and the only way you

         13  can get a renewal is if there is, you are at the

         14  time expiration of your current supply, so it would

         15  be impossible for the average say senior citizen who

         16  is on a fixed income to expend money from their own

         17  pocket to have a stockpile of these drugs, and as a

         18  consequence if there is a problem, they are

         19  potentially in jeopardy. Would you agree that that

         20  is a potential for a problem?

         21                 DR. MARCOS: Yes, I think that the

         22  managed care companies should, they might be doing

         23  this, and I don't want to be unfair to them, but

         24  they should have an alternative plan for those

         25  prescriptions to ensure that patients can have a
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          2  safe amount of medication at home.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, if there is

          4  a problem, then it is apparent to me that HHC would

          5  be called upon as the provider of last resort in

          6  these instances, and you know, hopefully God-willing

          7  there will not be a problem but if there is, that is

          8  life and death issues.

          9                 DR. MARCOS: Certainly we will be

         10  there. I think that our plan to stockpile up to 30

         11  days should be able to help individuals who have

         12  that difficulty.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Now, the food,

         14  bandages, fuel, you also contemplate significant

         15  supply that you will also stockpile for the HHC

         16  facilities; is that correct?

         17                 DR. MARCOS: Yes, absolutely. We have

         18  plans to have enough reserves in fuel, as well as

         19  basic supplies and food to ensure that we can deal

         20  with any problem that may come up.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Now, my final

         22  question, and then we will go to Ms. Pinkett.

         23                 During the July power failure,

         24  Gouverneur Hospital was forced to close, Columbia

         25  Presbyterian remained open; are there sufficient
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          2  back-up plans, in your opinion, Commissioner, to

          3  make certain that all of the HHC facilities, no

          4  matter what circumstances, will be able to remain

          5  open?

          6                 DR. MARCOS: Absolutely.

          7                 Let me clarify. The situation at

          8  Gouverneur was that, yes, we lost power, but the

          9  generators did work, but that meant that we could

         10  not use all the elevators, only the emergency

         11  elevators.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: It had a limiting

         13  affect on the ability of the hospital.

         14                 DR. MARCOS: Yes.

         15                 We are prepared for that, we will

         16  have sufficient fuel for our generators, and I don't

         17  foresee any problem.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Ms. Pinkett.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chairman.

         21                 My concern would be your patients on

         22  dialysis. As we both know, some of these patients

         23  will be seen let's say December the 31st, and then

         24  they will have to come in on January 1st, 2000. Will

         25  these patients be prepared by HHC for any problems
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          2  that may arise because of Y2K issues?

          3                 DR. MARCOS: Yes. We will have the

          4  regular dialysis scheduled for all of our patients.

          5  We don't foresee any problems with the dialysis

          6  equipment, so we don't foresee a problem there.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: What about

          8  ambulette services, and companies, they will also be

          9  available so there will be no problem or

         10  interruption of services?

         11                 DR. MARCOS: Certainly the vendors

         12  that work with HHC, the companies that serve HHC

         13  patients have assured us that their services will

         14  continue.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: So those

         16  dialysis patients can be assured that their medical

         17  needs will be met and there will be no problem for

         18  them?

         19                 DR. MARCOS: Absolutely.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Okay.

         21                 How many dialysis patients are seen

         22  or are under care in HHC?

         23                 DR. MARCOS: I don't have the actual

         24  numbers with me but I will be happy to send that to

         25  you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Okay, I would

          3  like to know, and approximately how many you are

          4  responsible for. And I would like to know who the

          5  ambulette services are.

          6                 My concerns are that I look and see

          7  who provides the services, and I would like to know

          8  who they are also and how it is they get their

          9  contract, and why is it such a limited field?

         10                 DR. MARCOS: We will share that

         11  information with you and the Chairman.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Yes. But I

         13  would like to know in my lifetime.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 DR. MARCOS: Before the Year 2000.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Pardon me?

         17                 DR. MARCOS: Before the Year 2000.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: We are going to

         20  supply the Champaign.

         21                 DR. MARCOS: Great.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Commissioner,

         23  thank you so much. It is always a delight seeing

         24  you, Dr. Marcos.

         25                 DR. MARCOS: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And I appreciate

          3  your contribution and thank you for soothing some of

          4  my concerns.

          5                 DR. MARCOS: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, sir.

          7                 All right, we now are going to call

          8  some people up and ask them to join us at the table,

          9  you will testify separately but I would like to call

         10  you up as a group and of course you deem to be Y2K

         11  experts.

         12                 Charles Halperin, Center for Y2K and

         13  Society. Paul DeMatteis. Ed Yardeni. Dr. Howard

         14  Rubin, and Aram Khachadurian.

         15                 If I may, press the button on the mic

         16  in and that means that it is on. If the light is

         17  off, then it is on. And if you don't mind, I would

         18  appreciate it if you would speak directly into the

         19  mic. If you would, starting on my left, would you

         20  identify yourself, each identify yourselves and then

         21  we will go to testimony.

         22                 MR. KHACHADURIAN: Aram Khachadurian,

         23  Regional Plan Association.

         24                 DR. YARDENI: Edward Yardeni, Chief

         25  Economist, at Deutsche Bank Securities.
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          2                 MR. HALPERIN: Charles halperin,

          3  Center for Y2K and Society.

          4                 MR. DeMATTEIS: Paul DeMatteis,

          5  Prudential Insurance Company of America.

          6                 DR. RUBIN: I am Howard Rubin, I am

          7  Chair of the Department of Computer Science at

          8  Hunter College, I am a Research Fellow with

          9  Medigroup, and I am Chair of the Y2K Expert Service

         10  Corps of the International Year 2000 Cooperation

         11  Center of the United Nations and World Bank.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, starting on

         13  my left. Sir, would you take the mic and -- oh, I am

         14  sorry, we have an order and I went out of order. Mr.

         15  Halperin, you may.

         16                 MR. HALPERIN: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chairman. I appreciate the initiative you have

         18  taken, Mr. Chairman, and the Committee has taken in

         19  calling these hearings. There has been too little

         20  public airing of the Y2K issue, and I believe that

         21  our best protection against public panic is to have

         22  people well informed about the work that has gone on

         23  thus far, the work that remains to be done and what

         24  kinds of disruptions we can realistically expect

         25  after the beginning of the new year.
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          2                 The City deserves a tremendous amount

          3  of credit for the early start they got on this

          4  process and for the progress they have made to date.

          5                 Nonetheless, I think there are many

          6  large areas of uncertainty where legitimate concerns

          7  would demand that the Council give this subject

          8  intense scrutiny.

          9                 The standard of analysis in my

         10  opinion is one of prudence and responsibility.

         11  Prudence calls for a clear recognition of the

         12  challenges that we may face in the new year, and the

         13  uncertainties that we are facing.

         14                 I want to draw your attention, Mr.

         15  Chairman, to a pamphlet that the Center for Y2K and

         16  Society has recently issued and has made available

         17  to your office, it is called Is Your Community

         18  Prepared? A Y2K Report Card. And I think it lays out

         19  a set of questions that New York City's performance

         20  ought to be measured against. And in many respects

         21  the results are reassuring and others, they raise

         22  significant questions.

         23                 I think that the Committee has

         24  performed a great public service in the report they

         25  issued today on the Y2K problem, it is far and away
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          2  the most thorough and comprehensive review of the

          3  City's progress and the outstanding issues at the

          4  present time that has yet been made available for

          5  the public and in doing this report, which I have

          6  had a chance only to look at very briefly, provides

          7  an extremely important public service.

          8                 In view of the lateness of the hour,

          9  I would like to go directly to a number of

         10  recommendations that are set out on the third page

         11  -- excuse me, the second page of the summary of

         12  testimony which I circulated to this Chair and to

         13  the Committee earlier. And I will just run through

         14  these propositions quickly and I hope that in future

         15  hearings the Council will address each of these

         16  concerns and issues.

         17                 The first recommendation is that this

         18  Y2K preparation process be undertaken as a community

         19  effort, which means that we not look at how each

         20  government agency is prepared, or how each private

         21  corporation is prepared, but how we as a community

         22  can respond to this problem.

         23                 Ms. Pinkett's questions about people

         24  who are reliant on dialysis goes to that kind of an

         25  approach. Or Mr. Stabile's question about the
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          2  elderly, who is it that is looking at this? And I

          3  believe it is the Council that has to do this, not

          4  to look at how the HHC is doing, but what is going

          5  to happen to our most vulnerable people and how are

          6  we making certain that they will be taken care of in

          7  the case of whatever disruptions may occur.

          8                 Because of the great uncertainty and

          9  because New York City is unique in the extent to

         10  which it sits at the center of a very complex

         11  interlocking network of service providers, with

         12  connections that go around the globe. Because of our

         13  unique status in New York City we have an obligation

         14  to prepare better than most cities. And while it is

         15  very gratifying to see us on the very cutting edge

         16  on municipal preparation, it is no cause to be smug

         17  at this point, particularly since there has been a

         18  slighting, in my opinion, of the community aspect of

         19  the preparation, and particularly the need for open

         20  and democratic discussion. Mr. Spigner and others

         21  have spoken of their concern that there would not be

         22  public panic. But I think that the greatest risk in

         23  terms of public panic is instead to promote false

         24  assurances. To tell people that it is all taken care

         25  of, to put out a lot of PSAs that just try to pour
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          2  oil onto water, that is not going to do it, people

          3  will not be persuaded and they will not be fooled,

          4  and to my way of thinking, this is not a public

          5  relations problem so much as it is as a problem in

          6  democratic participation.

          7                 In that regard I believe that the

          8  City has enormous resources in the non-profit sector

          9  and have hardly been tapped yet. There were

         10  questions earlier about the smaller non-profit

         11  organizations that are so critical, for example, in

         12  providing health care to poor people and day care

         13  and nursing home care for the elderly.

         14                 My experience as someone who works in

         15  the non-profit sector in the City, is that those

         16  organizations are not well prepared for this crisis,

         17  and those are organizations that if they fail, it is

         18  going to have a very direct tangible impact on

         19  people's lives.

         20                 And the City Council, as our

         21  political voice, ought to be assuring that those

         22  people are brought up to speed, not with an

         23  occasional meeting with Brian Cohen or his people,

         24  that isn't going to do it. We really have to find

         25  out where they are in terms of their preparation.
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          2  Churches, synagogues and mosques could be a

          3  wonderful source of emergency support, in case there

          4  are significant failures.

          5                 I mean, the booklet prepared by the

          6  City talks about the need to stockpile additional

          7  blankets to keep warm and to have extra supplies of

          8  medicine and food, but it doesn't say how that is

          9  going to happen. Or whom people can turn to if they

         10  are unable to build up a small reserve of

         11  pharmaceuticals and food. This is New York City, we

         12  don't live like that. People don't know how to go

         13  about storing a week's supply of water in a New York

         14  City apartment, and those are places where churches

         15  and synagogues and other faith-based non-profit

         16  organizations play an important role.

         17                 There has been much discussion of

         18  hospitals and other health facilities. Again, Mr.

         19  Chairman, I thought your question about those

         20  smaller health facilities, the community clinics and

         21  the like, where poor people often turn for their

         22  medical care, how are they prepared for Y2K?

         23                 We heard from Dr. Marcos that he is

         24  laying in a 30-day supply of critical medical

         25  supplies in HHC facilities. What is happening at the
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          2  William Fitz Ryan Clinic on 96th Street? Are they

          3  able to lay in that kind of supply? What happens to

          4  them if Medicaid payments are delayed? It is

          5  gratifying and reassuring to hear that the City's

          6  agencies have checked their systems, but it is

          7  rather startling to hear that there has been no

          8  testing at all about how the City's system will

          9  interface with state and federal systems.

         10                 The Medicaid payment system is

         11  enormously complex. As of May this year, the House

         12  of Representatives was ranking HCFA, the federal

         13  health care agency, at an F level in terms of their

         14  preparedness.

         15                 If they are at an F level, no degree

         16  of preparation in the City is going to help, but in

         17  fact HCFA has improved very considerably,

         18  particularly on the Medicare side. How things stand

         19  in terms of Medicaid payments is a very big area of

         20  ambiguity and concern.

         21                 We have heard from some of the

         22  witnesses this morning about how vacations had been

         23  cancelled and how people were going to be at their

         24  desks through the Christmas season and in the early

         25  weeks of the new year. That seemed to me to be a
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          2  critical kind of a baseline level of prudent

          3  preparation for this, and it seems to me that the

          4  City Council ought to try to make that a norm, not

          5  only for City agencies, but for any agency,

          6  for-profit or non-profit where a significant failure

          7  would seriously impair the well-being of New York

          8  City's residents.

          9                 The three last points I would like to

         10  make. First, it is the question of equitable

         11  distribution. I have touched on that already, we

         12  have heard from those people who have the most

         13  adequate financial resources and the best foresight,

         14  that they are building up a reserve or a stockpile,

         15  call it what you will. I want to know what is

         16  happening to those organizations and agencies that

         17  don't have that kind of capacity, and to the people,

         18  the ordinary citizens who rely on those other

         19  agencies.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: That is what we

         21  have been inquiring of.

         22                 MR. HALPERIN: I think you are right

         23  on target.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: We are kind of

         25  unsatisfied with some of the responses.
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          2                 MR. HALPERIN: I didn't hear

          3  satisfying responses either, Mr. Chairman.

          4                 The other point I want to emphasize

          5  is the point of the inter-connectedness. This is

          6  another point the chairman has emphasized in his

          7  questions. We rely for pharmaceuticals, a subject

          8  which you have returned to, not only on the

          9  drugstores in New York City, they have a very modest

         10  supply on hand. But they have to look to their

         11  suppliers, the wholesalers, and the wholesalers have

         12  to look to the manufacturers and the manufacturers

         13  have to look to their suppliers who are all around

         14  the world.

         15                 Pfizer, for example, one major

         16  international drug company, identified 16,000

         17  critical suppliers, located all around the world.

         18  The adequacy of the supply of pharmaceuticals in New

         19  York City in March, April, May, is going to turn on

         20  how adequately that global network functions over

         21  time. And it includes many countries which have even

         22  failed to acknowledge the importance of the Y2K

         23  issue.

         24                 So that the assurances that the City

         25  agencies, we listened to two and a half hours of
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          2  assurances of City agencies about the level of

          3  preparation, that is a beginning of inquiry for the

          4  City Council but not the end of the inquiry, because

          5  of these change of supplies and interconnections,

          6  which might go to HCFA in Washington, D.C., or to

          7  the manufacturers of pharmaceutical components all

          8  over Eastern Europe.

          9                 In conclusion, I want to stress the

         10  role of the City Council, in my view the media has

         11  already failed the people of the City of New York. I

         12  am less concerned about the panicky reporting by the

         13  fact that there has not been detailed attention to

         14  the level of preparedness in New York City. You can

         15  look through the newspapers in the City over the

         16  last six months and try to find a detailed analysis

         17  of how well City agencies and non-profit

         18  organizations and corporations in this City were

         19  preparing, you will find very little indeed. The

         20  Council, by continuing to cast a bright light on

         21  this subject, can perhaps promote the media's closer

         22  attention to the nuts and bolts problems which are

         23  very much going to affect the lives of New Yorkers

         24  in the beginning of the new year.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Sir, I notice
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          2  that you took the time to prepare a report card, a

          3  Y2K Community Report Card, have you had an

          4  opportunity, after listening to the testimony of the

          5  City, to rate the City and enter a grade?

          6                 MR. HALPERIN: Well, I have not done

          7  so, Mr. Chairman. I would hope that perhaps -- I

          8  would be happy to cooperate with the Council staff

          9  in doing so. I think it would take an inquiry, but I

         10  will tell you, there are some things which are

         11  clearly problematic.

         12                 For example, I am looking under

         13  three, the health care system. Is there a specific

         14  plan to keep funds flowing to health care

         15  institutions in your community if Medicare, Medicaid

         16  or private insurance payments are delayed?

         17                 As reassuring as the tone as the

         18  testimony I heard was, I would have to answer that

         19  no. Based on what the Council has been told today,

         20  that kind of a specific plan is not in place.

         21                 Will there be a 30-day supply of

         22  critical medications in the community as of January

         23  1, 2000? We have heard from Dr. Marcos that the HHC

         24  facilities will have 30 days, which I find very

         25  gratifying news indeed. But the question of whether
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          2  there will be critical medications for the whole

          3  community, seems to be a question that nobody has

          4  addressed, so far as one could tell from the

          5  testimony this morning.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you very

          7  much, sir.

          8                 Mr. Yardeni.

          9                 DR. YARDENI: Good afternoon. My name

         10  is Ed Yardeni, I am Chief Economist of Deutsche Bank

         11  Securities.

         12                 As an economist, as a professional

         13  economist, I have been very interested in assessing

         14  the economic repercussions of the Year 2000 problem,

         15  and frankly, my focus has been on the global

         16  economy, as well as on the national economy, with

         17  obvious implications for municipalities. And I seem

         18  to be one of the only economists certainly on Wall

         19  Street that have come to the conclusion that the

         20  Year 2000 problem is a serious one, should not be

         21  taken lightly and is likely to have a serious

         22  economic impact to the extent that I believe that we

         23  have to anticipate that a recession may very well be

         24  a consequence of the Year 2000 problem.

         25                 I will be the first one to admit that
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          2  at this point, with so little time left, basically

          3  slightly over 100 days left between now and the

          4  century date change, that even now we know very

          5  little about the preparedness of companies and

          6  organizations that we depend on with regards to the

          7  Year 2000. Most of the data that is available is

          8  based on self-reported data. Most of the data that

          9  is available has not been independently verified,

         10  and when I, as an economist, find that I don't have

         11  all of the information I need to make a very precise

         12  forecast, I have two choices: One is to make a leap

         13  of faith here that because there is so much at risk

         14  everything will be fixed and there is nothing to

         15  worry about and contingency planning can be fairly

         16  low key, or else I can conclude that there is so

         17  much at risk, not having a great deal of data

         18  confirming that all will be will, I think one has to

         19  conclude that the risk scenarios are very legitimate

         20  and need to be incorporated into one thinking, and

         21  contingency planning should be therefore that much

         22  more important.

         23                 I did sit through the hearings so far

         24  since the morning, and I have to say I was really

         25  quite reassured by the caliber of the people that
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          2  testified and their reassurances that a great deal

          3  has been accomplished and a great deal will be

          4  accomplished between now and year end.

          5                 However, in contingency planning, I

          6  think the public has to be brought into the program.

          7  I think the emergency preparedness officials are

          8  used to having basically isolated unique local

          9  crises in providing the leadership and the resources

         10  necessary to stabilize the situation in one locale.

         11                 This Y2K problem has the potential

         12  for creating a great deal of anxiety among the

         13  entire population of the Metropolitan region, and I

         14  think having hot lines is important, so I think that

         15  is a good point. But I think starting to educate the

         16  public now and giving them maybe some resources of

         17  where to go in the event that certain things happen,

         18  with a lot of reassurances they probably won't

         19  happen, but if they do this is what we would like

         20  you to do.

         21                 The last thing we want everybody to

         22  do is to pick up their phone at the beginning of the

         23  new year to see if it works, because then odds are

         24  that the phone systems will not work.

         25                 If people are experiencing a blackout
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          2  or a brownout situation, we certainly don't want

          3  them all to assume that it is occurring everywhere

          4  throughout the metropolitan region and we wanted

          5  them to be able to have some ways to get that

          6  information. Hopefully they will be able to get that

          7  information off the television cable systems, but I

          8  think we should also let them know the extent to

          9  which some of the non-profit organizations that

         10  Charlie alluded to, the churches, the synagogues,

         11  the mosques, the schools, will in fact have centers

         12  where people can go and try to address their

         13  specific problems. We don't want everybody to go to

         14  the hospital to see if their medication is going to

         15  be available.

         16                 So, bringing the public into the

         17  contingency planning process I think is actually a

         18  very reassuring thing, and rather than fearing that

         19  the public will panic, I think now is the time to

         20  make sure that they don't panic.

         21                 With regards to my expertise, which

         22  is the economy and certainly not emergency

         23  preparedness, it is my view that it is naively

         24  optimistic to believe that the Y2K problem will not

         25  cause some serious disruptions that could cause a
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          2  global recession. Now, the question is how could

          3  that possibly impact New York City if we are

          4  completely prepared?

          5                 Well, I do believe that a global

          6  recession could very well lead to a drop in the

          7  stock market. Our prosperity in the City has been

          8  financed to an important extent by the success of

          9  the financial sector of our City.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: As has the

         11  revenues.

         12                 DR. YARDENI: As has the revenues. I

         13  think some scenario planning for what happens if

         14  there is a prolonged downturn in the stock market,

         15  and I am not talking doomsday, I am talking about a

         16  recession that could last six to 12 months and a

         17  stock market that could be down 30 percent. Given

         18  that we have had prosperity for so long and a market

         19  that has been doing nothing but going up, people

         20  have characterized most scenarios doomsday, but that

         21  just shows you how we have forgotten that recessions

         22  are a normal part of human history.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And cyclical.

         24                 DR. YARDENI: And cyclical, and stock

         25  market declines are also not unusual.
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          2                 I mean, people tell me that I could

          3  be right for the wrong reasons. The stock market is

          4  down today by over 100 points because there are

          5  concerns that the economy is too strong and may be

          6  setting us up for inflation and that may lead to

          7  lower stock market. So, I think there needs to be

          8  some work done, and I hope there has been. I am not

          9  saying there hasn't been, but if there hasn't there

         10  should be work done and preparing for a shortfall

         11  for revenues and what will that do to some of the

         12  projects that are outstanding and that might be

         13  planned.

         14                 There were some questions asked about

         15  the portfolio that is being managed for the City, I

         16  understand it is almost $100 billion, a 30 percent

         17  drop if it is all in the stock market obviously

         18  would hurt, and I was a little bit surprised to hear

         19  that the portfolio managers haven't yet assessed

         20  their vulnerabilities to a Y2K recession and stock

         21  market decline overall, and they haven't looked at

         22  specific sectors of the market that might be

         23  especially hard hit.

         24                 For example, it would be my view that

         25  some of the global investments, and that includes
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          2  companies that do business globally, might be

          3  especially hard hit if there is a global recession.

          4  It is my view that there could actually be a mini or

          5  a more of a serious energy crisis in the Year 2000,

          6  especially if some of the oil companies, and I am

          7  talking about state-run oil companies and Latin

          8  America and the Middle East arent' fully prepared.

          9                 So, I think there are still lots of

         10  issues that New York City has to address that maybe

         11  because of the way that we are looking at the Y2K

         12  problem is mostly a New York City management issue,

         13  as a very local issue, and to the extent that there

         14  is a tremendous sense of reassurance that one heard

         15  this morning, I think we still want to constantly be

         16  testing and asking what are we missing here? Where

         17  are we so vulnerable? To naively sit back and listen

         18  to the testimony and say, well, it looks like New

         19  York City is in fine shape, I think misses the point

         20  that this is a global community problem that will

         21  affect us all locally.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: It is a very

         23  sobering picture that you paint, and I appreciate

         24  it, and --

         25                 DR. YARDENI: And I had a happy
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          2  childhood.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I wish I could

          4  say that about myself, but the army still took me.

          5                 What advice would you be giving the

          6  Comptroller about his management of the City's

          7  portfolio?

          8                 DR. YARDENI: Well, I think the

          9  Comptroller did indicate that greater effort would

         10  be put into assessing the Y2K vulnerabilities of the

         11  overall portfolio -- specific stocks in the

         12  portfolio, and I think it is a little late but it is

         13  not too late, so I think that is a very good thing

         14  to do.

         15                 And I think certainly to the extent

         16  that a lot of the money is managed for the City by

         17  money managers, they should be alerted to the fact

         18  that the City is concerned about the issues, and

         19  they would expect that the money managers are

         20  addressing those kinds of issues in their portfolio

         21  decisions.

         22                 And then I think there is the issue

         23  of the overall market; is the City willing to

         24  withstand a 30 percent drop in the stock market for

         25  six to 12 months, kind of grin and bear it, and hope
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          2  that that will pass and the market will revive. I am

          3  certainly not in the doomsday camp. I do believe if

          4  there is recession it will be over in six to 12

          5  months, and if there is a bare market, it won't last

          6  much longer than that either, but we certainly don't

          7  want to make any decisions in the midst of some

          8  tumult that might occur.

          9                 And, so, just anticipating those

         10  scenarios, I think it may give us all some

         11  confidence that we anticipated these scenarios, we

         12  realize the market could be down. We made a

         13  conscious decision that we would withstand that kind

         14  of scenario and we are long-term investors. We don't

         15  want to make a decision in the middle of 2000 that

         16  --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: It would

         18  certainly be inappropriate to just jump out of the

         19  market and hope to come back in.

         20                 DR. YARDENI: Right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Although that

         22  could have a very traumatic effect on a lot of

         23  people who have tax deferred annuities, et cetera,

         24  clearly. And not to mention a pension, certainly.

         25                 Ms. Pinkett.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: I think in

          3  large measure they are using pension dollars of

          4  thousands of American citizens in New York City,

          5  retirees, and it is very, very important when they

          6  use that dollar to realize that those are not just

          7  free dollars and we are not talking about

          8  millionaires, we are talking about working people's

          9  money, and they ought to have looked at that

         10  portfolio.

         11                 DR. YARDENI: Well, you know,

         12  presumably we are talking about a long-term money

         13  management care, and I am certainly not advocating

         14  sell everything, I am not advocating a scenario of

         15  reacting impetuously to a problem that may last if

         16  at most 12 months, but I think the Comptroller

         17  assured the Council that he would have a closer look

         18  at Y2K issues relating to individual stocks and I

         19  think that is a very good place to begin.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: I heard you

         21  very well, and I understood your statement. But I

         22  think that with most people who have dollars

         23  invested in their pension, and most people who are

         24  retirees get very, very nervous when you talk about

         25  their pension, or close to being a retiree, and they
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          2  regard that pension as, that is their security

          3  blanket.

          4                 DR. YARDENI: Sure.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: And they

          6  guard that, that is very important to them. And the

          7  private sector, so many of them found that when the

          8  fortune of the private employer declined, their

          9  pensions declined also. They would not like to find

         10  that the City of New York in its changing status

         11  would find a way to use that escape hatch also.

         12                 DR. YARDENI: Right.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: So, what I am

         14  suggesting is that it is important to look at the

         15  portfolio because part of the dollars that are

         16  involved are pension dollars, and when they make

         17  their investment they should be cognizant of the

         18  fact that the money is not just something that comes

         19  from the sky.

         20                 DR. YARDENI: Yes. And the way that

         21  most pension programs are structured, I am not

         22  familiar with the specifics of the City, is the

         23  pensioners are going to get what they are entitled

         24  to if those that are obliged to make those payments

         25  suddenly find that that portfolio is worth less,
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          2  then the financing has to be obtained to make up the

          3  shortfall.

          4                 We have to also keep in mind that it

          5  has been an extraordinarily strong bull market. I am

          6  sure that the New York City portfolio has profited

          7  dramatically from that great big bull market.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: If you are in

          9  the right pension plan where there is indeed an

         10  investment factor, such as the teachers and the

         11  police, then of course it has been a great full

         12  market and you have had a wonderful return.

         13                 DR. YARDENI: Sure.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: But if you

         15  are in the ordinary pension plan, it is just that

         16  you want to make sure that you get no less than --

         17                 DR. YARDENI: Yes, I think this gets

         18  into the point that Charlie was making, and that is

         19  making sure that the pain is equally distributed and

         20  that their resources for minimizing the pain are

         21  equally distributed. It is an extremely important

         22  function of the administrators of the City, and I

         23  think the Council has done a good job of raising

         24  that issue.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Yes. Thank
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          2  you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 Mr. DeMatteis, of Prudential.

          6                 Press the button. The red light is

          7  off now, right?

          8                 MR. DeMATTEIS: Now it is on, okay.

          9                 My name is Paul DeMatteis. As you

         10  mentioned, I am with Prudential Insurance.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Can you bring the

         12  mic a bit closer to you, sir.

         13                 MR. DeMATTEIS: As you mentioned, my

         14  name is Paul DeMatteis. I am with Prudential

         15  Insurance.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Forgive me for

         17  misprouncing it.

         18                 MR. DeMATTEIS: Oh, no problem. I

         19  sometimes make that same mistake.

         20                 I am the Director of Policy and

         21  Planning and Corporate Security for Prudential. I am

         22  not really speaking in their behalf. I am speaking

         23  as a subject matter expert at this time, and

         24  previous before that I was a Vice President of

         25  Corporation Security at Citibank. My responsibility
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          2  is for those positions that enabled me to travel and

          3  have assignments overseas. I have conducted over 100

          4  overseas assignments in the last several years.

          5                 My specialty ranges from traditional

          6  security control and analysis work to computer

          7  security, executive protection, kidnapping issues

          8  and crisis management and contingency planning on a

          9  global basis for the companies that I have worked

         10  with.

         11                 I am also a member of the American

         12  Society of Industrial Security and I sit on their

         13  computer security committee. I have been a

         14  consultant for many years, and I present classes in

         15  computer security and risk assessment at John Jay

         16  College of Criminal Justice here in Manhattan.

         17                 The one thing I would like to mention

         18  right up front, a lot of people have talked about is

         19  there a problem? Is there a Y2K problem? Yes, I

         20  think that can be very clearly answered yes, there

         21  is an international problem. Corporations and

         22  governments have been spending hundreds of millions

         23  of dollars each combined in the billions of dollars

         24  to correct this problem.

         25                 And I find when I discuss this topic
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          2  often, I get a large group of people that are not

          3  quite sure is there really a problem? Well, there

          4  really is a problem, and if it is not corrected by

          5  society there will be issues. I think New York City

          6  is doing an excellent job in looking for steps to

          7  control this. But in areas or countries that are not

          8  looking at this as a problem, there could be ripple

          9  effects that will affect the US and will affect New

         10  York.

         11                 The second thing I would like to

         12  mention too, and I think everyone is in agreement on

         13  it --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Sir, isn't that

         15  basically one of the issues that we did raise, that

         16  while we might be able to do everything possible to

         17  attain compliance here in the City, we cannot

         18  control what might happen in another country where

         19  they may provide supplies to us or other services?

         20                 MR. DeMATTEIS: I think that is 100

         21  percent correct, but in evaluating our own position

         22  in developing models on what could be some of the

         23  potential problems here in New York, we have to look

         24  at some of these issues to determine how we are

         25  going to best control environments that might start
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          2  here.

          3                 Just as we are all aware that the Y2K

          4  problem will start quite early on the day of New

          5  Year's Eve, so we will have a full City full of

          6  people that might be receiving information that

          7  could be of a concern. And I think education and

          8  informing people of the potential problems that

          9  could arise, not to a point of causing panic or

         10  fear, but people that are aware of possibilities

         11  react a lot better to them, and unfortunately I

         12  think if we wait much longer you are going to start

         13  to see these types of issues in Y2K discussions on

         14  the afternoon talk shows, and I am sure they are not

         15  going to be based on logic or possible true analysis

         16  of the situation. And that could have a dramatic

         17  effect on results.

         18                 I would like to just read one little

         19  thing here, and get your opinion. We have all

         20  discussed already the possibility of stockpiling

         21  food and medical supplies, but I think this should

         22  be of interest.

         23                 Some people are reporting that a

         24  week's food, water, medical prescriptions at a

         25  minimum, cash, credit cards with the '00 date should
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          2  be avoided, copies of your credit report, account

          3  information, loan information insurance policies,

          4  records, bank accounts, keep your gas tank above a

          5  half, have alternative cooking methods, warm

          6  clothes, flashlights, batteries on hand, radios,

          7  prepare for relocating to additional shelter, if

          8  needed, could be very concerning to people if they

          9  heard that from certain formats. That came right off

         10  of a web site of one of our leading news companies

         11  right now. It was also in UN Specifications, very

         12  similar, and it is also on the State Department. Are

         13  we prepared for this level of people starting to

         14  stockpile supplies and the ramifications?

         15                 Some interpretations are keep it as

         16  if it was a storm, a hurricane or an earthquake,

         17  anything that is coming in prepare for in that

         18  fashion, and we all know any time there is a storm

         19  coming in that we have quite a shortage of food in

         20  the stores around us.

         21                 One other question I raise, what does

         22  94 percent Y2K compliant really mean? And I am sure

         23  that is a question in a lot of people's minds, that

         24  is what I am asked time and again. Does that mean

         25  that six out of 100 functions will not work? Or all
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          2  functions will work but they will only be 94 percent

          3  accurate, and when you get to 99 percent, what does

          4  that mean? One out of 100 processes are going to

          5  fail, or each one will be one percent off from being

          6  correct? Both of those could have a dramatic impact.

          7                 My first discussion on Y2K was in a

          8  data center in 1985 here in New York City. It was a

          9  casual discussion prior to our primary meeting focus

         10  and we were discussing what could be some of the

         11  problems and ramifications and controls and we were

         12  all confident at that time that these would have

         13  been totally corrected, and now we hear mission

         14  critical, our mission critical systems are 97, 94

         15  percent corrected.

         16                 I think that is misleading to a lot

         17  of people because they don't realize mission

         18  critical could only be a very small percentage of

         19  our overall processing, so I am aware that we have

         20  to use our resources in a fashion that would best

         21  help us, but that could mean mission critical might

         22  only be ten, 20 or 30 percent of the computing we

         23  do, what happens to the other 70 percent of the

         24  computing? What impact will it have on the day after

         25  that systems that we rely on to do our daily
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          2  functions, not mission critical, are not working,

          3  how much time and money will we lose? Those are some

          4  of the concerns along with the other issues raised

          5  concerning we have no control over institutions or

          6  businesses that do business outside the US but can

          7  they have a dramatic affect on us, and I think, yes,

          8  it is probably one of the bigger areas of concern.

          9  Because people that are heavily invested in

         10  countries that have not paid any attention to Y2K

         11  could have serious problems.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you very

         13  much, sir.

         14                 Dr. Rubin.

         15                 DR. YARDENI: May I just jump in? My

         16  schedule is such that I do have to excuse myself.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you so

         18  much, Doctor. Thank you.

         19                 DR. RUBIN: First, again, I would like

         20  to thank the New York City Council for inviting me

         21  to speak here, and actually you have a number of

         22  pages of testimony from me, and it is from my

         23  perspective both as being an academic in the field

         24  of computer science, down to being an analyst that I

         25  guess has done the longest running survey of
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          2  Corporate America in the Year 2000 status starting

          3  in the early nineties, to the most recent work I

          4  have done now with the United Nations where I run

          5  this Year 2000 peace corps, where we are trying to

          6  support those of the 195 nations around the world

          7  that are in jeopardy, and actually right now are

          8  supporting a team of volunteers dealing with 40

          9  nations and I have recently come back from Africa

         10  and I am shortly off to the Middle East and other

         11  parts of the world trying to shore up nations that

         12  are weak.

         13                 So you have the report that I have in

         14  my formal testimony that talks about the general

         15  world picture to reinforcing some of the statements

         16  here that, while we have thought of Year 2000 as a

         17  technical problem, the technical risks pose, the

         18  biggest risks that are now posed, the technical

         19  things are where they are and people are making

         20  progress to the end of the year, the biggest risks

         21  posed right now are behavioral risks in terms of

         22  people's expectations of what is going to happen and

         23  what they do pre-event and during the event, and

         24  after the event.

         25                 In short, going around the world now,
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          2  while people are still concentrating on technical

          3  issues, the behavioral issues raised by the panel

          4  are still here.

          5                 And the other aspects that I bring to

          6  this is that I am an employee of New York City,

          7  being in the City University system. I live in the

          8  region. And actually in my statement some of the

          9  words are here, it says I regret to say that I have

         10  no evidence that the City is doing anything

         11  substantial in terms of constituents preparing this

         12  communication and visibility of its programs. I can

         13  bring complete communication to this table from

         14  London, from Morocco, from Botswana, complete

         15  citizenship, not little brochures that are now

         16  saying that we are pretty certain that we are okay.

         17                 So, in terms of where New York City

         18  is, I understand the issue of timing in terms of

         19  communication, but you have a document here that

         20  says The Y2K Program, Are We Ready? Any city, state,

         21  business that has not done full communication with

         22  its constituency could never say that it is ready.

         23                 Furthermore, there are some

         24  interesting things -- and actually in terms of the

         25  Year 2000 work I have done around the world with the
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          2  president and vice president, I am absolutely not

          3  viewed as an alarmist, I am criticized as not being

          4  an alarmist. But so help me, when I come and I have

          5  a report that says, from a Finance Committee, and

          6  then I have the Comptroller's Office and then I have

          7  a contingency planning book, and their coverage in

          8  scope are different in terms of what they are

          9  looking at, this Are We Ready thing doesn't mention

         10  water supply, sanitation, interagent dependencies,

         11  environment or even risks posed by processing plants

         12  that are in New York City or refineries in New

         13  Jersey, something is missing. And Hevesi's report

         14  then says that, you know, I understand audits are in

         15  progress, but you have agencies that are doubtful,

         16  and then you have the IT people that tell you you

         17  are 99.9 percent ready, or whatever it is, who is

         18  minding the whole store because the composit picture

         19  isn't there. There are internal conflicts that I see

         20  with these individual people that we have that I am

         21  just listening to this morning for the first time,

         22  and then when I drift over to your contingency

         23  planning book and all of these are documents that

         24  have taken hours of fine work, but your contingency

         25  planning book doesn't even ask people to document
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          2  what their contingency planning assumptions are from

          3  other agencies.

          4                 For example, a wonderful example

          5  about Year 2000 conflicts and planning assumptions

          6  is that the UK is planning on closing its ports for

          7  a period of time around the window for Year 2000.

          8  Other countries are trying to accelerate shipping,

          9  they are going to be moving things to close ports.

         10                 One of the issues that I do not see,

         11  and New York City is fairly amazing because of the

         12  complexity of the City, and the number of

         13  interconnections is here, has to do with any of

         14  these pieces, and even in your contingency planning,

         15  is document these conflicts and planning

         16  assumptions.

         17                 One of the things we have learned

         18  from the surveys I have done is that organizations

         19  or municipalities that fall back on their current

         20  contingency or continuity plans to any degree, or

         21  are using them as basic structures, really run into

         22  trouble because they are not applicable to what we

         23  are dealing with in Year 2000.

         24                 We have problems of simultaneity, it

         25  is called, multiplicity and rapid cascading effects
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          2  and broad geographic dispersion. So, suppose you

          3  have to enact all of the contingency plans for all

          4  of your agencies within a 24 hour period, this

          5  becomes like a Chess game or a bad dance where

          6  people make moves and step on each other's toes. So,

          7  who is minding sort of the interagency store?

          8                 And as a matter of fact, little

          9  things like who is coordinating with the judicial

         10  stuff or the police stuff with FBI and internal

         11  federal agencies or regional things or other

         12  localities, you know, just maybe they are there

         13  under the covers, they are just not right here now.

         14                 I mean from a global perspective, I

         15  guess what I try to bring to the table is we are

         16  starting to learn, and lessons that apply to New

         17  York City, that there are second order risks in Year

         18  2000. They deal with conflicts in planning

         19  assumptions, where everybody having contingency

         20  plans and surviving an audit, but no one plans

         21  looking at the moves and making other plans.

         22                 Conflicts in emergency management

         23  actions. That means when something happens Police

         24  and Fire or EMS steps on someone's toes.

         25                 Conflicts in contingency
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          2  communication mechanisms. One of the largest

          3  telephone companies in the world that I dealt with

          4  all had back-up telecommunication systems for their

          5  40 different divisions. Each had a different back-up

          6  system. They couldn't talk to each other at the end

          7  of the day.

          8                 In addition, there are other issues

          9  in conflicts and communication advisories.  If all

         10  of the City agencies are issuing advisories about

         11  what to do, how do you deal with that?

         12                 There may be conflicts in public

         13  preparedness communicaes and conflicts of

         14  authentication.

         15                 One of the other things that

         16  disturbed me today is I heard that, well, I visited

         17  Australia and I am setting up a communication line

         18  to Australia, or the banks, I am going to rely on

         19  them. Where are you going to get a common set of

         20  authenticated information? And why the heck, while

         21  the federal government is building centers to

         22  collect information, duplicate it, why are you

         23  rolling your own, as they would put it? I mean,

         24  there are some questions about that too that concern

         25  me.
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          2                 So, if you take a look at the

          3  totality of areas concerned, you have to deal with

          4  electricity, gas, water, telecom, oil, fuel supply,

          5  coal supply, local nuclear, resource production

          6  refining, finance transport, air traffic, aviation,

          7  road traffic, rail ports, shipping, food, hospitals,

          8  health care, fire and rescue, police, military

          9  defense, media broadcasting, public assistance,

         10  immigrations customs and border control and more, I

         11  don't see the coverage in terms of New York City

         12  plans.

         13                 So, I guess to end my story right

         14  now, is that I am pleased that the City Council is

         15  doing something about this. I do believe that,

         16  number one, I am not an alarmist but nothing can be

         17  assumed, nothing should be kept from the public, no

         18  external dependency can be unchartered and have no

         19  owner, and in fact, I would say that I truly urge

         20  the Council to stay in touch with what is going on,

         21  all critical agencies and sectors and regional

         22  organizations see that the City is staying in touch

         23  with national, international organizations. You also

         24  have a custodianship of the UN here, or stewardship

         25  or whatever you call it, because they are physically
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          2  in your space.

          3                 I further urge you to insist that the

          4  people be provided with a continuous stream of

          5  honest information as to status and impacts and

          6  plans and possible scenarios they need to be

          7  prepared for, and I am truly hoping that this thing

          8  will be a non-event. Not that because it is not real

          9  or never was real, but because preparedness and

         10  communication have placed us in a position of

         11  readiness so that all risks imposed have been abated

         12  or mitigated as they arise.

         13                 So, I thank you for this opportunity,

         14  and I hope I pointed out some things that were not

         15  brought up.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, your

         17  testimony, to stay the least, was startling. Thank

         18  you, Dr. Rubin.

         19                 DR. RUBIN: Okay.

         20                 And I would also, as Mr. Yardeni, if

         21  there are no further questions I have to leave.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: By all means.

         23                 DR. RUBIN: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: You were most
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          2  edifying, I will say that.

          3                 DR. RUBIN: Excuse me?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: You were most

          5  edifying. If you continue that who knows what will

          6  happen to CUNY.

          7                 DR. RUBIN: I am a product of CUNY and

          8  I have been there teaching.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Khachadurian.

         10                 MR. KHACHADURIAN: Thank you.

         11                 I have submitted a couple of pages of

         12  testimony, but in the interest of everyone's time

         13  and since a lot of RPA's work has already been cited

         14  in the Council's own report, I will skip down to the

         15  last point that I wanted to make in the testimony,

         16  which is the state of preparedness of the City's

         17  non-profit sector. Charlie alluded to it earlier, it

         18  is kind of the safety net of last resort for the

         19  most vulnerable communities in the City.

         20                 And since the beginning of July, our

         21  PA has been holding meetings with non-profits all

         22  over the City and the region to try to tell them

         23  about the urgency of examining their organizations

         24  for Y2K problems and getting themselves ready for

         25  Y2K.
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          2                 We have met since then with about 600

          3  or 700 organizations on Long Island, in Manhattan

          4  and in other boroughs, and it is astonishing really

          5  that hardly any of the organizations that have come

          6  to the meeting have had any familiarity at all with

          7  the Y2K problem.

          8                 You know there are two or three

          9  people that come to the table who say, well, we have

         10  looked ourselves over and we realize we need to buy

         11  some new computers but we don't have any money.

         12  There are two or three people that say we have

         13  looked ourselves over and we are in the midst of

         14  some kind of remediation. We have now counted for

         15  about six or eight out of 600 or 700, and the rest

         16  of them have not even begun to look at their Y2K

         17  problems. And these are the organizations that the

         18  poorest, sickest, neediest people are going to turn

         19  to in the event that there are any problems.

         20                 It is not for want of goodwill, it is

         21  somewhat for want of information. Again, I think it

         22  is one of the unfortunate, undesirable negative

         23  consequences of holding back on communicating about

         24  Y2K in public.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I just want to
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          2  make an observation, that when we were doing our

          3  budget, not this past June but the year before, and

          4  the Coalition of Mental Health Providers, when asked

          5  what they need because we had a surplus, they asked

          6  us to supplement their Y2K preparedness, so what you

          7  say is very meaningful to us.

          8                 MR. KHACHADURIAN: Then there are the

          9  smaller organizations, they don't even have the

         10  sophistication to go to the right place to ask for

         11  the money that they need, but in many cases it is

         12  not so much an issue of money as an issue of taking

         13  some very basic steps, sifting through their

         14  technology resources and examining them, figuring

         15  out what the problems are, and in many cases at very

         16  little expense addressing and solving those

         17  problems.

         18                 What is equally astonishing is that

         19  these organizations report that no government

         20  agency, including the big agencies that provide

         21  funds to them, often in a very technological form,

         22  has put any pressure on them or has even pointed out

         23  to them the need to address their Y2K preparedness.

         24                 That lapse is equally true, I should

         25  say even at a table with the Navin Cummings
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          2  Foundation of the grant making community, the

          3  philanthropic community of the City has not really

          4  reached out to his grantees in general, with some

          5  very notable exceptions, to remind them of the need

          6  to do this.

          7                 So, in any case, our PA has been

          8  pursuing this program and reaching out to the

          9  non-profit sector and we are going to be continuing

         10  to do it throughout the fall, as long as there are

         11  non-profits who respond to invitations to come to

         12  meetings, to learn about Y2K. We are going to do our

         13  best and that is where things stand right now.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Gentlemen, thank

         15  you so much. Your testimony was an incredible

         16  counter-balance to what we have previously heard and

         17  I appreciate your time and your effort.

         18                 Thank you, and I apologize for the

         19  delay.

         20                 Ms. Rogers, Federal Reserve Bank, and

         21  Mike Tiernan of the SIA.

         22                 Again, I want to apologize, I cannot

         23  control the level of questioning of the members, and

         24  invariably these extensive hearings are delayed and

         25  become kind of time-consuming. So, my apologies and
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          2  my thanks for your patience.

          3                 Ms. Rogers, if you would begin,

          4  please.

          5                 MS. ROGERS: I guess I didn't do all

          6  of the contingency planning I needed to do, I didn't

          7  stockpile a lunch in my bag.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Sorry. But it is

          9  a point well taken.

         10                 MS. ROGERS: I am Janet Rogers, Vice

         11  President and Director of the Year 2000 Program at

         12  the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, and I am

         13  pleased to meet with you today to discuss the

         14  Federal Reserve preparedness for the century date

         15  change.

         16                 The Federal Reserve has a unique

         17  perspective on the century rollover because of its

         18  role in promoting the soundness of the banking

         19  system and the smooth running of the payment system

         20  and stable financial markets.

         21                 At the Federal Reserve we have been

         22  paying close attention to preparations for the

         23  century date change in the financial sector as a

         24  whole. We expect there will be some glitches,

         25  nothing this complex will occur without them.
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          2                 However, I want to confirm at the

          3  outset that the Federal Reserve is ready for Year

          4  2000, and every current indication is that the

          5  domestic banking system for all practical purposes

          6  also is ready for smooth transition.

          7                 Much of our confidence comes from the

          8  fullness of our preparations. Now, I know you have

          9  been waiting to hear this but we are 100 percent

         10  ready in terms of our mission critical systems.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: That is a welcome

         12  change from the 97 percent, 98 percent, 99 percent.

         13  Thank you, Ma'am.

         14                 MS. ROGERS: We are in fact using

         15  today in production all of the automated systems

         16  that will be in use during the century rollover.

         17  Those systems form the hub of the nation's payment

         18  system for essential cash, check and electronic

         19  payments services.

         20                 In fact, we felt it was important to

         21  be ready very early so that we could test with all

         22  of our constituents and those are comprised of over

         23  10,000 banks and thrifts from around the country,

         24  and they are linked to us for payments in related

         25  functions. So, if Mr. Hevesi were still here I would
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          2  let him know that he probably will not need to mail

          3  those checks that he is preparing, he should be able

          4  to rely on the direct deposit system.

          5                 We are also confident that almost all

          6  of the nation's banks, thrift institutions and

          7  credit unions are ready for Year 2000. The Federal

          8  Deposit Insurance Company has rated as satisfactory

          9  the preparations of 99 percent of insured

         10  institutions.

         11                 Now, these good evaluations reflect

         12  years of diligent work by thousands of large and

         13  small institutions alike to meet rather aggressive

         14  deadlines for mission critical systems.

         15                 As you may know, banks are required

         16  to meet certain milestones, among them the

         17  identification, renovation, implementation, and

         18  testing of their mission critical automated systems

         19  to ensure that their customers would receive timely,

         20  high quality service during this century rollover,

         21  and the Federal Reserve and the other supervisory

         22  agencies are in the midst of conducting the third

         23  round of examinations for these institutions.

         24                 Their readiness, along with that of

         25  the nation's payment infrastructure indicates that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            182

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  processing payments infrastructure, indicates that

          3  the processing systems that support all methods of

          4  payment - ATM cards, debit cards, credit cards,

          5  direct deposit and other electronic payments, checks

          6  and even cash - will work smoothly during the

          7  rollover.

          8                 Confidence in the readiness of the

          9  Federal Reserve and the extensive preparations that

         10  have been undertaken by the nation's bank do not,

         11  however, guarantee perfection. No one can say that

         12  there won't be problems in the banking system when

         13  the century date rolls over. From time to time,

         14  processing and other failures do occur in complex

         15  automated systems, even under less stressful

         16  conditions. Banks fix those minor problems every day

         17  and go on, and this is what they will do at the time

         18  of the century date change if problems occur.

         19                 One of our concerns, again, is

         20  potential overreaction when a small problem occurs.

         21  If you go to your ATM machine every day, if there is

         22  no cash there you go to the next one. But people

         23  won't perceive it that way during that century

         24  rollover period.

         25                 Now, if glitches do emerge, the
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          2  Federal Reserve and depository institutions will

          3  draw on contingency plans, and then the professional

          4  experience to make systems operate again as promptly

          5  as possible.

          6                 At the Federal Reserve we have

          7  extensive contingency plans, many of them already

          8  well tested during hurricanes, blizzards, blackouts

          9  and other events. Let me emphasize that we find such

         10  contingency planning to be an important part of

         11  planning and preparedness for a variety of possible

         12  events and we have these contingency plans ready to

         13  go all the time, not just for Y2K. We kicked our

         14  generators in at our New Jersey processing site on a

         15  voluntary basis during the flooding the other day,

         16  because PSE&G thought they might have some problems,

         17  so we are ready to engage these things at any time,

         18  not just for Y2K.

         19                 Contingency planning, though, does

         20  not mean that we think particular problems are

         21  likely. We are going to plan for the worst because

         22  we are the nation's central bank and we are expected

         23  to operate.

         24                 In general we have encouraged all

         25  banking institutions to undertake appropriate
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          2  contingency planning so they will be ready for

          3  unexpected or unusual events. And we have worked

          4  with many other industry associations and the SIA

          5  and others, to make sure that our contingency plans

          6  do in fact not conflict but rather compliment one

          7  another.

          8                 Some of the contingency plans in

          9  place for the century rollover period recognize

         10  potential effects of behavioral shifts on credit

         11  availability and currency demands.

         12                 For example, the Federal Reserve has

         13  established a century date liquidity facility, a

         14  program for lending depository institutions from

         15  October 1999 through April of 2000.

         16                 As a lender of last resort the

         17  Federal Reserve is always ready to provide

         18  short-term loans to banks and thrifts that

         19  experience temporary liquidity needs.

         20                 For additional liquidity the Federal

         21  Reserve has announced a plan to help healthy

         22  institutions meet credit demands late this year and

         23  into the first quarter of 2000, should they face

         24  short-term liquidity problems.

         25                 This borrowing arrangement, we
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          2  believe, by its very existence, could assure the

          3  public and the nation's banks that the Federal

          4  Reserve will provide liquidity should banks need it

          5  during the rollover.

          6                 Now, there has been a great deal of

          7  publicity suggesting that some people will choose to

          8  have extra cash on hand for the century rollover.

          9  The Federal Reserve has prepared to meet any

         10  increases in demand for cash and such has been

         11  adding to existing inventories of currency reserves

         12  in our vaults, and we have also established

         13  additional strategically located storage facilities

         14  for additional cash.

         15                 The increased inventory will be more

         16  than enough to meet any additional public needs.

         17                 Given the realistic expectation that

         18  all payment methods will work normally, however, we

         19  do not expect any unusual demand for cash.

         20                 Nonetheless, we will be ready to

         21  provide extra cash, if necessary.

         22                 Just as the Federal Reserve has

         23  planned for even very remote contingencies,

         24  individual banks and thrifts have also been required

         25  to extend and test existing contingency plans to
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          2  address special risks posed by the century rollover.

          3                 These plans are meant to ensure that

          4  customers will have access to their funds during the

          5  rollover period.

          6                 For example, each institution has

          7  been required to develop its own liquidity plan

          8  describing how it will meet increased demand for

          9  cash from its customers and how it would meet credit

         10  demands of its community.

         11                 For some institutions, getting extra

         12  cash from the Federal Reserve or borrowing in the

         13  financial market or from the Federal Reserve is

         14  undoubtedly part of their contingency plan.

         15                 Because of the important role of

         16  public confidences, as so many people have said

         17  already today, and sustaining financial stability

         18  during the event, such as the Year 2000 rollover,

         19  effective public communication is essential.

         20                 Full fact based information will

         21  certainly help individuals maintain a realistic

         22  perspective and encourage them to avoid taking

         23  needless risks.

         24                 On the other hand, incomplete

         25  information or misunderstandings may cause some to
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          2  take undue risks, such as shifting deposits from

          3  banks, withdrawing large sums of cash, or even

          4  making unreasoned decisions about the assets that

          5  they hold.

          6                 In addition, others may fall victim

          7  to Y2K-related fraud, or be asked to buy Y2K

          8  products and services of questionable value.

          9                 We continue to believe that such

         10  actions are ill-advised.

         11                 To sum up, the US banking system is

         12  ready for the Year 2000 and major foreign financial

         13  institutions generally are working to be ready as

         14  well. Preparations made by the financial sector in

         15  just the last year have allowed our level of

         16  confidence to grow.

         17                 Moreover, regulators here and around

         18  the world know what else needs to be done to achieve

         19  full compliance in the remaining four months.

         20                 While we have made good progress in

         21  brining our technical systems and business functions

         22  into compliance, public awareness, understanding and

         23  ultimately public confidence remains the issue.

         24                 Fact based disclosure to both public

         25  at large and market counterparts is the heart of

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            188

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  communication strategy designed to promote public

          3  confidence.

          4                 We know that there are likely to be

          5  some small glitches of short duration. By remaining

          6  dedicated to readiness for the next four months, we

          7  can complete our remaining tasks and minimize any

          8  remaining risks. I am confident we will do just

          9  that.

         10                 Thank you. And I will be happy to

         11  answer any questions.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you.

         13                 Would the Federal Reserve Bank have

         14  jurisdiction over the maintenance of mortgages by

         15  banks?

         16                 MS. ROGERS: When you say the

         17  maintenance or mortgages, exactly what do you mean?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mortgage

         19  accounts. In other words, if I was paying for the

         20  mortgage on my home.

         21                 MS. ROGERS: When we or any other

         22  regulator go into an institution we review both

         23  their mortgage lending practices, and we have groups

         24  that look at the robustness of their systems to

         25  process them, and you know, their credit standards
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          2  in terms of how they make those and that they are

          3  made in accordance with standards of Fannie Mae and

          4  whomever.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, my concern

          6  is that the average large or fairly large bank I

          7  sincerely believe will have no trouble becoming Y2K

          8  compliant. I believe the problem rests with some of

          9  the smaller institutions who may not have the amount

         10  of money necessary to do the computer work that

         11  would take them out of it.

         12                 I am concerned, despite the offering

         13  of help in the lending of money, et cetera, that the

         14  Federal Reserve Bank would be available, that there

         15  is the possibility that debtors of these

         16  institutions might suffer credit problems as a

         17  consequence of the Y2K glitch. And that may not be

         18  part of your expertise or your --

         19                 MS. ROGERS: Part of the Y2K

         20  supervisory review process requires that banks do

         21  their own due diligence in terms of their loan

         22  portfolios, not just mortgages but their loan

         23  portfolios in general, and that they do some due

         24  diligence with their customers to make sure that in

         25  fact they don't have a Y2K problem that will cause
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          2  the bank a problem. That was part of the supervisory

          3  review process.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Ms. Pinkett.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Just to

          6  follow up, because we all have consumers and

          7  constituents who have problems, my understanding by

          8  your response would be that the bank's

          9  responsibility in terms of their reserve would be

         10  able to determine to what degree they can make a

         11  loan or a mortgage, give a mortgage, and they would

         12  determine based upon the assets of the individual,

         13  whether that is a responsible loan and they must be

         14  able to cover that and to be assured that the person

         15  to whom they offer that mortgage or that loan to is

         16  responsible and can repay the monies that are

         17  borrowed.

         18                 MS. ROGERS: But that would always be

         19  the case.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: That would

         21  always be the case. So it is not an individual

         22  situation.

         23                 MS. ROGERS: Right.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: It is a

         25  cumulative responsibility of the bank in order to
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          2  ensure that the monies that they are responsible for

          3  are in good hands, so-to-speak.

          4                 MS. ROGERS: Absolutely.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Okay.

          6                 MS. ROGERS: What we are providing the

          7  additional liquidity facilities for is to make sure

          8  that if there are additional shifts in credit need

          9  that the banks will be able to make commitment in

         10  advance, that they will be able to --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: And that is

         12  because of the turnover at this particular time.

         13                 MS. ROGERS: Or if there are shifts,

         14  behavioral shifts that cause a credit problem.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Because of

         16  the Y2K advent at that particular time?

         17                 MS. ROGERS: That's right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Okay.

         19                 Now, my question to you is not as

         20  deep as the Y2K question.

         21                 You are the bank on Liberty Street?

         22                 MS. ROGERS: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: That

         24  beautiful building?

         25                 MS. ROGERS: Some would argue whether
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          2  it is beautiful.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Well, the

          4  statuesque historic building.

          5                 MS. ROGERS: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Very imposing

          7  building.

          8                 Why did you move part of your staff

          9  to Philadelphia out of New York City?

         10                 MS. ROGERS: Well, we have got, our

         11  operation center is actually in East Rutherford, New

         12  Jersey, and we are in an effort to be more conscious

         13  of how we spend people's money, we consolidate a lot

         14  of operations, so a lot of our treasuries securities

         15  processing has been centralized in Philadelphia.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: So that you

         17  took from New York that branch of service and sent

         18  it to Rutherford, New Jersey, and what did we get in

         19  exchange?

         20                 MS. ROGERS: Well, the entire process,

         21  and if you are talking about the auction of treasury

         22  securities, we have reduced the expenses that we

         23  charged the treasury to run those operations

         24  considerably. So, it is a savings for taxpayers,

         25  basically.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            193

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: That is a

          3  savings for Washington, but what about New York

          4  City? I am talking about the benefit to New York

          5  City?

          6                 MS. ROGERS: That I can't say.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: We will let you

          8  off the hook on that one.

          9                 Mr. Rodriguez.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Okay, thank

         11  you very much.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Good

         13  afternoon.

         14                 It appears as if, and I didn't quite

         15  understand it, which regulator has taken on the

         16  responsibility for making sure that individual banks

         17  are going to be Y2 compliant, because the banks'

         18  infrastructure is one that if that falls, then it is

         19  all over. And I will just follow it up with a couple

         20  of more comments, and you can address them all at

         21  once.

         22                 And to make sure that (a) they are

         23  Y2K compliant, and (b) that the contingency plans

         24  that they have are ones that are going to be

         25  sufficient. Because when I listened to your
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          2  testimony, I heard things like for all practical

          3  purposes, I heard we are confident that almost all,

          4  we have encouraged all banking institutions, so it

          5  didn't seem to me as if what I was hearing was a

          6  definitive we are doing this, we are the top banking

          7  institution in the nation, and as a result of that

          8  we have taken this serious enough that we have taken

          9  full responsibility and though we know that

         10  individual states have regulatory agencies, we have

         11  implemented A, B and C to make sure that the

         12  possibility of a breakdown in the financial

         13  infrastructure of this company doesn't happen, and I

         14  didn't get that in this testimony.

         15                 MS. ROGERS: The supervisory

         16  responsibility is shared as it is for all other bank

         17  supervisory activity so that the Federal Reserve,

         18  the FDIC, DOCC, all agreed upon the same requirement

         19  for looking at their bank, and in fact all of these

         20  requirements, which are quite detailed, over the

         21  various aspects or the various phases of this

         22  project are up on the Federal Reserve Board's web

         23  site, and you can see the level of scrutiny that

         24  these institutions have been subject to.

         25                 The very specific requirements in
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          2  terms of the phases of the project that they must

          3  implement in terms of the first assessment and the

          4  remediation, all of these were laid out with very

          5  specific timetables, and we were in -- we or the

          6  FDIC or the other specific regulator for that

          7  institution was in the institution at those critical

          8  junctures to make sure that they were on time.

          9                 So, we have gone through several

         10  phases and we are in our phase three right now,

         11  where we are looking not only have they remediated

         12  everything, because we have expected them to be long

         13  done with the remediation phase by now and we have

         14  already reviewed them for that, now what we are

         15  looking at is how good are their contingency plans.

         16  And again, the contingency plan requirement that you

         17  can look up on our web there, are very specific

         18  about what elements need to be in the plans.

         19                 So, we have done that from the

         20  supervisory oversight, but we have also done it in

         21  terms of our participation as a major payments

         22  processor so that we have been working very closely

         23  with these gentlemen and others, the New York City

         24  Clearinghouse, these people have taken this

         25  incredibly seriously. They have spent a lot of time
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          2  and we have done contingency plans together so that

          3  if I have a problem, this is your reaction, if you

          4  have a problem -- we built in, if the New York

          5  Clearinghouse has a problem we built in additional

          6  volume capacity and our funds transfer systems

          7  process virtually everything that they have.

          8                 So, we have done a lot of cooperative

          9  stuff and in addition to supervising the very

         10  detailed requirements that we have set out as a

         11  supervisory community.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: The SIA.

         14                 MR. TIERNAN: My testimony reflects a

         15  good morning, but due to real time contingency

         16  planning can be modified to good afternoon, Chairman

         17  Berman, and members of the Committee.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Listen, you are

         19  lucky we are not saying good evening.

         20                 MR. TIERNAN: Thank you for inviting

         21  me to testify today. My name is Michael B. Tiernan,

         22  and I am Vice President of Information Technology at

         23  Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation.

         24                 I am testifying today in my capacity

         25  as Chairman of the Securities Industry Association's
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          2  Data Management Division, Year 2000 Committee. And

          3  with me today is John Panchieri, the Y2K Project

          4  Manager for the SIA. I also ask that a copy of my

          5  written statement be included in the record.

          6                 The Securities Industry Association

          7  brings together the shared interests of more than

          8  740 securities firms to accomplish common goals. SIA

          9  member firms, including investment banks, broker

         10  dealers and mutual fund companies are active in all

         11  US and foreign markets and in all phases of

         12  corporate and public finance.

         13                 The US securities industry manages

         14  accounts of more than 50 million investors directly

         15  and tens of millions of investors indirectly through

         16  corporate, thrift and pension plans.

         17                 The industry generates more than $300

         18  billion of revenue yearly in US economy and employs

         19  more than 600,000 individuals.

         20                 SIA's Data Management Division of

         21  Wall Street, more commonly known to the financial

         22  industry as the DMD, develops sufficient and uniform

         23  practices and procedures in all areas associated

         24  with processing and clearing in the securities

         25  industry.
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          2                 We are here today to discuss the

          3  results of the industry-wide test and our efforts

          4  through the millennium transition weekend, and I

          5  promise you that we will get the results in short

          6  order.

          7                 However, it is important first to

          8  begin with a brief recap of the steps which led the

          9  SIA to this point, discuss what the industry-wide

         10  test was designed to do, and, finally, to understand

         11  the SIA's next steps and planned activities through

         12  January 2000.

         13                 The SIA Year 2000 initiative began as

         14  a grassroots effort in the Data Management Division

         15  back in 1995, when it was not popular actually to be

         16  involved in Y2K, and SIA members perceived the

         17  potential threat posed by Y2K and its possible

         18  impact in the economic sphere.

         19                 Our colleagues throughout the US

         20  securities industry, including firms, exchanges,

         21  financial utilities, and regulators understood that

         22  we have a commitment to the investing public who

         23  have entrusted us with their assets.

         24                 This is a responsibility we take very

         25  seriously. Anything less than a smooth transition to
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          2  Year 2000 would affect the day-to-day operations of

          3  processing and settling trade, as well as

          4  calculating interest in dividends. These functions,

          5  and a host of other standard practices, which are

          6  usually taken for granted by the general public,

          7  were suddenly elevated to a very visible and very

          8  public issues.

          9                 Our purpose was simple and clear, the

         10  SIA, through an immense volunteer effort of its

         11  member firms, face the largest, most complex

         12  initiative ever undertaken by our industry.

         13                 The SIA Year 2000 Steering Committee

         14  consists of senior executives from a cross section

         15  of organizations throughout the industry.

         16                 The Committee includes broker

         17  dealers, custodian banks, investment managers,

         18  clearing corporations, depositories, self-regulatory

         19  entities, and industry association.

         20                 Within this structure, subcommittees

         21  were formed to focus resources on critical aspects

         22  of the project. The SIA DMD Year 2000 Committee

         23  created the project plan for the industry to follow

         24  in January of 1996.

         25                 Back in June of 1998, we conducted
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          2  our beta test. This "test of the test", involved 28

          3  firms which collectively account for more than half

          4  of the US Securities' volume.

          5                 In August of 1998, we reported to the

          6  regulators, the media and our investors, the very

          7  successful results of that beta test. The test was a

          8  breakthrough in our process, because it verified

          9  that our testing methodology worked which was very

         10  important to us, and it proved the readiness of the

         11  processing infrastructure of major firms and

         12  exchanges.

         13                 Equally as important we maintained

         14  the public trust and confidence of our investors and

         15  sent a strong message to the public and to our

         16  regulators that the Securities Industry would be

         17  prepared for Y2K.

         18                 But most striking was the manner in

         19  which our US member firms came together, not as

         20  competitors, but rather as colleagues, and this has

         21  been a major factor in our success.

         22                 Our industry-wide test was a huge

         23  collaboration among 400 firms, including broker

         24  dealers, asset managers, custodians, service bureaus

         25  and vendors.
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          2                 I should mention that the 400 firms

          3  involved in the test represent 100 percent of the

          4  firms that provide clearing services and use the

          5  processing infrastructure of our industry.

          6                 And these 400 participants included

          7  small, medium and large firms. Overall, we have

          8  estimated that approximately 5,000 people from our

          9  member firms have been involved in the SIA

         10  initiative throughout the projects.

         11                 The test was conducted over a series

         12  of six weekends, using the scripts that simulated

         13  December 29th, 30th, 31st, and January 3rd, 2000,

         14  which represent the first settlement cycle that

         15  crosses over into the Year 2000.

         16                 Two additional tests covered mutual

         17  funds and option exploration. The actual results

         18  from the four-day industry test showed only 0.02

         19  percent Y2K system errors, which resulted from the

         20  inability to submit trade data as input, false

         21  pricing indicators, early settlement of trades, and

         22  the Year 1900 appearing on trade blotters.

         23                 All of these Y2K errors were

         24  subsequently fixed.

         25                 As a result of the test we now know
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          2  that the financial services industry can process

          3  security transactions in a year 2000 date

          4  environment.

          5                 In addition, all firms that

          6  registered for participation in the industry-wide

          7  tests were accounted for and cooperation among

          8  participant firms resulted in successful completion

          9  of the largest ever test undertaken by the

         10  Securities industry.

         11                 One of the important questions that

         12  arises is what have been the dividends of going

         13  through the Y2K industry test?

         14                 We believe that we have reinforced

         15  the confidence of the investing community, which is

         16  most important to us. We know that we can get the

         17  cooperation of all firms to achieve an industry-wide

         18  goal. We have a shared and strengthened knowledge

         19  across the industry, which positions the industry

         20  for future efforts.

         21                 Systems environments were

         22  inventoried, and obsolete applications were

         23  eliminated where it seemed doable.

         24                 We now have a proven testing

         25  infrastructure available for future use, which is
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          2  very important to us for the future.

          3                 We have a communication process in

          4  place to be used for the actual transition weekend.

          5  In certain area we have more efficient processing

          6  today. We have a basis of knowledge for the

          7  contingency plans that we are currently working on,

          8  and finally, the competence among business partners

          9  has been strengthened.

         10                 We have assisted other US businesses

         11  and the government by advising on remediation

         12  efforts and best practices. We have provided

         13  assistance in the global marketplace and consulted

         14  with a wide range of countries and associations that

         15  sought our help.

         16                 Now that I have covered the various

         17  aspects of the industry test, the results and the

         18  lessons learned, I will cover the SIA's next steps

         19  and planned activities through the end of 1999.

         20                 Although the industry is confident in

         21  its preparation work for the transition as part of a

         22  prudent strategy to address unforeseen issues that

         23  might arise, SIA forms several contingency planning,

         24  business continuity committees.

         25                 These committees have approached the
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          2  contingency planning effort from various angles to

          3  ensure that sound plans will be shared and

          4  implemented by the industry.

          5                 The SIA's contingency planning policy

          6  committee, chaired by Mr. Jerrold Carigan, Managing

          7  Director of Goldman Sachs and ex-president of the

          8  New York Federal Reserve Bank, spearheaded the

          9  effort.

         10                 Also known as the ad hoc committee,

         11  it was formed to consider steps that can be taken to

         12  focus on developing contingency arrangements.

         13                 The top projects they undertook

         14  involved the managing of year-end trading volumes by

         15  product, developing a ten-point framework for

         16  contingency plans, coordination and communication

         17  centers, risk mitigation strategies, trade flow

         18  scenarios, event management coordination, internal

         19  planning outlines, and exchange and financial

         20  utility plans.

         21                 In addition, the contingency planning

         22  policy committee published a ten-point framework for

         23  firms contingency plans and identified universal

         24  contingency issues. More information is detailed in

         25  the document available on the SIA's web site,
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          2  www.SIA.com.

          3                 Our business continuity planning

          4  committee addressed day-to-day operations and

          5  created plans around the key suggestions made by the

          6  contingency planning policy committee with the help

          7  of subcommittees that address internal business

          8  continuity planning, event management command center

          9  structure, and contingency plans of the exchanges

         10  and financial utilities.

         11                 The SIA's business continuity

         12  planning committee has developed specific guidelines

         13  for firms to follow. The Committee has published

         14  various documents on the SIA's web site, which

         15  details steps for firms to follow in their

         16  contingency planning efforts. The event management

         17  command center structure subcommittee was

         18  established to address coordination and

         19  communication centers. The committee approached this

         20  from three different perspectives; a firm's internal

         21  development of a command center, an industry-wide

         22  command center, and a development of global linkages

         23  to non-US-based command centers.

         24                 As a result, the Committee published

         25  two documents, again on the SIA web site. The first
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          2  document is entitled Year 2000 Internal Event

          3  Management, which includes guidelines for firms to

          4  follow when establishing their own internal

          5  coordination and communication center.

          6                 The second is entitled Year 2000

          7  financial services coordination and communication,

          8  which outlines the securities industry coordination

          9  and communication center over the transition

         10  weekend.

         11                 The information contained in any of

         12  the aforementioned documents can easily be adopted

         13  to non-broker dealers as well.

         14                 In addition to publishing these

         15  documents, the event management command center

         16  committee is establishing a coordination and

         17  communication center for the financial services

         18  industry.

         19                 The participants in this center

         20  include the broker dealer community, the Securities

         21  and Exchange Commission, the New York City Command

         22  Center, the City of Chicago's Command Center, market

         23  data vendors, such as Reuters, Bloomberg, and Bridge

         24  Information Systems, service providers, stock

         25  exchanges, financial utilities, payment systems,
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          2  such as Fed Wyatt Chips and Swift, the Investment

          3  Company Institute ICI, which is an association of

          4  mutual funds, and a link to the future's industry

          5  association, FIA.

          6                 Participants will be given access to

          7  the FIA contingency planning web site, which will

          8  include help and contact information, a real time

          9  bulletin board that will provide up-to-the minute

         10  updates and developments, the capability for

         11  reporting entities to enter health check reports,

         12  and more.

         13                 Additionally, SIA will be funneling

         14  its information to the Securities and Exchange

         15  Commission, and the SEC will in turn pass the

         16  information on to the federal financial sectors

         17  command center.

         18                 The coordination and communication

         19  center will be staffed from December 15th, 1999,

         20  through January 7th, Year 2000.

         21                 During the millennium transition

         22  period of December 31st to January 5th, the Center

         23  will be staffed 24 hours a day.

         24                 An additional linkage will be

         25  developed with the assistance of the International
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          2  Global 2000 Coordinating Group of which SIA is a

          3  founding member.

          4                 Another SIA committee is monitoring

          5  the contingency plans for the exchanges and

          6  financial institutions. Other future plans from SIA

          7  including continued testing through October 1999 and

          8  a Year 2000 transition conference on November 12th

          9  here in New York City.

         10                 The additional testing gives firms

         11  the opportunity to test with multiple exchanges and

         12  financial utilities on the same day. It will also

         13  provide the opportunity for firms to test any

         14  changes or enhancements made to their system since

         15  the industry test take place in March and April.

         16                 Also, the Year 2000 transition

         17  conference is the fifth and final Year 2000

         18  conference that the SIA is sponsoring to educate the

         19  industry.

         20                 The conference will include the most

         21  up-to-date information firms will need to prepare

         22  themselves for the millennium transition.

         23                 My written statement contains

         24  illustrative appendices regarding the subject matter

         25  I covered today, it was included in the packages
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          2  that were handed out.

          3                 This concludes my report, and I

          4  appreciate the opportunity to testify today, and

          5  speak on behalf of the securities industry.

          6                 As you see by the material presented,

          7  the securities industry is prepared for a successful

          8  year 2000 transition.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 I just have one question, because it

         12  looks clear from your testimony that the financial

         13  services industry is prepared. How much did this

         14  cost the financial services industry? How much did

         15  it cost your association? How much did it cost the

         16  industry in the global sense?

         17                 MR. TIERNAN: We look at the estimates

         18  that were give by the Gartner group in the beginning

         19  of the process of Year 2000, that the cost on a

         20  global basis would be somewhere around $600 billion.

         21  We believe the cost to our industry for Year 2000

         22  could be somewhere in the $5 billion, $6 billion

         23  range. The cost to some of the large firms

         24  associated with Year 2000 was estimated to be

         25  between $300 million and $600 million.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: So, the big

          3  firms are $300 million to $600 million, financial

          4  services industry in itself is $5 billion and

          5  globally --

          6                 MR. TIERNAN: Globally the Year 2000

          7  problem was estimated by the Gartner Group to be

          8  about $600 billion.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you very

         12  much, people. And I appreciate the time that you

         13  waited and were able to share your information with

         14  us.

         15                 Thank you so much.

         16                 MR. TIERNAN: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Robert Hedlund

         18  and Peter Roberts, and Bernie Pfieffer, Bell

         19  Atlantic.

         20                 Please permit me to extend my

         21  apologies for the lateness of the hour. I am sorry.

         22  Once again, I cannot control, nor should I control

         23  the level of questioning by members, and that often

         24  happens. As much as I try to avoid it, we cannot.

         25                 Okay, Mr. Hedlund, you are from Con
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          2  Ed?

          3                 MR. HEDLUND: Yes, I am.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right.

          5                 MR. HEDLUND: My name is Robert

          6  Hedlund, I am Director of Technology Services for

          7  Con Edison.

          8                 Because of the hour I am going to

          9  very briefly summarize the work that we have done.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: That would be

         11  very much appreciated. Thank you so much.

         12                 MR. HEDLUND: We began our Year 2000

         13  activities in 1995, and continued to support them

         14  with considerable resources.

         15                 On June 30th of this year, Con Edison

         16  was Year 2000 ready to deliver its core services of

         17  electricity, natural gas and steam.

         18                 From the perspective of our energy

         19  services, we expect a date change to the new

         20  millennium to be a non-event.

         21                 As you probably are aware, we sold

         22  many of our power plants in New York City as part of

         23  the ongoing deregulation, however, prior to the

         24  sale, we tested each plant and we have either

         25  corrected any issues regarding Year 2000, or we
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          2  determined alternative techniques which the new

          3  owners can follow. And in the detail of my written

          4  submission I went into a bit more detail on that.

          5                 Similarly, in conjunction of the

          6  supervision of the nuclear regulatory commission, we

          7  made similar changes at our Indian Point Nuclear

          8  Station.

          9                 Our electric network has more than

         10  125,000 digital components in it. Of these, 2,200

         11  were not Year 2 compliant. The components with these

         12  problems have either been replaced or upgraded.

         13                 Similarly, our gas and steam systems

         14  are fully compliant. We do have about seven

         15  business-related items that will be completed by

         16  October of this year. This short list is mostly due

         17  to the late delivery of vendors' software

         18  components. None of these items affect our Year 2K

         19  readiness.

         20                 They include things like security

         21  systems in one particular room in Brooklyn, which is

         22  not Year 2K ready. We participated in the April 9th

         23  drill by NAERC, the North American Electric

         24  Reliability Council, which is overseeing the

         25  electric industry's readiness, and we plan to
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          2  participate in their more extensive test which will

          3  take place on September 8th, going into September

          4  9th, which is the date sometimes referred to as

          5  9999. We have completed addressing our internal

          6  computer systems and the infrastructure that

          7  supports them.

          8                 We have been in contact with our

          9  largest suppliers of critical products to ensure

         10  that they will be available. These are things like

         11  the water, steam and electric generation, oil, gas

         12  pipelines and fossil chemicals.

         13                 We participate in many groups in our

         14  industry, including things such as EPRI (phonetic),

         15  the American Gas Association and others that I have

         16  indicated.

         17                 We have met diligently with other

         18  members of the North East Power Coordinating Council

         19  and the New York Gas Group to address any unlikely

         20  events that could possibly take place.

         21                 We will have additional staff on site

         22  and throughout the City, and we have been working

         23  with the OEM to compliment other emergency groups,

         24  locations within the City, most especially Manhattan

         25  where the traffic might be difficult.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            214

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 So, I guess a very brief summary is

          3  that we are pretty pleased with the status of

          4  everything now and we are fairly confident.

          5                 And again, I have tried to skip over

          6  much of what was said here, but it is contained in

          7  the report.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I am very much

          9  aware of that, and I appreciate the constraint of

         10  time and the fact that you have been that nice to

         11  this Committee. And I am sorry that we visited John

         12  Banks upon you -- John is a good friend, of course I

         13  am kidding.

         14                 Just one question, sir, and that is,

         15  have you made provision to provide emergency

         16  services over and above what you usually provide in

         17  the event there is a problem as a consequence of the

         18  Year 2K era?

         19                 MR. HEDLUND: You mean to people on

         20  life support and things like that?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Yes.

         22                 MR. HEDLUND: Yes. We have gone

         23  through our normal provisions very carefully and we

         24  have augmented them where we think it is

         25  appropriate, and we certainly understand the
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          2  criticality of supplying service to those people.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you so

          4  much.

          5                 Okay, Mr. Roberts.

          6                 MR. ROBERTS: Yes. I have the mic on

          7  now.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: KeySpan, I think

          9  they are coming a financial dependent of mine

         10  because I have to get them to my house so often to

         11  fix my equipment that it is almost like a family

         12  member.

         13                 MR. ROBERTS: We will have to work on

         14  getting you some new equipment.

         15                 Well, this says good morning, but I

         16  will say good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen. My

         17  name is Peter Roberts, and I am the general manager

         18  responsible for the Corporate Year 2000 project at

         19  KeySpan Energy.

         20                 KeySpan Energy is the parent company

         21  of Brooklyn Union which provides gas service to

         22  Brooklyn, Queens and Staten Island and of KeySpan

         23  Electric Services which provides electric service to

         24  the Far Rockaway Peninsula as part of the Long

         25  Island Power Authority electric system.
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          2                 KeySpan Generation and KeySpan

          3  Ravenswood are also KeySpan Energy companies that

          4  generate electricity for distribution to the

          5  residents and businesses in New York City.

          6                 I would like to thank you for the

          7  opportunity to brief you on the status of KeySpan

          8  readiness to manage the Year 2000 issue.

          9                 As you know, Brooklyn Union has a

         10  long history of providing safe, efficient and

         11  reliable gas service to the residents of New York

         12  City.

         13                 KeySpan Energy fully expects to

         14  continue this long heritage through the millennium

         15  rollover and well into the future.

         16                 KeySpan Energy has been reporting its

         17  progress in achieving Year 2000 readiness to the

         18  Public Service Commission and the American Gas

         19  Association for its gas system.

         20                 As of July 1st, 1999, KeySpan Energy

         21  reported all systems critical to the delivery of gas

         22  service to be fully Year 2000 ready as defined by

         23  the New York State Public Service Commission.

         24                 KeySpan Energy has also been

         25  reporting monthly Year 20000 status to the North
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          2  American Electric Reliability Council for the

          3  electric system it manages for the Long Island Power

          4  Authority and for the electric generation systems

          5  KeySpan Energy operates.

          6                 As of July 1st, 1999, KeySpan Energy

          7  has reported all systems critical to the generation

          8  and delivery of electricity to be fully Year 2000

          9  ready.

         10                 KeySpan Energy has completed its Year

         11  2000 contingency plan and is currently working with

         12  the New York City Mayor's Office of Emergency

         13  Management to define and drill the communications

         14  procedures necessary to keep all critical agencies

         15  abreast of any Year 2000 initiated events.

         16                 KeySpan Energy plans to have an

         17  excess of 1,000 personnel on-site on December 31st

         18  and January 1st as a precaution to implement

         19  contingency plans and/or operate equipment manually

         20  should the need arise.

         21                 KeySpan Energy does not anticipate

         22  interruptions in the supply of gas or electric

         23  service to New York City residents as a result of

         24  the Year 2000 related failures. We base this

         25  assessment on the extensive testing and verification
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          2  process that was enforced for all mission critical

          3  systems.

          4                 In the unlikely event that problems

          5  are encountered, KeySpan Energy personnel will be

          6  prepared to rapidly respond and communicate to all

          7  critical agencies.

          8                 In summary, we are confident that

          9  this event will be well managed and that the risk of

         10  service interruption is small. We have prepared

         11  extensively, and our systems and employees are ready

         12  to respond if required.

         13                 KeySpan Energy is ready, willing and

         14  able to participate in any and all communication and

         15  coordination efforts.

         16                 Once again, I would like to thank you

         17  for the opportunity to brief you on KeySpan Energy's

         18  Year 2000 readiness.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, sir.

         20  And thank you for the brevity of your report, it was

         21  indeed welcome.

         22                 Mr. Pfieffer.

         23                 MR. PFIEFFER: Thank you, Chairman

         24  Berman. Good afternoon. My name is Bernie Pfieffer,

         25  I am the Executive Director for Bell Atlantic's Year
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          2  2000 program. I would ask that my more extensive

          3  written remarks be entered into the record, as if I

          4  had spoken them here.

          5                 Bell Atlantic is a major utility that

          6  had as its goal to have its network and other

          7  mission critical systems Year 2000 compliant by the

          8  end of June 1999, and Bell Atlantic has met that

          9  goal to virtually all of its networks and systems.

         10                 The successful completion of this

         11  effort is intended to ensure that Bell Atlantic's

         12  telecommunication services will continue

         13  uninterrupted on and after New Year's Day of the

         14  Year 2000.

         15                 In addition to our Y2K compliance

         16  program, we are also currently reviewing, refining

         17  and testing our contingency plan, a copy of which

         18  has been filed with the New York State Public

         19  Service Commission, on July 1st, 1999, to handle any

         20  unexpected events.

         21                 In terms of contingency planning, as

         22  part of Bell Atlantic's Y2K program, we have a plan

         23  to ensure that core business functions and key

         24  support processes are in place for uninterrupted

         25  call processing customer service, even in the event
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          2  of unexpected disruptions.

          3                 This means planning for service

          4  continuity in the event of a loss or interruption of

          5  power or flow of data either external or internal.

          6                 As a public telecommunications

          7  carrier, we have had considerable experience

          8  successfully dealing with natural disasters and

          9  other events requiring contingency planning and

         10  execution, most recently with the ice storm of

         11  January of '98, and also here in New York City with

         12  the World Trade Center situation.

         13                 As part of our effort to develop

         14  appropriate Year 2000 contingency plans, we built on

         15  our existing emergency preparedness and disaster

         16  recovery plans for any necessary modifications.

         17                 While we do not expect that we will

         18  have to trigger our contingency plans, we will be

         19  prepared nonetheless.

         20                 One other significant piece that I do

         21  want to touch on in my shortened remarks is the

         22  preparedness of our wire line E911 system in terms

         23  of Y2K readiness, it is Y2K ready. While there are

         24  additional changes that are being done for area code

         25  implementation and so on, the Y2K readiness of that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            221

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  system is at 100 percent.

          3                 And in conclusion, essentially we

          4  have committed ourselves as a telecommunications

          5  enterprise to continue to operate in an

          6  uninterrupted fashion well into the next millennium.

          7                 With our contingency planning efforts

          8  we are well prepared to tackle any issues that may

          9  be thrown our way.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Pfieffer, I

         12  thank you for your time also. I want you to know

         13  that I have had a long and happy communications

         14  relationship with Bell Atlantic, going back to the

         15  time that a dear friend who has now passed on,

         16  Stanley Fink, was a predecessor --

         17                 MR. PFIEFFER: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I spent much time

         19  up there meeting many of the people.

         20                 Gentlemen, I want to thank you for

         21  your time, and again, my apologies for the delay in

         22  hearing your testimony.

         23                 Thank you so much.

         24                 Gary Kaplan of the MTA, and Sara

         25  Garretson and Tsila Bloomberg.
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          2                 Oh, I am sorry, my apologies, would

          3  the Port Authority also -- my apologies. ITAC, would

          4  you testify first?

          5                 MR. MASIELLO: Good afternoon,

          6  Chairman Berman, members of the Council. I am not

          7  Sara Garretson, I am Bob Masiello. Unfortunately

          8  Sara has to be at two different places and so she

          9  asked me.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I am delighted

         11  that you explained the difference.

         12                 MR. MASIELLO: Okay.

         13                 Just to give you some background,

         14  ITAC is an independent not-for-profit economic

         15  development organization whose mission is to

         16  strengthen New York City economy by improving the

         17  performance of small to mid-sized manufacturing and

         18  technology companies.

         19                 ITAC is the focal point of a

         20  partnership of the federal, state and city

         21  governments, which are supported in part by the

         22  National Institute of Standards and Technologies

         23  Manufacturing Extension Partnership to provide

         24  technical and business assistance to local

         25  manufacturers.
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          2                 We are also the state supported

          3  technology development organization for New York

          4  City and assist new technology firms to

          5  commercialize their services effectively.

          6                 In addition to our state and federal

          7  affiliations,  ITAC receives contract specific and

          8  in-kind support from the City. We also work closely

          9  with the City's economic development organizations,

         10  Business Improvement Districts, Chambers of Commerce

         11  and other trade and business associations to retain

         12  and grow the manufacturing and technology sectors of

         13  our City.

         14                 I am going to ask Tsila Blomberg, who

         15  is our Y2K specialist, to go into some detail with

         16  you about the affects of Y2K on small businesses and

         17  what the implications of that will be.

         18                 So, now, Tsila, please.

         19                 MS. BLOMBERG: Thank you.

         20                 You have been hearing about the Y2K

         21  readiness in large firm, government agencies and

         22  other large sophisticated organizations, but our Y2K

         23  vulnerability is not limited to computer technology.

         24                 Yes, Y2K has hardware and software

         25  problems. Yes, it is also tied to chips embedded in
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          2  a variety of products from telephones to VCRs, from

          3  industrial machinery to security systems, from

          4  sophisticated medical equipment to microwave ovens,

          5  but our greatest vulnerability may lie in our supply

          6  chains.

          7                 A hospital may have planned for a

          8  sophisticated imaging equipment, but the small

          9  business which delivers the medical or food supplies

         10  may encounter issues which will prevent them from

         11  meeting their obligations.

         12                 They may not be able to deliver food

         13  or medicine because their phone systems may have

         14  been obsolete, their suppliers may have not

         15  delivered the raw material, and their security

         16  system may have locked their employee out of the

         17  building.

         18                 The biggest issue that regards Y2K

         19  may well be this interdependency known as the supply

         20  chain. Consequently, the degree of small firm

         21  preparedness is an important issue for all of us.

         22                 We see Y2K as essentially a business

         23  issue rather than a simply technical problem. Y2K

         24  may create operational problems for specific firms

         25  in the areas of computers, automating, manufacturing
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          2  equipment, facility automation, like security

          3  system, for instance, and communications.

          4                 These conditions may run the gamut

          5  from minor annoyances to actually threats to the

          6  business' survival or to endangering the life or

          7  safety of the employees and consumer.

          8                 Inevitably, Y2K may also become a

          9  serious legal issue. Although litigation is being

         10  enacted to deal with some of these concerns, it is

         11  still thee major issue for small businesses.

         12                 The 11,000 or so small or

         13  medium-sized manufacturing firms in New York City

         14  form a great network. But if a number of producers

         15  also supply, along the supply chain fail, this will

         16  create a collapsing house of cards, and what will be

         17  the ultimate impact on the City's economy.

         18                 For example, we know that the banks

         19  must be Y2K compliant from the operational

         20  standpoint, but what happens to the bank if there is

         21  a chain reaction for small firms failing because Y2K

         22  problems. What happens to those businesses,

         23  creditors and customers?

         24                 We also know that Crane's has

         25  reported that banks are dropping small and
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          2  medium-sized manufacturers which show to be non-Y2K

          3  compliant. Even more troublesome is the lack of

          4  preparation of businesses that supply the City's

          5  health community school, food supplies, and

          6  environmental services, such as HVAC and heating

          7  oil.

          8                 Y2K, if nothing else, clearly

          9  demonstrates the interdependency among business

         10  sectors, all levels of government, support systems

         11  such as transportation, health care, and truly the

         12  economy's social and political fabric of our City,

         13  region, state and nation, and indeed extending

         14  around the world.

         15                 ITAC and the MEP centers nationwide

         16  have been in effect deputized along with the Small

         17  Business Administration and small business

         18  development centers by the US Department of Commerce

         19  to spread the word about Y2K preparedness.

         20                 We also offer free Y2K project

         21  management software, which you all have an example

         22  here, which was developed by NIST, the National

         23  Institute of Standard Technology, to give all small

         24  and medium-sized businesses the means with which to

         25  address their own potential problem in developing
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          2  contingency plans.

          3                 In addition, we provide specific Y2K

          4  contingency planning assistance to the City's

          5  manufacturing firms that do not have the luxury of

          6  in-house expertise.

          7                 Since January, our Y2K specialists,

          8  which is myself and Paul Katz, who is my colleague,

          9  have conducted over 28 presentations to business

         10  groups around the City, but I have to say that the

         11  results have been disappointing, only 300 or so

         12  firms attending and only a small fraction of these

         13  actual manufacturers, who are the primary focus of

         14  ITAC's overall efforts.

         15                 Basically the public at large and

         16  small business people in particular, have not

         17  accepted the seriousness of the situation.

         18                 This is understandable, considering

         19  no one can say with precision just how serious the

         20  problem may be.

         21                 There is an old phrase that one can

         22  lead a horse to water but you can't force to drink.

         23  That may be true, but you can get the horse's

         24  attention.

         25                 This meeting and similar activities
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          2  of the regional plan association, the SBA, ITAC and

          3  others can help to gain small business owners'

          4  attention, because even at this late date, all

          5  businesses can take prudent common sense precautions

          6  to make their businesses Y2K ready.

          7                 Think of it this way, we are now in

          8  the midst of a hurricane season, there is no way to

          9  prevent the hurricane but there are actions that can

         10  be taken to save lives and minimize property damage.

         11  Likewise, it is probably too late now to prevent all

         12  the damage of the Y2K bug, but it is possible to

         13  prevent the bite of the bug from becoming fatal to

         14  manufacturing and other small businesses in New York

         15  City.

         16                 While there may be the need to change

         17  equipment and so forth in some circumstances, with

         18  proper contingency plans, most firms should be able

         19  to get without serious disruption.

         20                 But all types of businesses, from

         21  retailers to manufacturers, need to identify the

         22  vulnerability and work out their Y2K operational

         23  plans and responses.

         24                 To that end, ITAC information

         25  technology specialists and our field representatives
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          2  have distributed these free software packages to

          3  give small business owners the frame work for

          4  developing their own Y2K contingency plan. It is

          5  also available free of charge for downloading from

          6  our web site at www.ITAC.org. We also have available

          7  a version in a variety of foreign languages and we

          8  encourage businesses to provide them to their

          9  suppliers.

         10                 ITAC has given out thousands of these

         11  kits and we can provide many more, but the clock is

         12  ticking, we have only four months before New Year's.

         13  We need your help in letting small businesses know

         14  that what can be done, we need your support in our

         15  outreach to small business through mailings, press

         16  releases, sponsorships, advertising in business

         17  neighborhood or media.

         18                 ITAC will continue to provide

         19  informative presentations, with experts such as

         20  myself, to explain the issue to gatherings of small

         21  business owners. We can partner with members of the

         22  Council in presenting information to the business

         23  constituency.

         24                 ITAC continues to offer information

         25  programs about Y2K throughout the City, just as we
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          2  did this past week at the Queens Air Service

          3  Development Office at the JFK Airport and we will do

          4  it next month with the Staten Island Chamber of

          5  Commerce.

          6                 We look forward to working with the

          7  Council Members to reach the businesses in their

          8  districts.

          9                 Thank you very much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you very

         11  much, Ma'am.

         12                 MTA and Port Authority, you will be

         13  next.

         14                 MR. CAPLAN: My name is Gary Caplan, I

         15  am the Budget Director of the Metropolitan

         16  Transportation Authority.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Please send my

         18  best to Marc Shaw.

         19                 MR. CAPLAN: Thank you.

         20                 And instead of reading my statement

         21  what I am going to try to do is compress it into

         22  four sentences, rather than eight pages.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: That would be

         24  helpful, and I appreciate it, and we will certainly

         25  make not of your testimony.
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          2                 MR. CAPLAN: We have been at the Y2K

          3  remediation process since 1995, it is five years of

          4  this. Through the second quarter of this year, we

          5  had completed most of the critical projects. We

          6  completed 97 percent, that is 145 of 149 of the

          7  critical business systems conversions, we completed

          8  96 percent, that is 410 of 426 critical devices with

          9  embedded chip technology, and we had certified 98

         10  percent, that is 368 of 376 vendors.

         11                 Of the remaining one to three

         12  percent, even though technically these may be called

         13  critical systems or critical vendors, if I read you

         14  a list of them I think you would agree that they are

         15  in the largest scheme of things relatively minor.

         16                 And we expect that all of these will

         17  be remediated by the end of the year and most of

         18  them within the closure of this month.

         19                 If there are any questions, I would

         20  be happy to take them.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I appreciate the

         22  brevity of your testimony.

         23                 Thank you very much, people.

         24                 Port Authority. Once again, my

         25  apologies to all of you for being at the bottom half
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          2  of the witness list. My apologies, sincerely.

          3                 MR. BURNHAM: Good afternoon, Mr.

          4  Chairman, and members of the Finance Committee. My

          5  name is Greg Burnham and I am the Chief Technology

          6  Officer for the Port Authority of New York and New

          7  Jersey.

          8                 I have also turned in some testimony,

          9  but I will keep this briefer than what I have given

         10  you in writing.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, Sir.

         12                 MR. BURNHAM: First of all, the Port

         13  Authority does not expect any significant safety,

         14  financial or customer service impact, either on the

         15  agency's customers or the region as a result of Y2K

         16  problems with its systems or any of the systems of

         17  those that we do business with.

         18                 We, too, have had an extensive

         19  program and where we stand now on the mission

         20  critical systems is there are 27 of them, 22 of them

         21  are complete, three are reporting, of the remaining

         22  are reported as compliant by vendors and are

         23  undergoing our more extensive validation testing,

         24  and two others are still in remediation. But that

         25  work is on schedule and expected to be complete by
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          2  September 30th.

          3                 Examples of our mission critical

          4  systems include fire protection, access control and

          5  security, high-rise elevator controllers, EZPASS

          6  electronic toll systems, and our agency-wide

          7  telephone system.

          8                 We have conducted on an ongoing basis

          9  a survey of vendors, service providers and

         10  government agencies, which we do business with,

         11  regarding their Y2K compliant status, and there are

         12  three I will mention to you, because I think they

         13  are of particular interest.

         14                 The US Coast Guard plans to keep

         15  ports open, but is going to require each entering

         16  ship to provide information on its Y2K preparedness

         17  and contingency plan.

         18                 On September 15th there is a

         19  readiness drill for the Port of New York and New

         20  Jersey and the US Coast Guard in the harbor.

         21                 As you know, the FAA in July

         22  announced that all of its computer systems,

         23  including those running air traffic control systems

         24  are fully Y2K compliant, and the New York State

         25  Public Service Commission has stated that all major
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          2  electric natural gas and telephone network companies

          3  have reported that their systems are Y2K compliant.

          4                 I think the most significant aspect

          5  of the program now is the contingency planning

          6  stage. At the Port Authority we have a steering

          7  committee of senior executives, formed earlier this

          8  year, to establish appropriate organizational

          9  responsibilities and ensure the success of the

         10  contingency planning program.

         11                 Business and contingency and

         12  continuity plans are being developed for critical

         13  processes with the aim of providing acceptable

         14  levels of service in the unanticipated event that

         15  there is a Y2K problem with the system.

         16                 We have worked with several

         17  consulting firms in this process and we have a

         18  consultant working with us now to develop plans and

         19  procedures for the agency command center, which is

         20  going to begin operations on New Year's Eve.

         21                 The Port Authority is working with

         22  other state and local government agencies and

         23  authorities to develop coordination plans for the

         24  Y2K transition. Extra staff will be on duty as we

         25  confidently enter the new millennium.
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          2                 To support the New Year's Eve

          3  celebration in Times Square, further, and I

          4  emphasize further, careful planning is underway for

          5  the operation of the bus terminal, the Lincoln

          6  Tunnel and the Path.

          7                 Thank you very much for your

          8  invitation to speak on the Port Authority's program,

          9  and if you have any questions, I would be happy to

         10  answer them.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Burnham. I have just two very brief questions.

         13                 Number one, with the implementation

         14  of the EZPASS system, do you know as to whether or

         15  not that was initiated or installed Y2K ready?

         16                 MR. BURNHAM: The answer to that is

         17  all the aspects of the EZPASS system, the lane

         18  controllers, the toll stations themselves, as well

         19  as the back office, has all been tested thoroughly

         20  for Y2K compliance.

         21                 I don't know whether or not it was

         22  Y2K compliant.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I didn't think

         24  you did, okay.

         25                 Finally, I have every confidence that
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          2  American -- not the company American, but United

          3  States licensed, or United States airlines will be

          4  Y2K compliant. My concern is foreign flying

          5  companies that will use our airports who may not be.

          6  Will that be a problem for us?

          7                 MR. BURNHAM: I don't -- excuse me one

          8  second.

          9                 We have been working with the

         10  international airlines, but we don't know exactly

         11  what the status is of the equivalent of the FAA on

         12  their side, or of their airports.

         13                 But the airlines, the international

         14  airlines that are flying through the US have been

         15  working with the aviation part of the Port

         16  Authority.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: You may not know,

         18  but do you know as to whether or not all of these

         19  international carriers will be Y2K compliant?

         20                 MR. BURNHAM: I think the real issue

         21  is probably more the question of their

         22  infrastructure overseas than the airlines

         23  themselves. But I don't know.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: You don't, okay.

         25                 I want to thank you very much, and,
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          2  again, my sincerest apologies.

          3                 Have a good day, everybody, and thank

          4  you for your cooperation and your patience.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 2:45 p.m.)
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          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.
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         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 31st day of August 1999.
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